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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the
Senate, February 22, 1972:

With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded
by the Honourable Senator Croll:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and
report upon all aspects of the parole system in
Canada;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers
as may be necessary for the purpose of the said
examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so
authorized by the Committee, may adjourn from place
to place inside or outside Canada for the purpose of
carrying out the said examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on
the subject in the preceding session be referred to the
Committee. i

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

Robert Fortier
Clerk of the Senate
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Minutes of Proceedings

Wednesday, March 1, 1972.
(2)

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing
Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
met this day at 10:00 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Prowse (Chairman),
Buckwold, Burchill, Fergusson, Fournier (de Lanaudiére),
Haig, Hastings, McGrand, Thompson and Williams.—(10)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and
Parliamentary Counsel; Mr. Patrick Doherty, Special
Research Assistant.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Hastings it was
Resolved to print 1100 copies in English and 400 copies in
French of all proceedings of this Committee during the
Fourth Session of this Parliament.

The Committee proceeded to the examination of the
parole system in Canada.

The following witnesses, representing the National
Parole Board, were heard in explanation of the Commit-
tee’s examination of the parole system in Canada:

Mr. T. George Street, Q.C., Chairman;
Mr. F. P. Miller, Executive Director;
Mr. B. K. Stevenson, Member;

Mr. M. Maccagno, Member.

The following were also present but were not heard:
Mr. W. F. Carabine, Chief, Case Preparation;
Mr. D. N. Parkinson, Information Officer;

Mr. J.P. Cardinal, Assistant Executive Director;
Mrs. M. Le Bleu, Secretary to the Chairman.

At 12:35 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the
Chairman.

ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.

N.B. There were two earlier proceedings relating to the
examination of the parole system; they are Proceedings 11
and 12 of the Third Session.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional

Affairs
Evidence

Ottawa, Wednesday, March 1, 1972

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitu-
tional Affairs met this day at 10 a.m. to examine the parole
system in Canada.

Senator J. Harper Prowse (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I propose that this
morning we follow our usual procedure of completing our
questioning on one aspect of the subject before turning to
another, with all senators wishing to participate doing so.

Senator Hastings: I am advised by the clerk that we
require a motion to print. Therefore, I move that 1,100
copies in English and 400 copies in French of the proceed-
ings of the committee be printed.

The Chairman: I understand that we are likely to have a
heavy demand for these. Shall the motion carry, honoura-
ble senators?

Hon. Senators: Carried.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, before proceeding I
should like to welcome back Mr. Street, Mr. Stevenson Mr.
Maccagno and the other representatives of the board.

You will recall that prior to the Christmas recess we had
followed the case of a man through up to the point of the
hearing, but we had not by then got him on parole. With
that in mind, I should like to discuss with Mr. Street and
the others present the matter of reserved decisions. I
understand that there are two reasons for reserved deci-
sions, incomplete documentation being one, and the fact
that a decision may require the agreement of the complete
board in Ottawa being the other. Are there any others?

Mr. T. G. Street, Q.C., Chairman, National Parole Board:
This could also apply if the two members of the board did
not agree. In that situation they would have no choice but
to reserve the decision and bring the matter back to
Ottawa to receive a majority decision. I do not think that
such a situation could arise, but if it did it would lead to a
reserved decision.

Senator Hastings: In what percentage of cases is there
incomplete documentation?

Mr. B. K. Stevenson, Member, National Parole Board: That is
difficult to answer because it varies from region to region.
I would say that of the reserved decisions probably 75 or
80 per cent result from incomplete documentation. In such
cases we might need a further report of some kind.

Senator Hastings: Is there any logical reason why the
documentation cannot be completed in time for the hear-

ing, in view of the fact that you have five months’ advance
notice on an ordinary application for parole, and you have
nine months’ notice, I think it is, on capital offences?

Mr. Stevenson: I think the major reason is the heavy
workload in the field of the officers who work month by
month endeavouring to prepare cases. They try to inter-
view as far ahead as possible. There are a few officers
working far enough ahead who have everything available.
As Mr. Street has indicated, we are dependent on outside
agencies for assistance, and referrals to outside agencies
sometimes take time and cause delays; or professional
reports from psychiatrists and psychologists take time
because of their heavy schedules.

Senator Hastings: In other words, you feel the nine
months’ notice is not sufficient in order to complete the
documentation?

Mr. Stevenson: I am not certain about the nine-month
period, if they start on the case well ahead of time. There
are other cases with deadlines earlier than that. So, they
work to the deadline. If a man on a life sentence—and I
presume we are speaking about capital offences—is going
to be eligible for parole in April, there are also fellows
eligible in March, and their reports have to be prepared as
well.

Senator Hastings: Do you have any recommendations or
suggestions to make to this committee as to how this
problem might be alleviated?

Mr. Stevenson: Well, of course, more staff is one answer
and longer tenure for the staff. The longer they are on the
job the more efficient they become in preparing cases. As I
recall from my field experience, there was always a rush
to get everything prepared and the reports in.

Senator Hastings: Would this be due to inadequate staff?
Mr. Stevenson: Yes.

Senator Hastings: With respect to the decision which you
make after your visit to the institutions, do you feel it a
worthwhile procedure to confront the man or woman con-
cerned? Do you feel the interview is worthwhile?

Mr. Stevenson: Oh yes, very much so. I feel the crux of
the whole parole process occurs at that point when those
making the decision face the man and provide him the
opportunity to say what is happening to him in the institu-
tion. I cannot say whether our decisions are any better or
any worse than other decisions, but I know that there are
many side benefits from this face-to-face meeting, such as
our field staff working side by side and the institutional
staff meeting us and participating in the discussion and, in
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a sense, in the decision. Also at times even the inmates
participate in the decision. I feel this is excellent.

Senator Hastings: Do you find giving your reasons for
parole or denial of parole important?

Mr. Stevenson: Extremely important; when parole is
granted it is very good.

Senator Hastings: To carry this forward, on reserved
decisions or decisions made in Ottawa, is it not true that
the inmate is not made aware of the reasons?

Mr. Stevenson: There are times when our communica-
tions break down because the decision is made at a later
time. In most cases, however, or in as many cases as
possible, the field officer receives the reasons. He then
goes to the institution, interviews the inmate and inter-
prets the reasons for him.

Senator Hastings: Did you say, “in most cases’’?

Mr. Stevenson: In most cases. I know for a fact that in
some cases it is not done.

Senator Hastings: I know that in many cases all the man
receives is a letter from the Parole Board saying his parole
has been denied and the institutional staff or the agency
working with the person is unaware of the reason.

Mr. Stevenson: They can obtain it from the field staff.
Again, because of the work load, I think they do not
always go out for the second interview after the decision
has been made, but I know that in many offices they do
make a point of seeing the person to ensure that he under-
stands why the decision was reached.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Stevenson, how do you feel about
the veto power which is granted the Solicitor General of
the Province of Quebec?

Mr. Street: There is no such veto power.

Senator Hastings: Did I not understand you correctly that
on your terms of five years or more—

Mr. Street: They have an opportunity to make representa-
tions to us. The reason for this is to ensure that no person
involved in organized crime slips through without our
knowing it, because if he is involved in organized crime, or
the Mafia, it would not necessarily show on our files. We
give them the opportunity to make representations. How-
ever, there is no such veto power on the part of anyone
concerned.

Senator Hastings: Would that apply to the Attorney Gen-
eral in Ontario?

Mr. Street: No.

Senator Hastings: This would only apply to the Province
of Quebec?

Mr. Street: No, the Province of Quebec does not enjoy
more privileges than any other province. Anyone can
make representations. It occurred because of some dif-
ficult cases in Quebec, and they asked for the opportunity
to make representations to the board. This is what hap-
pened in Quebec. I think it arose in connection with FLQ
cases.

Senator Hastings: How long has this procedure been fol-
lowed in the Province of Quebec?

Mr. Street: About six or seven years, I think.

Senator Hastings: Six or seven years, and before the
FLQ—

Mr. Street: We had FLQ cases then, and I feel for this
reason, the opportunity to make representations was then
provided, if not the whole of the reason.

Senator Hastings: As you are aware, Mr. Street, I am
concerned with the discrepancy in the treatment provided
in the Province of Quebec, and I am wondering if there is
not some correlation in that treatment—and I am not sure
what you would call it—which you provide for the Solici-
tor General of the Province of Quebec.

Mr. Street: No, I do not feel there is any difference. Did
we not send you some statistics? You have obtained more
statistics than most other members have, and I thought we
sent some statistics to you, but I am not sure.

Senator Hastings: I am just wondering why the Solicitor
General of the Province of Quebec enjoys this procedure
and no attorney general in any other province does?

Mr. Street: Anyone else can do this also if they wish to.
Anyone can make representations to the board if they
request to. They were concerned about the FLQ cases at
the time and they wanted to ensure that no person
involved in organized crime, especially on an international
basis, was denied this opportunity. It would not necessari-
ly show on our file if he was suspected of being involved in
organized crime. We have the same arrangements with the
Ontario Provincial Police and the R.C.M.P.

Senator Hastings: Is this recommendation not given to
you on a mimeographed form at the time of the
conviction?

Mr. Street: Is that the form letter they send to us? I do not
think they send very many to us. They do not write to us
very often, as I recall.

Mr. F. P. Miller, Executive Director, National Parole Board: If
a sentence is for five years or more, they send us a letter in
which they give us information. It is relatively short and it
tends to be stereotyped. It is difficult to make short com-
ments on quite a number of people in which there is not
much differentiation between them. They express a view
which goes on our file, the same as any other report which
we request. Other attorneys general from time to time
have made representations in particular situations. In the
case of a group such as the Doukhobors in British
Columbia, for example, the Attorney General of the Prov-
ince made representations. In my opinion, it is not a
matter of any special privilege being granted. They simply
suggested that they wished to proceed in this routine
manner and we, of course, would not prevent it. Their
reports receive the same consideration as any others.

Senator Buckwold: Does the report from the province
prejudge? In other words, do they state that in their opi-
nion an individual should not be eligible for parole? Would
the short report with regard to sentences over five years
prejudge in so far as the possibility of parole is concerned?



March 1, 1972

Legal and Constitutional Affairs 1:7

Mzr. Miller: Opinions are expressed as to how they feel the
individual should be treated or as to the likelihood of his
rehabilitation, in the same fashion as do the police, judges
and a variety of other bodies which report to us.

Senator Buckwold: Would they recommend that no con-
sideration be given for parole to a certain individual?

Mr. Miller: Yes, they would make such recommendations.
They might also indicate that in their opinion the man
could be paroled. If you wish to term it a privilege, it is
exactly the same as that granted to anyone who wishes to
communicate with us.

Senator Buckwold: Is more weight placed on such a
recommendation from the provincial attorney general
than on one from an ordinary individual?

Mr. Miller: I am not a member of the board, but was at
one time. Consideration and weight are given to the opi-
nion and the actual information and facts available as
compared to other information at hand. A principle that
has always been maintained throughout the history of
parole in Canada is that the paroling authority is not
bound by anyone’s recommendation. Cases occur in which
adverse recommendations are received and the decision is
favourable. Reports may be received from two sources
which are considered to be important opinions, one recom-
mending one course and the other the opposite. It then
becomes the function of the Parole Board staff to consider
the reports in the light of their experience and to decide
what weight they deserve.

Senator Buckwold: Could I summarize that by saying that
in your opinion a letter from the Solicitor General of
Quebec would be dealt with in much the same manner as
any other letter? In other words, the influence of the
Solicitor General of Quebec is not any different from that
of anyone else?

Mr. Miller: I would say that his opinion would be given no
undue weight.

Senator McGrand: You have made reference to the FLQ
and the Doukhobors. There must be a distinction made
between members of the FLQ, who are more or less politi-
cal prisoners and the Doukhobors, who are detained
because they refuse to conform to the Canadian law. You
must give them different consideration from a criminal
who has robbed a bank. The rehabilitation is entirely
different, is it not?

Mr. Street: Yes. I did not mean to put them in exactly the
same category, but to point out that they are special types
of cases. As you say, the Doukhobors are not similar to
ordinary, run-of-the-mill criminals. However, because of
the extremely tense situation in British Columbia and all
other provinces involved, we had special meetings with the
police and the attorney general’s department to consider
these cases. It worked out very well, and most are now on
parole. There has been one revocation, to my knowledge,
in the case of a man who was charged with impaired
driving or a similar offence.

Senator Williams: With regard to the Doukhobors, does
the Parole Board give real consideration to the fact, that

they are not actually criminals but are possibly in some
cases just as dangerous and are abnormal in their reli-
gious way of life, in that they are fanatics?

Mr. Street: We certainly do, and we spent years working
on this.

Senator Williams: Do they receive the normal or average
number of paroles, as compared to others?

Mr. Street: As you say, it was mostly caused by their
rather strange religious conviction. I made a special trip to
speak to them and the authorities in Grand Forks and
other places in the area when the problem first arose. At
that time I explained to them that if and when they decid-
ed to obey the law we would consider granting parole.
They inquired whether the law was God’s or man-made. I
informed them that I was referring to man-made law and
we parted company, because they were then only interest-
ed in God’s law. However, one year later, after someone
wrote a book and they had come to their senses and
realized that they had been duped by their former leader,
they indicated that they would obey the law. They were
informed that they would have to demonstrate this, and
they worked so hard in prison that there was insufficient
employment for them. However, it was a very tense situa-
tion, one which required very careful consideration.
Whether it was a religious conviction or a type of political
conviction, we still had to consider that they were poten-
tially dangerous.

Senator Thompson: Do you recognize any agency as
having special knowledge that an inmate might be
associated with an international organization such as the
Mafia? Would their reports, therefore, receive particular
consideration?

Mr. Street: Yes.
Mr. Thompson: What agency is that?

Mr. Street: The Royal Canadian Mounted Police, the
Ontario Provincial Police, the Quebec Provincial Police,
the Ontario Police Commission and the Quebec Police
Commission. As you know, they maintain special sections
dealing with Intelligence, as opposed to documented infor-
mation. We receive from them reports based on
Intelligence.

Senator Thompson: Might they not write through their
attorneys-general?

Mr. Street: Well, they might, but I think the communica-
tion is more direct than that. They are invited to communi-
cate with us at any time they wish.

Senator Thompson: Your answer to the effect that a letter
from an attorney general would be given the same weight
as one from any one else raised in my mind the question of
the existence of an agency which you recognize as having
particular knowledge regarding areas of crime and the
danger of an inmate being released because of an associa-
tion he may have with one of these organizations.

Mr. Street: Yes, but I do not remember ever seeing a letter
from an attorney general in a case such as that. It is
usually from police sources.
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Senator Buckwold: At our last meeting we heard refer-
ence to the problems of staff, which has again arisen this
morning. You indicated that you need more staff, and then
made a rather interesting observation respecting longer
tenure which means, I presume, that you experience a
fairly rapid rate of turnover?

Mr. Stevenson: No, I am sorry; I was not implying that,
senator. However, I found in my own experience that the
longer staff members remain the more efficient they
become.

Senator Buckwold: I gathered from your remarks that
normally the tenure was not long enough. I should like to
develop this aspect. Do you, in fact, have a rapid staff
turnover? Do conditions, salaries, et cetera, make it dif-
ficult for you to obtain or keep staff?

Mr. Street: Perhaps Mr. Miller could answer that ques-
tion. There is a rapid staff increase. We have a lot of new
staff. I think that generally our tenure is quite long.

The Chairman: Once you get them, you keep them?
Mr. Street: Yes, we do.

Senator Buckwold: That clarifies my concern. Obviously,
the staff situation will be of major concern to the
committee.

Mr. Street: We are very lucky, senator, in that we repre-
sent the more pleasant and positive side of the work. We
are able to recruit people more easily than, for instance,
penitentiaries, because most people like to work with suc-
cessful cases and inmates rather than in institutions. We
do not have much loss of staff, but we have had a fairly
rapid expansion in the last few years.

Senator Buckwold: Do you have any statistics of the
number of your staff, say, over the last five years?

Mr. Street: I have some statistics for this year.

Senator Buckwold: If that information is not available,
perhaps it could be provided. I am referring to the period
of the past five years, to staff increases, type of staff,
category of jobs, and the turnover of staff. We would be
interested in receiving that.

The Chairman: I believe Mr. Street has some figures with
him.

Mr. Street: The total establishment for this year is 475, of
which 206 are officers in the field, regional or district
officers. Two years ago the figure was 300, of which only
116 officers were in the field. There has been an increase
therefore of about 90 officers. The number has almost
doubled. We are doing this partly because of the increase
in work, and to contend with mandatory supervision
which is now coming into effect.

Senator Hastings: How many of those 80 or 90 are
engaged on mandatory supervision?

Mr. Street: No one person is assigned to mandatory
supervision, which is just barely starting. We estimate that
about 30 persons a month will be coming out on mandato-
ry supervision.

Senator Williams: Which province would have the great-
est share of that 4757

Mr. Street: I am not sure if it would be British Columbia
or Quebec. We would have to sort that out. I have the
figures written down, but we would have to calculate that.
British Columbia has five offices, but so also does Quebec
and Ontario.

The Chairman: We will get that information, senator.

Senator Buckwold: Could I explore the manpower aspect
a little further? I gather from what has been said that staff
is a problem, yet, from statistics which have already been
given us, we have seen a remarkable growth over the last
two years. On the other hand, one might receive the
impression that in spite of the almost doubling of the staff,
the kind of progress that we would like to see in the system
is not necessarily being achieved, particularly in dealing
more rapidly and more thoroughly with cases. Is this ques-
tion of staff the answer to the problem?

Mr. Street: The major part of it is, yes. However, there is
in addition a rapid increase in the number of cases we are
dealing with. In the first month of this year we dealt with
1,420 cases. In January a year ago the figure was only
1,027. Between this January and last, there was an
increase, therefore of 400 cases in one month. That does
not necessarily mean 400 people applying, but 400 differ-
ent types of decisions which had to be made by the board
in the month of January. The number of people who do
not apply for parole is diminishing. In January of last year
the figure was 55, but this year it was 41.

The Chairman: Those are people who have reached their
parole eligibility date, but who have indicated that they
were not interested in receiving parole?

Mr. Street: Yes. That applies to federal prisons only. Of
course, that system will no longer apply, because we will
now have mandatory supervision.

Senator Hastings: Have you given any consideration to
using the RCMP for such purposes?

Mr. Street: No.

Senator Hastings: Have you found them helpful in the
administration of the Criminal Records Act?

Mr. Street: I do not think they would want to do it, even if
we wanted them to do so; they have enough to do.

Senator Thompson: I think it was Senator Buckwold who
asked a question in connection with a young person in the
penitentiary who asked for parole. It was found that com-
munity resources were not available. The person con-
cerned had written to his family, but could not obtain a
job. Unfortunately, neither could he obtain parole. In read-
ing about that incident during the recess, I could not help
thinking that we have in Canada an Immigration Depart-
ment with branches across the country. People come here
from Tibet, Czechoslovakia, and so on, and all these
resources are available to help assimilate such people into
the life of the community. When a question was asked
about the relationship with unions, I was interested to
learn that a parole officer said that he had seen one union
leader himself, but that he did not know what was the
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tie-up nationally. As I understand it, our immigration
officers overseas are fed weekly information about job
opportunities which exist across Canada. They know the
requirements of unions both locally and nationally. To
someone applying in Croetia or elsewhere for entry into
Canada, an immigration officer can suggest that there
might be a job available in, say, Moose Jaw. It seems to me
that the whole weight of trying to obtain community
resources is left to a few people. We have this resource of
government, with offices all across the country. I am won-
dering how we can tie that in more closely with your
service. Do you think it might be beneficial?

Mr. Street: Yes, it is indeed beneficial. I do not believe it
happens very often, if ever, that a man is refused parole
simply because he does not have a place to go to, or a job
to go to. Sixty-eight per cent of our parolees are working
and earning wages. The Manpower offices provide special
placement officers whose concern it is, to help inmates or
parolees find jobs. As I say, I do not believe many prospec-
tive parolees are turned down simply because they do not
have a job to go to. As you yourself said, senator, there is
usually work of some kind in some part of the country for
a person who is willing to do it.

Senator Thompson: Let us take the Indian, for example.
In answer to a question asked of you earlier, Mr. Street, I
believe you explained to us that obtaining jobs for Indians
is a particularly difficult situation. Now, I do not wish to
single out any particular group, but we are quite success-
ful in adopting other peoples in our country. My question,
Mr. Street, is this: Are there particular efforts to look at
areas across Canada to determine whether or not there are
opportunities that a parolee or ex-inmate could go to? As it
is now, there seems to be a pattern in that you always seem
to want an individual to go back to his own community.

Mr. Street: I do not think it is fair to say we do that as
such, but the prospective parolee is put in touch with a
Manpower representative and can easily find out the job
opportunities in various parts of the country. Most of them
seem to want to go back to whence they came. The man is
encouraged in every way to get a job on his own because
then he will be happier, but he is given all the help we can
possibly give him, through Manpower and through our
own offices, to obtain a job.

I am not sure if that answers your question, senator.

Senator Thompson: Well, I am not too clear on this.
Assuming I was an inmate of one of the penitentiaries, and
I was soon to be released but had no job to go to, do I
understand someone would come and interview me to
determine my educational background, if any—and I
would not have very much to offer—and I would then be
put in touch with a Manpower representative? Now, do I
write a letter, and, if so, where does it go to?

You see, I am thinking of the immigrant who is not
aware of job opportunities, but the counsellor tells him
that there are more opportunities in Ontario than in some
other place and suggests that this might be the best place
to go. The convict, I would think, has to figure out the best
place to apply. For example, he has to think of whether he
would not stand a better chance of being released if he
said he was going home to live with his mother, or to get
married, or something of that nature, whereas the real
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opportunities for him could be in the Northwest

Territories

By simply writing to the local Manpower office I think
his application would be simply filed without the type of
interview which would disclose his background and, as
well, make him aware of the opportunities across Canada.
For example, an immigration officer sits down with a
newly arrived person and outlines for him the various
opportunities across Canada and, because he learns the
background of the individual, he can direct him to certain
areas in Canada where he might best succeed.

The Chairman: Why not simply ask Mr. Street how the
prisoner finds a job?

Senator Thompson: Thank you Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Street: The prisoner is encouraged to find a job on his
own, as he will then be much happier. He is, however, put
in touch with a Manpower special placement officer who
comes to the prison and obtains the type of information
you were speaking about and, with this information on
hand, tries to place the prisoner in a satisfactory job.

Did you want to add something, Mr. Stevenson?

Mr. Stevenson: I was going to say that a Manpower
representative generally comes to penitentiaries and, I
think, to jails on a regular basis to interview those who are
either applying for parole or nearing the end of their
sentence.

Senator Thompson: You say a Manpower representative
usually comes—

Mr. Stevenson: I know a representative comes to the
penitentiaries on a monthly basis in order to conduct inter-
views with those who request them. The prisoner’s classifi-
cation officer hopefully will have discussed employment
and the whole post-release plan with the prisoner before
this and will have suggested that he be put on the inter-
view list for Manpower. I think the majority of the inmates
obtain employment through relatives or friends, and they
usually return to where they are most comfortable. Very
few ex-inmates want to go to an entirely new area. I
remember one fellow who wanted to go to Whitehorse in
the Yukon Territory. He had been a miner in Sudbury and
had a good employment record, so we agreed to reserve
our decision on his request and seek a report from the
Whitehorse probation department for his move. This
individual’s file was then sent to the probation department
in Whitehorse who checked things out and finally agreed
that he could go there. It was explained to this individual
that Whitehorse in the winter was a difficult place to find
work and fellows who ended up without a job, if it was 40
degrees below zero or colder, were given a bus ticket, but
if it was warmer than 40 degrees below zero they walked
out of town.

The Chairman: They were led to the highway, so to
speak?

Mr. Stevenson: Yes, and this individual finally had to
leave and go to Vancouver.

Senator Thompson: Is there any training given to the
Manpower officer who attends at the penitentiaries? It
would seem to me that there could be a requirement of
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special sensitivity and understanding for this type of work.
I believe Manpower officers who deal with immigrants
have special training. The first priority of a Manpower
officer may be to Canadian citizens who are law abiding,
and, consequently, he may have a strong prejudice
towards inmates. Is there any special selection for the type
of individual who goes to the penitentiaries to conduct
these interviews?

Mr. Stevenson: A few years ago they had a special place-
ment section and the staff was selected to work with
people with handicaps, whether mental or physical, and
prisoners as well, but that has been abandoned. Mr. Miller
now advises me that there is an ex-member of our staff in
charge of the special section in Manpower which looks
after the liaison with the prisoners.

Senator Thompson: Manpower has a number of confer-
ences. Have you, or members of your staff, ever been
asked to give talks at these conferences?

Mr. Stevenson: Yes. I attended a number of meetings in
Vancouver at which I was asked to speak on parolees and
how they could be assisted.

Senator Williams: With respect to native inmates—and
there is quite a number across the country—it appears to
me that the qualifying point in obtaining parole is job
availability. This is where the expression of an opinion
comes in. Most of them have no qualifying skill or training.
Where then does Manpower place them, if Manpower
should lend an ear?

Mr Street: The same applies to almost all people coming
out of prison: most of them do not have any trade or skill,
so most of them have to compete in the unskilled labour
market, which is competitive.

Senator Williams: How and where does he start compet-
ing? Inside?
Mr. Street: Any inmate?

Senator Williams: Yes.

Mr. Street: As I was explaining, he has the same oppor-
tunities to talk to Manpower, to us, to after-care, to rela-
tives and friends, as anyone else, and we will help him.

Senator Williams: Does the native inmate feel he has the
same opportunities when he is inside?

Mr. Street: I would think so.

Senator Williams: I do not think so.

Mr. Street: I do not know what we can do other than what
we have been doing. We have even had a special program,
for which we engaged twelve native officers. We have six
- or eight of them left. Some left our organization, but we
have six or eight of them working in our offices now in the
West.

Senator Williams: You say six or eight. You are not sure
whether it is six or eight?

Mr. Street: No, I am not; that is why I did not say the
exact number.

Senator Williams: In view of the large inmate population,
which I understand is very high, where are these six or
eight people? Are they in British Columbia, Alberta,
Ontario?

Mr. Street: I know there are some in Manitoba.
Mr. Miller: In each of the four western provinces.
Mr. Stevenson: There are two in British Columbia.

Senator Williams: Is the number of natives who gain
parole quite high? Is it comparable with the others, in view
of the percentage of inmates?

The Chairman: Senator Williams, I think we should have
the information on the distribution first. I wonder if we
could have that question answered, and then go on to your
second question.

Mr. Street: We have two in Vancouver, one in Prince
George, one in Regina, two in Winnipeg, two in Brandon,
and one in Thunder Bay.

Senator Williams: You say there are two in British
Columbia.

Mr. Street: Three.

Senator Williams: There are in Vancouver two Indian
organizations, one the Union of British Columbia Indian
Chiefs, the other the Native Brotherhood of British
Columbia, which I head. We have had an office in Vancou-
ver since 1942, but not once in my experience in that office,
which extends over 20 years, have we ever had a visit from
any person from the Parole Board, or anything pertaining
to matters of parole for Indian inmates. Where do they go?
I think an organization like the Union of Indian Chiefs,
our organization and other small organizations should be
consulted.

Mr. Street: I am sure that our office is in touch with them,
because we know of those organizations.

Mr. Stevenson: I was in Vancouver for ten years, and I
must say that you are quite right, Senator Williams: I
never did visit your office. However, I felt we were doing
everything possible to work with the native people. Bill
Mussell, who was a member of our staff, whom I think you
know, handled a good many of these contacts. Whether or
not he had been to your office, I do not know. When the
group in the penitentiary became organized we assigned
an officer to work with them towards forming the Indian
half-way house, encouraging their getting together and
sticking together, and getting resources for them outside. I
do not have statistics, but I believe that they received just
as many paroles as the white fellows who were applying.
Certainly we knew and recognized the handicaps they
were under. We tried to work with them in every way to
equalize the situation.

The Chairman: I believe Mr. Maccagno has some figures
on this.

Mr. Street: I have some figures dated August 1971, from
our four district offices in British Columbia, which indi-
cate the ratio of paroles granted to Indians and non-Indi-
ans. In Victoria parole was granted to 44 per cent non-Indi-
ans and 69 per cent Indians; in Vancouver, 67 per cent
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non-Indians, 64 per cent Indians; in Prince George, 49 per
cent Indians and 55 per cent non-Indians; in Abbotsford,
66 per cent Indians and 59 per cent non-Indians.

Senator Thompson: You say that is the ratio granted. It
could be that there is a larger number of Indians within
the inmate community. Or is it that of those of Indian
background who are in the penitentiary 69 per cent are
given the opportunity of parole?

Mr. Street: They are all given the opportunity, and they
are all treated exactly the same. Those figures are the
percentages of paroles granted to Indians and
non-Indians.

The Chairman: The percentage of persons who made
applications and to whom parole was granted.

Senator Thompson: It may mean there is a larger Indian
population in the penitentiaries.

The Chairman: No, no. These figures do not add up to 100
per cent.

Senator Buckwold: I wonder if we could get it straight. Is
the 69 per cent in, say, Victoria, 69 per cent of those of
Indian ancestry who applied?

Mr. Miller: Who are Indians.

Senator Buckwold: Who are Indians, and got a parole as a
result of their application, whereas only 44 per cent of
those who are non-Indians received it?

The Chairman: That is what I understood. Is that correct?

Senator Buckwold: Could we get it straight? I would like
to know what the percentage is.

The Chairman: That is the percentage of successful
applications as against the total number of applications;
grants versus applications.

Senator Thompsom: Is that right?
Senator Buckwold: Is it correct?

Mr. Street: I will check it, but I thought it meant of the
paroles granted in our Victoria office—in other words, on
Vancouver Island—69 per cent were granted to Indians
and 44 per cent to non-Indians.

Senator Buckwold: That does not add up to 100 per cent.
The Chairman: It adds up to over 100 per cent.

Mr. Street: Yes, that is right. Maybe it does mean what
you say. It would not make any sense otherwise.

Senator Hastings: What does it mean?

The Chairman: None of those figures add up to 100 per
cent, which would be splitting it between the people there.
What it obviously means, I am sure, is that if 100 Indians
applied 69 of them got it, and if 100 non-Indians applied 44
per cent of them got it. This is in that particular area. I
suppose it changes from place to place.

Senator Buckwold: We still have not had it confirmed.
Who do you classify as an Indian? Is this anyone of Indian
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ancestry? How far down the line do you go? Where is the
line drawn? Or are they off the reserve?

Mr. Street: I do not know.
Senator Williams: I wonder if I might try to clarify this?
The Chairman: Yes, let us get this question clear.

Senator Williams: There are the status Indians, who are
under the Indian Act, whether they be non-treaty or treaty,
and possibly equally as many, if not more, non-status
Indians.

Mr. Street: I do not think that has anything to do with it.
If he is an Indian, to us he is an Indian. It does not matter
whether he is a treaty Indian or a non-treaty Indian, or a
status Indian or a non-status Indian.

Senator Hastings: Or a Métis?
Mr. Street: A Métis would be included in that too.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, I wonder if Mr. Maccag-
no might give us the benefit of his years of experience with
this problem?

Mr. M. Maccagno. Member, National Parole Board: I can
only give you the figures that I have.

Senator Hastings: I am not so interested in the figures,
but I would like to have your own views.

Mr. Maccagno: I can talk of generalities. I have listened to
what has transpired. At one point a comparison was made
with immigration. We are talking about totally different
things. In immigration you have people who want to leave
the country that they are in and who come to Canada or go
elsewhere. Here we have people who wish to return home.

Some of them, as Mr. Stevenson has said, would like to
start a new life elsewhere. It may be that they shamed
their relatives, and so on and so forth, and they want to go
elsewhere. But when we are talking about the native
people, they are people who would like to return home,
just as I would like to go home if I were in their position,
and most of us would like to go home, so we are talking
about two different things.

In the area of parole and job opportunity, if there is a
job there, it will help get parole. There is no hard and fast
rule, but consider this. For a man who is serving time,
paroling him to an area where we know, and it is quite
evident, that he will never make it, we are not doing him a
favour. It is better to wait a while and see what we can do
or how we can use our resources to plan something better
for him, if not right away, then in a month or two. Just
letting him out and sending him back means that he has all
his good time lost—plus. So we have to be careful of that.

Dealing with my personal statistics, I am a relatively
new member of the board, and have kept track of every
case that has come before me across my desk and during
interviews out in the field. My studies are not yet complete,
neither are my statistics. However, for the penitentiaries in
the prairie provinces, my figures refer to those persons of
native ancestry and include both the Indian and Metis. I
have been out with different panel members on these
interviews and these are listed by number. Out of all the
inmates of native ancestry interviewed, my figures indi-



1542

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 1, 1972

cate that 54 per cent have been granted some type of
parole. The overall figure of paroles granted to inmates of
the three prairie provinces who have been interviewed by
the panel members with me is 53 per cent. Do not forget
that these are the figures of just one Parole Board member
travelling with one other making up the panel. I have the
names and file numbers and any other information that
you may wish on them and trust you can accept that. When
I refer to some kind of parole, I include the whole gambit,
from Parole Granted, Parole in Principle, minimum
Parole and Day Parole. Does this answer your question?

Senator Williams: It still appears to me that the job
opportunity is one of the biggest deciding factors for an
Indian who gets parole. I am of the opinion that in most
cases he does not know where to start. We have had a few
coming to our office who have expressed themselves as to
how they feel when they come outside. They are definitely
lost, they do not know where they are, they do not know
where to go, and they seem to have lost part of themselves
somewhere. That is my own experience.

Also, many of the younger people who are on probation
make the mistake of coming into our office, as if we were
the probation office, and half the time they do not know
where they are. They just come in scared.

Mr. Maccagno: I would have to agree in one respect, that
there is a problem, undoubtedly. But let us analyze what
you have just said, and put it in another way. Is it strictly a
parole problem? Is there a high rate of employment
among the native people who have never gone to
penitentiary?

Senator Williams: I would say no, but those who have not
gone to penitentiary have a better opportunity because
they are on foot.

Mr. Maccagno: They have a better opportunity because
they are on foot, but do the records show that there is a
high employment rate, are there a good number of them
fully employed?

Senator Williams: There are very few in the Province of
British Columbia who are employed for long lengths of
time, because in that province the native people are sea-
sonal workers. They could be in industry, they could be in
the mining, a good many in fishing, and in the agricultural
areas. It is mostly seasonal work. Those who are not, and
those who are outside, who have not been in these institu-
tions, have employment, but during the seasons.

Mr. Maccagno: There is a lot of unemployment, too?

Senator Williams: When the seasons are off. The employ-
ment ratio of the British Columbia Indian is fairly good.

Mr. Maccagno: I do know, sir, that when we are on the
panel and they come before us, as far as the board mem-
bers are concerned, we certainly pass on to them all the
information that we have. There is no question about that.
We make every effort to assist them but experience many
difficulties. These do not pertain only to the person in
penitentiary, although the fact that he is in penitentiary
certainly does not help at all.

However, thare are certain opportunities available in the
penitentiaries. One can upgrade himself and there are a

good number of inmates who have upgraded themselves
and who have taken on vocational skills. These vocational
opportunities are available; some take advantage of them
and others do not. Again, upon release some take advan-
tage of this additional knowledge while others do not. This
does not apply to the native people only, but we find the
same thing applies right across the board.

Senator Williams: You will understand that he may have
taken some form of vocational training while he is within.
Then comes parole. Actually, he has no qualification
status. He may lack Grade 12 or whatever the case may be.
Take a young Métis woman. She may train as a nurse’s aid
or as a practical nurse, but she has no recognition in
hospitals or institutions, because she has not got that
grade standard.

The Chairman: I think this is really going beyond the
question of parole. We have figures of the percentage here,
in Mr. Maccagno’s area, and he has said they are approxi-
mately the same, with a shade difference, as to the
parolees among them.

Senator Thompson: Mr. Chairman, may I make the point
that I do not think it is getting beyond the parole question?
However, in another area, we will be looking at training
within institutions.

The Chairman: That is right. That is what I had in mind,
that we will have penitentiary people here who will look at
that. A question that might be asked, if someone wishes to
ask it, is whether, of the 32 per cent of parolees who are
unemployed, do we have figures as to what percentage are
native people? This would answer your question, I think,
and get down closer to what you are at, Senator Williams.
Do you keep any statistics on that kind of question?

Mr. Stevenson: No.

Mr. Miller: No running statistics, Mr. Chairman, but a
survey could be made.

The Chairman: I wonder if that could be done for us,
then.

Senator McGrand: Senator Thompson referred to the ser-
vice we give to certain immigrants in the finding of jobs, a
service which is not given to ex-prisoners. Is this due in
any way to the reluctance of employers to employ ex-pris-
oners? As I understand it, when foreigners come to our
country there is a kind of mutual help that they receive
from little ethnic communities of their own. They tend to
help each other. That is something that ex-prisoners do not
benefit from; they do not have that feeling of community.

Mr. Street: On the other hand, ex-prisoners usually get a
great deal of help from their families friends, relatives,
and so on. They have the same access to manpower
resources as anyone else, plus the fact that they have
after-care agencies and us helping them.

Senator McGrand: But do employers hesitate to give
employment to ex-prisoners?

Mr. Street: Naturally, there is some difficulty. I think it is
not as bad as it was. If the inmate has a trade, I say he can
get the job; but most of them do not have a trade. I suspect
that most of the immigrants coming into the country are
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qualified and are not brought in unless they have some
qualifications. If a person has a trade, he can get a job and
is not turned away; if he has not got a trade, he has to
compete in the unskilled labour market. At the moment we
have an unemployment situation of about 6 or 7 per cent.
So we have the ex-inmate having to compete with people
on the outside who have never been in prison; but even
then we have about 70 per cent of our parolees who are
working.

Senator Fournier (De Lanaudiére): Are there ever cases
where an inmate refuses the privilege of being paroled?

Mr. Street: Not exactly. We have some who do not apply
for parole. There would be no such thing as refusing
parole because we would not consider an inmate if he did
not apply. But the number who are eligible to be consid-
ered for parole but who do not apply is decreasing all the
time. That is probably because of the fact that inmates see
that more paroles have been granted in the last few years,
plus the fact that they now know that even if they do not
get parole they are going to be on mandatory supervision
when they come out of the penitentiary anyway.

Senator Fournier (De Lanaudiére): As it stands now, when
a person is sent to prison he automatically earns a certain
amount of time off so that for a five-year sentence the
person is entitled to be out before that five years is up. Do
you keep him inside or do you let him go just the same if
he makes no application for parole?

Mr. Street: Up to now he has been released at the end of
his term, which would be his full sentence less one-third.
He can earn up to one-third of his sentence off for statuto-
ry remission and earned remission. But from now on that
one-third remission time will be served on mandatory
supervision, which is almost the same as parole.

Senator Fergusson: Mr. Chairman, can Mr. Street tell us
how many cases there are of inmates who have been
released on mandatory supervision?

Mr. Street: I cannot give you that exactly, Senator Fer-
gusson. It is just coming into effect now. It was proclaimed
in August of 1970, and the first persons who would be
affected by it would be those who were sentenced after
that date on a two-year sentence 16 months ago. So it is
just starting now. We have estimated 30 a month.

Senator Fergusson: So, really, none of the mandatory
supervision cases would have been completed yet.

Mr. Street: What I said is subject to the anomalous excep-
tion where a man could have got a sentence of six months
for escape after he would have qualified for it. We have
had a few of those cases. They might have completed it,
but there are very few of those. So it is just really starting
now.

Senator Haig: What exactly does mandatory supervision
meéan?

Mr. Street: It means that if he does not get parole he will
be under supervision for his remission time, which is
about one-third of his sentence.

Senator Haig: You mean he will have to report to some-
body every day?

Mr. Street: Not necessarily every day, but periodically. He
would also be subject to restrictions and conditions in the
same way as a parolee would.

Senator Haig: Supervision by whom?

Mr. Street: By one of our parole officers or by after-care
agencies. Half of our supervision has to be done by per-
sons of outside organizations, so it could be an after-care
agency.

Senator Haig: If he fails to agree to the terms, he is put
back—is that right?

Mr. Street: It could be.

Senator Fergusson: I know that it is just coming into
effect now, but would you know how many are on manda-
tory supervision now?

Mr. Street: No. It is just barely starting.

Senator Hastings: I think we should understand what
mandatory supervision is. I think the invoking of this act
in this particular procedure was a very retrograde step,
because we must understand that, if we are taking a man
who has been sentenced to a term of imprisonment and
has served two-thirds of his sentence, up to now that man
has been entitled to his remission, both statutory and
earned, and has been free to go after two-thirds of his
sentence. But under this act he is now under mandatory
parole for the whole of his sentence. In other words, there
are, no doubt, individuals to whom you refuse parole, and
when it comes to the end of such a person’s sentence and
he has earned his remission, you will now tell him that
parole is exactly what he needs. I am afraid that is going to
receive an answer it richly deserves. I cannot accept the
fact that it is going to be of any benefit whatsoever to the
man.

As I have said, if a man has normally been refused
parole, then to expect him to live up to your regulations
and give up the time that he has lost is just asking too
much of him.

What could quite easily happen would be that an
individual would end up serving more time than his origi-
nal sentence because he would have his mandatory parole
continually revoked under the same regulations that apply
to ordinary parole, namely, on the warrant of a parole
officer.

It seems to me, Mr. Street, that there comes a time when
these men have to stand or fall on their own and that all
the supervision you could possibly give them would simply
not work.

The Chairman: With all respect, Senator Hastings, you
have been expressing a number of opinions one after the
other, which will be of value to the committee when it
discusses a report. But perhaps you could frame your
opinions in the form of questions so that the witnesses
might answer them, if they do have answers to the ques-
tions you have in mind.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Street, how many men have been
returned to the institution as a result of forfeiture or
revocation of mandatory supervision?
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Mr. Street: Three: one in January and two in December.

Senator Hastings: I understood there were five in Novem-
ber alone.

Mr. Street: I am sorry; I did not have the complete infor-
mation before me. Yes. I think the total would be more like
eight or nine. In any event, it is the law of the country now,
but the reason I am in favour of it is that we are concerned
primarily with the protection of the public and we think
the public is best protected by rehabilitation of inmates.
Moreover, if the people we select for parole need the
guidance, counselling, treatment, advice and surveillance
that go with good parole supervision, then the people who
do not get parole and who are not under our selective
system need it even more. I believe that is why it has
become the law. Moreover, it also has the deterrent effect.
Eighty-three per cent of the men in prison have been there
before. Some of them are very vicious, dangerous men,
and they are going to come out eventually, whether we like
it or not. So we think it is desirable for them to come out
under as much control as possible, especially when they
are not good risks for parole in the first place. The deter-
rent effect is there because they know that parole will be
revoked if they do not behave.

Senator Hastings: Is not the protection of the public really
the duty of the police force, Mr. Street?

Mr. Street: Yes, but we are as much concerned with that
as the police. We do not parole people if we think the
public is not going to be protected from them. We do not
parole people if we are sure they are dangerous, vicious or
violent. It seems that there has to be some risk involved,
but we assess it pretty carefully. Part of the reasoning is
that we know they are going to come out anyway, whether
anybody likes it or not, and perhaps it is better to give
them parole so that they will come out under control and
will be given some assistance, which I am sure they will
need, rather than have them staying in until the end of
their sentence and then being free and clear of any restric-
tions at all.

Senator Hastings: Is not the purpose of the Parole Board
or the parole service rehabilitation?

Mr. Street: Yes, it is, but we are also concerned with the
protection of the public. If there has to be a choice
between the welfare of the individual and the protection of
the public, then, in our view, the protection of the public
must come first.

Senator Hastings: Would you not be better off using your
additional staff in serving, assisting and guiding, as you
have indicated, the men whom you have considered
worthy of parole than chasing around trying to control
men to whom you have refused parole?

Mr. Street: I think we have to do both. I think the public
needs to be protected from the people who were not con-
sidered to be good risks for parole, and at the present time
we are paroling perhaps too many people. We are paroling
two out of three. We are slowing down a little now, but we
had been paroling two out of three.

Senator Hastings: Why not bring all these resources to
bear on these people that you are paroling?

Mr. Street: We do. But we have to do the best we can, and
the law says that there shall be mandatory supervision and
it says that we shall be responsible for it, so we have to do
the best we can. I think the one-third who do not get parole
are of more concern to the general public than the two-
thirds who do. It is just as important that they should be
under control and should be given as much help as we can
give them, and that they will accept as the two-thirds who
volunteered for it. Furthermore this has the effect of get-
ting people more interested in parole and having a more
positive attitude. I cannot give you any statistics on it, but
some prisoners do not want to apply for parole because
this seems to be playing into the hands of the administra-
tion. I think perhaps such a prisoner may want parole but
he does not want the other inmates to think that he wants
it. If it is given to him he will take it, but he does not want
to put himself into the position of applying for it. Further-
more he does not want to put himself in the position of
hoping that he will get it when he knows that he does not
have a good chance of getting it.

The Chairman: Is it not the case that a great number of
people do not ask for parole because they do not want to
have anybody looking over their shoulders, and they justi-
fy it to themselves by saying, “I will do my time and then I
will be on my own when I get out”?

Senator Hastings: Do you think that a parole officer or
parole supervision will help that kind of individual?

The Chairman: I am not in a position to answer that
question.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Street, do you think your parole
service is assisting the individual who does not want
supervision?

Mr. Street: I take it that it assists some of them. They are
not going to be easy cases. But if we have nothing else left,
at least we have the deterrent effect when a man knows
that if he does not behave or if he commits another offence
he will lose that time. I think “good time” ought to mean
what it says. If the court has sentenced him to five years,
then, if he is going to get any reward, it should be based on
the fact that he has behaved himself for that five years
and not just for a part of it. He has nothing to fear from
mandatory supervision or parole supervision unless he
intends to commit a crime, and they are the people who
should be brought under control, I think. Apparently, that
is what the government thinks or it would not have passed
the law.

The Chairman: Let us take the case of the fellow serving
six years. At the end of four years, by getting one-third of
the time off, he would be ready for release. So he gets out
at this stage and he goes on mandatory parole or mandato-
ry supervision. Then let us say that after he has been out
for one year he does something. Can this parole be
revoked and can he be put back in?

Mr. Street: Yes.
The Chairman: For how long?

Mr. Street: For two years.
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The Chairman: So he is now going to serve two years
from the time that he gets into trouble and this rides with
him until when?

Mr. Street: Well, if he goes back for two years, then he
starts earning good time again.

The Chairman: But supposing the fellow is out during
this earned remission period of two years which he has
carried with him, and he gets into trouble within that
two-year period, then he loses all the remission he has
already had?

Mr. Street: Yes, he would be returned to prison to serve
the two years, but he can earn more remission during that
time.

Senator Hastings: But then that would be a total of seven
years on an original six-year sentence.

Mr. Street: If you count the time he was out on parole,
that is true. If he spends a year on parole, that would not
count and he would go back to prison for two years. Then
he would start earning one-third of that two years. This is
not popular with dangerous, violent or vicious people or
those who intend to commit further offences, but then I
am not running a popularity contest for criminals who
intend to continue to break the law. I am concerned with
protecting the public against these people. As I say, I am
not popular with those prisoners because I think these
things, but then I am not concerned with those who intend
to commit offences. They should be brought under control
either in or out of prison.

Senator Hastings: I quite agree, but I do not think the
National Parole Service or the Parole Board are the insti-
tutions to fulfill that purpose.

The Chairman: Well, I think you are writing our report
for us at this stage. Try to keep your statements as short as
possible in laying a background for the question you wish
to ask. We cannot just have a debating society here.

Senator Thompson: Following on that point, Mr. Street,
would you prefer that the dangerous criminals whom you
would not wish to supervise on parole, or for whom you
would not suggest parole, should be supervised on manda-
tory parole by a police force?

Mr. Street: Yes, I would be glad to get rid of that head-
ache. I have enough headaches as it is. We get blamed for
everything in sight, including the things they do. I would
be glad to dump that one into somebody else’s lap. But I
think we are the people who should do it because we are
organized to do it. Besides, it is not just a matter of
surveillance. Our men have to try to get through to these
men, to establish a relationship with them and communi-
cate with them and try to gain their confidence to help
them. It is not just a matter of breathing down their necks
to see that they do not step out of line. It is not for that we
have parole officers with master’s degrees in social work.
We have 200 of them, and they are out there to help these
men as much as they can. Now while some of these men do
not want it, even if they are forced into a quasi-treatment
situation, some of it may rub off and some of these men
may get some confidence in their parole officers who are

dealing with them and impressing upon them the desira-
bility of leading a law-abiding life.

Senator Thompson: Do you see a relationship between the
police forces and these difficult disciplinary cases?

Mr. Street: Very much so, particularly in cases where
they see these people misbehaving. As the police chief in
one of our cities told me once, if he sees a man hanging
around a dock area where there are warehouses at 3
o’clock in the morning he naturally becomes concerned
about it. But if that man is on parole, we can see to it that
he does not hang around the docks in the vicinity of
warehouses at 3 o’clock in the morning. However, the
police could not stop him if he was not on parole. In other
words, it gives you the means of controlling the people
who are likely to commit offences.

Senator Thompson: I think there are some first-class com-
munity people in the RCMP. I do not quite share the point
of view of my colleague who has mentioned the question
of rehabilitation. I raise this question because I know that
in the police forces there are those who are very much
concerned with the rehabilitation of offenders.

The Chairman: Senator Thompson, one of the things I
want to avoid is asking people who are in one department
what they think about people in another department. We
are going to have the Commissioner of the RCMP here to
tell you what he thinks about his people, and we are going
to have the Penitentiary Commissioner here to tell you
what he thinks about his people, but at this particular
stage of the proceedings I think it may be embarrassing,
and I am not sure it will give us very much useful informa-
tion to ask people from one area to pass judgment on those
who are their equals in another area of the work.

Senator Thompson: Mr. Chairman, with respect, I think
you are prejudging my question.

The Chairman: If you would get to it faster, I would not
have to.

Senator Thompson: I apologize for my slowness. Do you
feel there is any merit in some kind of inter-relationship
between parole officers and, let us say, the RCMP? Let us
say that the RCMP officers could take a course in parole,
and your people could take a course in police instruction
or something like this. You have mentioned something
about a master’s degree. Is something like this already
being done?

Mr. Street: I think it is very important that parole officers
work with and understand the functions of the police, and
that at the same time the police understand what our
functions are and that we work very closely together. I feel
we do this. We are certainly at some pains to establish
liaison at all levels, and I think this is very satisfactory and
desirable. Although the police are primarily concerned
with surveillance as part of their function, I do not think
there is a police officer in the country who has not gone
out of his way to help a criminal at some stage.

Senator Thompson: Do you, or someone from your depart-
ment, go and speak to the RCMP trainees in Regina?
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Mr. Street: Yes, we go all over the country. In Ottawa
there is Mr. Therrien, and Mr. Miller also does it. We do
this in Regina and all over the country.

Senator Fergusson: My other question had to do with
agencies with which you deal. What is the standard an
agency has to reach before you recognize it as one with
whom you would make a contract? Also, are there other
organizations who work in this field that you do not recog-
nize? I am thinking of one particular organization which
presented a brief in Prince Edward Island. They were not
working with parolees, but with people who had been in
jail. They themselves had been in jail at one time. Would
you accept that kind of organization, or that kind of
group?

Mr. Sireet: Yes, we would accept anyone who is working
in this field. We have many agencies with whom we make
contracts other than, let us say, the John Howard Society.

Senator Fergusson: Yes, you have a list of them at the end
of our minutes. The organization I was concerned about
does not appear on that list.

Mr. Street: Well, if they asked to be on the list, and if they
are suitable to us in performing this work, we would be
happy to make some arrangement with them. We do
expect them to do the work the way we want it done.

Senator Fergusson: Is there a standard which they would
have to reach? Are they required to have so many social
workers, or people such as this, in their agency?

Mr. Street: No, that would not be feasible. Most of them
do have social workers, but you cannot insist on that high
an academic standard. We are trying to encourage the use
of volunteers wherever possible.

Senator Fergusson: If you were satisfied with them, you
would make a contract with them?

Mr. Street: Oh yes.

Senator Fergusson: At the end of the hearing on Decem-
ber 17 I asked you if you could tell me how many women
were granted parole from Kingston, how many received
parole, broke their parole and had to be returned. I believe
you indicated you would send that information to me. I
have not checked all of my mail—

Mr. Street: Senator Ferguson, I apologize, but I did not
send it to you.

Senator Fergusson: It is on the last page.

Mr. Street: If this information was not sent to you, I beg
your pardon.

Senator Fergusson: That is all right, I am in no great
hurry for it.

Mr. Street: In 1970 there were 39 paroles granted in the
prison for women, 14 were revoked and 6 were forfeited
which totals 20. Up to November, 1971 there were 30
paroles granted; 8 have since been revoked or forfeited. I
will give you this information now, and I am sorry I did
not send it to you.

The Chairman: Shall we have this included as part of the
record?

Honourable Senators: Agreed.
Details follow:
FEDERAL STATISTICS ON WOMEN
Re: Paroles Granted and Violated

Paroles Paroles Violated

Granted Revoked Forfeited
1970 39 14 g%
1971 30 S ™

(Nov. 30)

™ 2 were granted Re-Parole immediately
® 1 was granted Re-Parole immediately
In addition:
1970—16 were granted Day Parole
5 were granted Parole for Deportation

1971—15 were granted Day Parole
1 was granted Parole for Deportation.

Senator Buckwold: That would seem to be an awfully high
number.

Mr. Street: Yes, it is high. However, most judges do not
like to send women to prison. Many of these women have
problems with drugs and they are very difficult to deal
with. There are other statistics which I have sent to you.

Senator Buckwold: Is this the last opportunity we will
have to converse with Mr. Street and his colleagues?

The Chairman: No, Mr. Street will be here again. How-
ever, we would like to cover this part of the matter today.
Mr. Miller will be here tomorrow, in an in camera session,
to deal with certain aspects of actual cases. The reason for
the in camera session is to protect the innocent, so to
speak.

Senator Buckwold: My first question is a very minor one.
Does the Parole Board have anything to do with tempo-
rary leaves which are granted and for which we have
gotten into trouble recently?

Mr. Street: We do not have a single thing to do with that. I
hope the press will take note of this: We did not do it!

Senator Buckwold: This is the reason I deliberately asked
that question because I have personally heard many
derogatory remarks about the Parole Board when, in fact,
they had nothing to do with the temporary leaves.

Mr. Street: No, we make enough mistakes of our own, and
we do not like to be blamed for someone else’s. No we do
not, but a lot of people feel we do.

Senator Buckwold: My second question concerns the
amendments to the Criminal Code which will be coming
forward and which will involve different types of sen-
tence. Let us take, for example, a judge having the pre-
rogative of sending a man to prison for a weekend. I am
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not asking you to assess that practice. But, from the point
of view of the Parole Board, would this make matters any
easier?

Mr. Street: Well, it is none of my business, but I think it is
an excellent type of sentence and it is long overdue. I used
to do it twenty years ago, when I did not have the authority
to do it! If it saved a man his job I would do it, in any
event.

Senator Buckwold: As part of the overall system of deal-
ing with criminals?

Mr. Street: Yes, otherwise the best you can do is if a man
receives a sentence of thirty days for drunk driving, or two
weeks, if we are going to save him his job we have to give
him day parole which will let him out during the day. We
can still do this. However, this will overcome the necessity
of following that procedure. He can serve seven weekends
instead of a two-week period and still maintain his job.
This will not affect us.

Senator Buckwold: My last question is of a general nature,
in view of the fact this may be the last time we shall see
you for a little while.

Mr. Street: I shall be around.

The Chairman: He will be around. This is the last time he
is formally invited to be present, but he will be around.

Senator Buckwold: The purpose of this committee is to
study the parole system generally. I was wondering wheth-
er you are prepared to make a general statement as to
what, in your opinion, should be done to improve the
system. For example, you have already indicated you
could use more staff and better trained people. Over and
above that, would you have any general opinion as to how
the system could be improved, which would involve new
approaches and an improvement of the liaison between
the people concerned—all the matters we have been dis-
cussing today?

The Chairman: I might remark at this point, Senator
Buckwold, that Mr. Street has expressed a desire, which I
am very happy to hear, to be present at as many of our
hearings as we will allow him to attend. It occurs to me, in
any event, that after we have heard all the evidence and
towards the end of our hearings, we could probably have
him and possibly others of his staff return.

Senator Buckwold: I thought this might be my last
opportunity.

The Chairman: I have a feeling that that type of question
might more usefully be put at a later stage.

Senator Buckwold: Could I leave it that it is postponed? I
‘hope, however, that at some time this committee will hear
the thoughts of Mr. Street and his colleagues, so that we
can proceed with the best possible review including con-
sideration of parole systems in other countries.

Mr. Street: Thank you, senator; this is like meeting Santa
Claus.

Senator Buckwold: The ultimate will not be possible and
we will never arrive at the ideal, but I think we may have
some progressive thinking.

The Chairman: When we have received the very type of
information to which you refer we will have another ses-
sion with Mr. Street and ask for his practical reactions to
the various aspects.

Senator Thompson: I wish further to discuss Senator
Buckwold’s first question. In my opinion the Parole Board
becomes involved in areas for which it has no responsibili-
ty. Do you have a budget for public relations and, if so, an
information officer or program?

Mr. Street: We have an information officer, Mr. Parkin-
son, who is in attendance here today. We could do a great
deal more in the field of public relations and are at some
pains to appear on television, speak on radio and hold
press conferences. We also make speeches at various func-
tions and deliver lectures.

Senator Thompson: Could you tell me the amount of the
budget and something of the program?

Mr. Street: I know of no budget. We are simply allowed to
hire an information officer. I suppose his salary consti-
tutes our budget.

Senator Thompson: Could I ask you a series of questions?

Is any part of this program directed towards changing
the attitude of the public towards acceptance of the
parolee?

Is any part of this information program devised to be
used for teaching civies in public schools?

What part of it is specifically addressed to the mass
media?

Because Senator Williams raised this point, I am inter-
ested in what specially designed information program you
have for informing native associations and organizations
and native offenders with respect to parole?

Mr. Street: We do as much as we can in all those areas. We
have no specific program for giving lectures at civics
classes. We have, however, recently received a request to
which we will respond. We speak to anyone who will listen
to us, so there is a good deal of public speaking by our
entire staff throughout the country. Members of the board
and its staff in Ottawa also take part.

The whole idea of the program is to inform the public as
to our function and operations, and to give them the
understanding that our function is rehabilitation. I do not
think we can achieve anything near the desired or possible
result. We keep in constant touch with the media and are
available at any time they wish to speak to us which,
unfortunately, seems to be only when something goes
wrong. When I and other members travel we hold press
conferences in cities other than Ottawa.

I believe I have answered your question with respect to
the budget. There is no special budget, except the appoint-
ment of an information officer and the printing of pam-
phlets for the guidance of magistrates, judges, police, the
public and supervisors.

As for the native population, we have at least eight
Indian officers in the western offices. Our staff keep in
touch with the tribes, councils and reservation authorities.
Again, there is no limit to the requirements in that field.
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Everything is not perfect, but we do the best we can with
what we have.

Senator Thompson: I believe you deliver lectures at
RCMP schools. Do other key organizations submit invita-
tions to speak which must be declined because of insuffi-
cient staff?

Mr. Street: I cannot manage alone, but we encourage our
officers to make speeches and meet people. I regard
attendance at meetings of judges, magistrates and police
chiefs as a high priority and attend whenever I am invited.

Senator Thompson: Therefore, the time of a parole officer
is not spent only in supervision of a case load, a large part
of it is devoted to community interpretation of his role?

Mr. Street: Very much so. One of his important functions
is to keep in touch with judges, magistrates and police
forces in his area. He also maintains contact with mem-
bers of the staff of the Attorney General and the prisons.

In a few years we hope to appoint regional directors. We
will then have officers available for increased liaison and
public relations. Although they are all encouraged to do
that now, sometimes it is difficult for them to do it as well
as we think it should be done.

Senator Thompson: Could you express an approximation
of the proportion of time you consider that an officer
should spend on the public relations role in comparison
with the remainder of his duties in relation to parolees?

Mr. Street: I could only estimate and guess at least 25 per
cent. Unfortunately, he becomes snowed under with
requests for parole and supervision and is unable to do as
much as he or we think he should. It varies from one office
to another, so I could not say.

Senator Thompson: This would become an important part
of the responsibilities of a regional officer?

Mr. Street: Yes, it would. Some of our offices are very big
now, with 14 men. We find it necessary to appoint a man
just for office administration, so that the chief officer has
more time for liaison and public relations.

Senator Hastings: I would like to turn, Mr. Street, to
parole revocation and forfeiture. I will refrain from
expressing an opinion in this regard, but ask quietly and
simply: Would you explain the terms ‘“revocation” and
“forfeiture” and the procedure used with respect to the
revocation of a parole?

Mr. Street: Revocation simply means that parole can be
terminated by action of the board because the man failed
to abide by the conditions of his parole, or he may have
committed a minor offence. If that happens, the parole
officer, or whoever supervises, reports to us that the man
had violated the conditions of his parole in one way—it is
usually in more than one way—and the board then decides
whether to revoke his parole. It is done by action of the
board.

Forfeiture occurs automatically. If any person on parole
commits an indictable offence while on parole, his parole
is automatically forfeited by operation of the law and he
would be returned to the institution.

Senator Hastings: As I understand it, the parolee is
apprehended on an information warrant signed by one of
the officers. He is taken before a magistrate, who simply
verifies the signature on the warrant and the identity of
the parolee, who is then committed to an institution.

Mr. Street: Yes.

Senator Hastings: As I understand it, there is a period of
14 days in which the parole officer may reinstate the
parolee.

Mr. Street: Perhaps I should have explained that that is
what we call suspension. Any member of the board or
designated officer in the field can issue a warrant of
suspension on his own authority, which means that the
person concerned is arrested and brought before a court.
The officer who issued the warrant must report to the
board, and the board decides whether to revoke or contin-
ue the parole. If that is not done, the person must be
released within two weeks. That was designed especially
for such persons as those on drugs. It is sometimes advisa-
ble to bring them in, dry them out, and then reinstate them
on parole, without having their parole actually revoked or
forfeited.

Senator Hastings: The parolee can be incarcerated with-
out a hearing, and have his parole revoked without being
present to defend himself?

Mr. Street: Yes.

Senator Hastings: He has no opportunity of defending
himself or of calling witnesses to refute any charges?

Mr. Street: No. When he is revoked, he is told in no
uncertain terms why his parole has been revoked. He
knows why, anyway. When he is returned to the institution
he is allowed to appear before a panel of two members of
the Parole Board, at what is known as a revocation
hearing.

Senator Hastings: But that is after the fact.

Mr. Street: That is right.

Senator Hastings: If an inmate of an institution violates a
law he is taken before a magistrate, where he has the
opportunity of counsel and of calling witnesses. However,
if it is an ordinary disciplinary matter within the jurisdic-
tion of an institution, he appears before a warden’s court
with the opportunity of cross-examining and calling wit-
nesses. He can appeal that decision to the regional direc-
tor. He receives this treatment within the institution. Yet in
this procedure which affects his freedom, he has the bene-
fit of no procedure or device. y

Mr. Street: No, except to appeal to the board. Anything
can be appealed to the Parole Board. If a person is in a
federal prison, however, he has the opportunity of appear-
ing before two members of the Parole Board sitting as
part of a panel.

Senator Hastings: But he does not have the benefit of
counsel?

Mr. Street: No.
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Senator Hastings: And he cannot cross-examine or refute
evidence?

Mr. Street: No, he cannot.
The Chairman: Can he see the evidence?

Mr. Street: No, but he is told why his parole is revoked,
and he knows perfectly well why it has been revoked. If
there is any doubt in his mind, he is given an opportunity
of appearing before the board and of explaining his
actions.

The Chairman: Can he call witnesses?
Mr. Street: No.

Senator Buckwold: Are there any occasions where a
Parole Board, hearing an appeal against revocation, rein-
states the parole?

Mr. Street: Revocation is determined by the Parole
Board, but a suspension can be determined by a parole
officer. The board may see fit to continue a person on
parole even though an officer has suspended him.

Senator Buckwold: But in the meantime he would have
been returned to the penitentiary. Are there many occa-
sions when this happens?

Mr. Street: Perhaps Mr. Maccagno can answer that
question.

Mr. Maccagno: A man may commit an offence and his
parole is forfeited. In the area of revocation, the man may
violate some of the conditions of his parole and his parole
is revoked. He is not happy about it, and he writes in. I
have been present at a number of revocation hearings. In
most cases the person concerned is well aware of the
grounds for his revocation. Often at the point of revoca-
tion he agrees that he has violated many conditions. He is
not so concerned about the fact that his parole has been
revoked as he is about knowing how and when he can
apply again. We try to satisfy him in this respect. I recall
one case where it was decided that rather then see the
person again in two years, the board would have another
look at his case in six months or a year. Most inmates
admit they have violated their parole conditions. They will
ask whether the violation was that serious and when they
can re-apply for parole.

The Chairman: Would any of them say, “I did not do it,”
in other words, deny the things they are alleged to have
done?

Mr. Maccagno: In the cases I have seen, I would have to
say no.

The Chairman: You have not been present when anyone
has said that?
Mr. Maccagno: No; but it could happen.

Senator Buckwold: With regard to revocation, to a degree
it is an arbitrary decision on the part of somebody.

Mr. Street: On the part of the Parole Board, yes.

Senator Buckwold: Let us take an example. Someone who
is on parole may violate a minor condition of his parole.
Perhaps he travels somewhere where he should not.

The Chairman: Or perhaps he keeps bad company.

Senator Buckwold: It might be nothing that involves the
law; he merely breaks some minor condition.

Mr. Maccagno: In the cases I have seen, the parolee is
given ample opportunity of explaining his actions. If his is
a drinking problem and he is drunk almost daily, and has
been warned time again, he does not necessarily forfeit his
parole immediately. There are some cases where a ‘“no
drinking” clause is made a condition of his parole.

Senator Buckwold: I want to go back to this process Sena-
tor Hastings spoke of. If a parolee violates a condition of
his parole the parole officer, I presume, or a police officer
or someone reports this to the local office?

Mr. Stevenson: Yes, the local office.
Senator Hastings: The local office signs a warrant?
Mr. Street: Yes, for suspension.

Senator Buckwold: The parolee is arrested and brought
back to the institution, just like that?

Mr. Stevenson: He is put on suspension by the local office
if his parole officer, with his supervisor, assess the situa-
tion and decide whether it is serious enough to suspend. In
other words, has the parolee had a number of warnings? Is
there a danger of offences occurring, and so on? If it is
decided not to issue a warrant, then the parolee is seen
right away and is warned about his behaviour and is told
to take some action to improve his behaviour. If it is
decided to issue a warrant, then the parolee is brought
before a magistrate or a justice of the peace, his parole is
suspended and, consequently, he is returned to an institu-
tion for a temporary period. The local office has the
authority to cancel that suspension within 14 days. While
the man is in custody the parole officer interviews him
and, if it is decided it is serious enough to hold him longer,
then his case goes before the Parole Board. If there is a
police report, or any other reports, they will be included
among the documents placed before the Parole Board,
plus the record of how the man had been doing on parole,
and it is then up to the Parole Board to decide whether it is
serious enough to revoke or whether to continue parole
with, perhaps, a tightening of conditions or a change in
location.

Senator Buckwold: How long would it be before the
Parole Board actually held a hearing in such a case? I am
not speaking now of an application for parole, but where a
parolee is returned to an institution pending Parole Board
review of his case?

Mr. Street: It would be heard before the next panel to
come to the institution. The maximum period of time to
elapse would be two months.

Senator Buckwold: It would be no more than two months?

Mr. Street: It would be no more than two months and
more likely a month in the provinces of Ontario and
Quebec.

Senator Haig: Mr. Chairman, I regret having missed the
first couple of meetings. My question to Mr. Street is this:
How is the inmate advise of his rights to parole?
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Mr. Street: The officers in the field conduct a number of
sessions every month in as many places as they can, and
they talk to all the new inmates that have come in that
month and advise them as to parole and how they can
apply for it. We also have pamphlets which are available
and which explain in very simple terms what parole is,
what is involved in it, and how it is applied for.

Senator Haig: Is it also explained to the inmates at what
time they may apply in relation to their sentence?

Mr. Street: Yes.

Senator Thompson: Do you look after parole with respect
to provincial prisoners?

Mr. Street: Yes. -

Senator Thompson: There have been several suggestions
from the provinces to the effect that they would like to
look after the parole system. Would you care to comment
on that?

Mr. Street: That suggestion has been made by some gov-
ernments, and it was recommended in the Ouimet commis-
sion report. I have no strong views one way or the other. If
they wanted to do it, I would have no objection. If it was
done perhaps we could offer even more sophisticated
assistance to prisoners in federal prisons. I feel we do a
fairly good job now. One result of granting provincial
jurisdiction in this area would be five to ten different
systems regarding parole. Chief Justice Fauteux, in his
report, recommended that there should be one uniform
parole system all across Canada.

One of the important things, I think, is that Ontario has
a large number of prisons and they have a parole board
which deals with indeterminate portions of sentences. In
my opinion, this system is not a good one because you
have two parole authorities dealing with the same prisoner
and the same sentence. Ontario might very well either
have their own parole system, because their board does
interview people, and so on, or else ask the government to
put an end to indeterminate sentences. I do not think we
could undertake to visit all provincial prisons in the way
we visit federal prisons. Our officers visit all prisons, of
course, but in order for the board to visit all prisons, both
federal and provincial, it would have to be doubled.

Senator Thompson: May I just clarify the role of the
Ontario Parole Board? The Ontario Parole Board inter-
views provincial prisoners—

Mr. Street: I did not fully explain that. If a person in
Ontario receives a sentence of 12 months definite and 12
months indeterminate the Ontario Parole Board has juris-
diction over the 12 months indeterminate or the indefinite
part of the sentence, and they do interview the prisoner
with respect to that portion of the sentence. With respect to
the 12 months definite portion of the sentence we have
jurisdiction, and if we feel he is a good candidate for
parole we ask the provincial board if it is agreeable to
parole for the portion of the sentence over which it has
jurisdiction. The result of this is, of course, that there are
two parole authorities dealing with the same prisoner with
the same sentence, and it is not desirable.

Senator Thompson:
boards?

Do other provinces have parole

Mr. Street: British Columbia has one, but it is somewhat
more limited than the Ontario board because it is restrict-
ed to dealing with persons between the ages of 16 and 23.
Those are the only other parole systems in the country
apart from the National Parole Board, although some
provinces have parole boards to deal with provincial types
of offences such as careless driving, hunting without
licences, and other offences contrary to provincial
statutes.

Senator Hastings: May I return for a moment to the area
of parole revocation? Let us assume, Mr. Street, I am
placed on parole for a period of two years and at the end
of one year my parole is revoked and I am returned to the
institution to serve the remainder of my sentence as well
as the sentence I have already served on the street.

Mr. Street: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Do you feel that it is fair to make me
re-serve the time I successfully served on the street?

Mr. Street: Yes, I do feel it is fair because if the parolee
does not commit an offence he has nothing to fear from
having to serve his sentence in total. A parolee is not
returned simply because he missed an appointment with
his parole officer or because he went out of town for a day
without telling anyone. Parole is revoked if there has been
a serious breach of parole. I also feel this is a good thing
because as the period of parole draws to an end the deter-
rent factor, if it were set up as you might wish it to be,
would be almost negligible. In other words, if he were not
to serve the remainder of his sentence including that por-
tion served on the street, the last month or week of his
parole would become absolutely meaningless. For those
reasons I am in favour of it as it presently stands. The
Ouimet Commission suggested or recommended that a
parolee should always serve 25 per cent of the time.

Senator Hastings: I regard these as four categories of
custody—that is, the maximum institution, the medium
institution, the minimum institution and parole; and it
seems to me that if we move a man from a minimum
institution to a maximum institution because of an error
on our part, we do not make him re-serve all the time he
had been in the minimum institution. Now, if we place a
man in the fourth category, that is, on parole, and it proves
unsuccessful, as a result of which he is returned to an
institution, should we make him re-serve the time that he
successfully served on the street? I feel it is a rather heavy
penalty to place on this individual.

Mr. Street: Well, I do not regard parole as a form of
custody. He is serving his sentence on the outside, it is
true, and if he serves it without violation of parole his
sentence will come to an end and that will be that. If he
intends to commit offences or if he does commit offences,
then I do not have any particular sympathy for him
whatesoever. He was placed on parole on the understand-
ing that he would not commit any offences, and he was
under no obligation to accept parole. He has nothing to
fear from parole if he does not intend to break the law. We
are trying to find people who do not intend to break the
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law. I think it is necessary to have the deterrent effect of
knowing that if he does break the law he will go back and
serve the two years, which you quoted in your example, or
whatever the term is. As I said, that is a bit longer than
average. Surely it is not asking too much of a man to say,
“Don’t break the law”. That is whole idea of the system. If
he intends to break the law, then he had better not apply
for parole.

Senator Hastings: You do agree that a man is serving time
on the street.

Mr. Street: Oh yes. It clearly says that he is serving his
sentence. As long as he serves it without violation or
without committing another offence it will come to an end
as soon as the term is finished. I think it desirable and
necessary for the protection of the public to have more
control over more criminals, preferably control outside,
and this is the only way we can establish it now, together
with probation.

As I said, I think prison should be a last resort, and only
if no other means of treatment or control is suitable or
available. It is very important that people come out of
prison under parole, so that they can be helped with their
problems and at the same time supervised to see that they
do not commit offences. The whole name of the game is
“Don’t break the law. If you are going to break the law,
don’t come and see me, I am not interested in you.” We are
interested in helping those who want to help themselves. If
a man is going to break the law he should not be out in the
first place, and he should go back for quite a long time.
Prison should be reserved for those people who are a
menace to society and connot be controlled or treated in
any other way. If they are incorrigible or a menace to
society, I am afraid they will have to stay in prison,
because we do not know what else to do with them.

Senator Williams: I have listened very carefully to the
answers that have been given, but I would like to go back a
bit and refer to the six or eight Indians who are employed
as part of the personnel. Were these people appointed or
did they get on to the board in the normal way, through
competition? Did they have to fill in applications or were
they appointees? Do they have qualifications?

Mr. Street: They did not have the same qualifications as
our other officers. This was a special class designed to get
some Indian people on our organization. We picked, I
think, 20, who were given a special course at Kingston.
Some of those who completed the course were put into the
Penitentiaries branch and others were put into our
organization.

Senator Williams: The status Indian population of
Canada is less than one per cent of the total population of
the country, and the high population in the institutions,
possibly around 40 per cent, is of great concern, not only to
myself but to the Indian people and to this country. Why is
it so high? From my own observation, the Indian is not
criminally inclined. Is the reason this figure is so high
because of his educational standard, his environment and
his lack of knowledge of this society? I believe the day has
come when there must be some form of, shall I say, special
consideration or added personnel to accommodate him
and make known to him his rights in prison. It appears to

me that he is not getting enough knowledge, or he seems to
be in a state of inaction or in a vacuum, so that he is not
really applying for parole. The 40 per cent-plus figure is of
real concern to me.

Mr. Street: Yes, and it is of real concern to me. I do not
know why there are so many of them there. Certainly we
do the best we can to try to help them, tell them about
parole and so on. They are not easy cases to look after. I
do not know what the answer is. However, I do know
this—and I am not talking only of Indians but about every-
body—when somebody ends up in a federal penitentiary it
is because every influence that is good in our life has
failed with him—his family, his church, his school, the
YMCA and all the other things that we have got going for
us; he has probably been on probation, maybe at a refor-
matory and so on. He ends up in a federal prison, and we
are supposed magically to reform him. Well, it just does
not work that way. Not much magical reformation takes
place in a prison, even though they have a lot of good
programs, dedicated people working hard and so on. The
penitentiaries get them after everybody else in society has
failed, especially the family, for instance, which is one of
the most important influences. I do not know what the
answer to this is. It is not easy. This applies to everyone,
not only Indians.

Senator Williams: The incidence of those ending up in
penitentiaries is far too high when you consider their total
numbers in the country. Some while ago Mr. Stevenson
referred to my friend Bill Mussells. He is a social worker
and has a degree. However, he did not stay long in the
service; he moved out. He was an ambitious young man
and he became an executive assistant to the Minister of
Indian Affairs. There are other young Indians who are
going to university; possibly two or three of them are
taking sociology. These are the young people who are
needed.

Mr. Street: We would like to get them. We were very sorry
to lose Bill Mussells; he was a good officer, and it was
easier for him to talk to other Indians than for our other
people. We would like to get some of these other young
men. In order to get them we have lowered our standards
and have a special training course for them. I said we have
six or eight; it turns out that it is nine of these men, who
are with us now, and even though they do not have the
same qualifications as others we got them fitted in
anyway.

Senator Williams: I know one who is graduating this year
from the University of British Columbia in sociology. I
think he would be a good person to have.

Mr. Street: We would like to have him.

Senator Buckwold: I should like to have clarification of
the figure of 40 per cent of inmates in prison being Indi-
ans. Could I have that clarified? You say that is 40 per cent
in Western Canada?

Senator Hastings: The western provinces.

Senator Buckwold: Your percentage does not relate to the
national total. What percentage of prisoners in the peniten-
tiaries are Indians? I would think it would be considerably
less, that most of the Indian crimes are really not what we



1:22

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 1, 1972

would call serious criminal offences; they are going into
the provincial jails and so on. Is there a statistic on that?

Senator Hastings: The statistics are about the same.
Senator Buckwold: Is it that high?

Mr. Stevenson: I think the Commissioner of Penitentiar-
ies could answer that. I think it is approximately the same
in the western provinces.

Senator Buckwold: In the federal penitentiaries?
Mr. Stevenson: Yes.

Senator Thompson: I would like to clear up two points,
Mr. Chairman, with Mr. Street. Has the Parole Board
established special arrangements with any police force for
the supervision of parolees?

Mr. Street: Oh, yes. We have liaison with them at all
levels, so that they know who is on parole and so on. If you
mean, do they actually do this supervision for us, I would
say no, not very often, except in out-of-the-way places
where they are the only people available. They do not do
supervision in big cities.

Senator Thompson: As far as the categories of offences
are concerned, drug addicts or bank robberies, is there
any special arrangement with a police force with respect
to offenders?

Mr. Street: Yes, there is, but they would not do the actual
supervision. They would be more concerned with watch-
ing them and the other parolees and reporting to us if they
saw a man at a place he should not be, or out late at night,
or in the company of another criminal. Yes, there is some
police force work in that direction.

Mr. Stevenson: May I just answer a little further? Are you
aware, senator, that in the case of almost every parolee,
one of his conditions is to report to the police at least once
or twice each month, and that that reporting is perhaps
reduced as he goes along?

Senator Thompson: Thank you. I was following on Sena-
tor Haig’s question in connection with the right to apply
for parole. Have there been cases in any situation where
an institution has not respected this right and has prevent-
ed an application for parole?

Mr. Street: Certainly not that I know of. I do not suppose
prisoners have too many rights, but they clearly have the
right to apply for parole and have their case considered. I
do not know of any institution where it has been other-
wise, and if I had known I would have done something
about it. The prisoner certainly has the right to apply and
the right to have his case considered, and it would be quite
improper for any prison director or anyone else to stop
him sending an application to the National Parole Board.

Senator Hastings: Or making a decision on your behalf?

Mr. Street: He cannot make a decision on our behalf; no
one can. He certainly has the right to apply.

Senator Hastings: May I return to the Indian problem? I
know it was interesting, that Mr. Stevenson said something
to the effect that “We are doing everything possible,” and

“We were trying our best.” Then Mr. Street mentioned a
few moments ago that, “We are trying to do the best we
can with this problem.”

I have been attending some of these Native Brotherhood
meetings in the penitentiary and they are quite vociferous
in telling me that I, as a white man, just cannot understand
or appreciate their particular problems.

I am wondering if they may not be quite right, in view of
the efforts we have been putting forward, that we are now
about ready to admit that we are incapable of solving the
problem for them, and perhaps the time is ripe to grant
some authority to organizations such as Senator Thomp-
son mentioned, or Native Brotherhood organizations, to
assume this undertaking.

Mr. Street: Do you mean, to grant parole, or to undertake
to make them understand our position? I do not see what
you mean.

Senator Hastings: Supervision, and their responsibilities.

Mr. Street: We will do anything. I do not have the answers
to this. I am just saying that we are doing the best we can.
We have not got the answer to this problem, but our
officers keep in touch with the native councils, bands and
reservations, chiefs and managers, and so on, and are
trying to have liaison with them and to get them to do the
supervision; and the Indian agents and the Brotherhood
people you are speaking of, we know about them anyway.
I do not know the answer.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Maccagno, would you care to com-
ment on this matter, with your experience?

Mr. Maccagno: We can comment, but then we are at
loggerheads here, for the simple reason that we know that
in the northern parts of Alberta, something like 20 per cent
of the population, if my figures are still correct, are people
of native ancestry. In the penitentiaries, in the jails, about
40 per cent of the inmates are of native ancestry. That is
alarming; that is a problem. But let us not forget one thing,
that it is not the Parole Board who put them there. If you
want to follow that line, that is beyond my realm of juris-
diction. Do you use the same yardstick when you have the
natives before you in the court? I do not know. But start
from there.

Let us get one fact straight, it is the native population,
which is 20 per cent of the total, which comprises 40 per
cent of the population in the penitentiaries or the jails. It is
not the parole board that did that. We are faced with the
problem that comes before us, and there is no question
about it. I have been with practically all of the panel
members and regardless of what they say, we would lean
over backwards to help them, but we are not doing such a
good job. When I say that, I mean that for every one of us,
right across Canada. I would also say that we are doing
our very best. But we need to follow it through, too.

My statistics point out something else which is very
alarming. We have paroled them, but they violate and
come back. What is wrong? We parole them a second time
and they come right back. I am going to tell you that pretty
soon, when they come up before us the third time, we are
not doing them any favour. We do not know what to do.
Where do we go from there? The moment we deny them
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parole, there is said to be discrimination, and that is the
furthest thing from my mind. We would never want to be
tagged with discrimination, because we would like to help.
But when we are talking about that problem, it is a prob-
lem right across Canada, so let us get the facts straight. We
can only deal with one part of it. We did not put them in.

The Chairman: Have you any idea as to why it is that they
violate the parole? Is it lack of supervision? Is it improper
supervision? Can you comment on that, or have you any
ideas that would help us?

Mr. Maccagno: There are lots of ideas. We have been
working on this problem for so many years. There are so
many books written and so many studies made. I suppose
if we ever got hold of one that would give us the answer,
we would use it. We will have to go on to many areas here.
Supervision is one. There may be more. One important
part, to my thinking, is job opportunity. When the men are
out there doing nothing and there is no revenue coming in
and they have a family to support, that is a problem. The
employment is mainly seasonal. That type of employment
at one time was all right, but it is not there any more. The
seasonal employment was a wonderful thing, as they could
go trapping and make a little money and come back to the
family. They could do a little bush work and come back
again. Then they could do a little fishing and come back. It
was all seasonal.

I cannot talk much of British Columbia, but in the area
of Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba the trapping is
gone, there is no more living to be made there. The com-
mercial fishing is just about shot, there is nothing there.
These are the areas in which those people like to work. I
can only expound on the things that you have already
heard me talk about. There are many areas in the north in
which they could be employed. If you want me to make a
speech I can go ahead with it. As far as I am concerned, I
am always looking forward to a program under which we
can place these people doing useful work, in the areas that
are home to them, and in the type of work that they like.
When you come to the type of work, you get into forestry,
into fishing, into the stocking of lakes, and so on and so
forth. They can do a wonderful job. But we talk about
those things and we never do them.

Senator Hastings: Would native parole officers help, or
having a native on the parole board?

Mr. Maccagno: Yes and no. In certain areas, we find that
they have done well for a while. Then I do not know what
happens, they seem to fail and say, “You are a white man”.
There you are. We have tried them. We have some good
officers and we are very proud of them, but if asked
whether it has proved completely successful, I would have
to hesitate in answering positively.

Senator Hastings: Would you care to comment on the
suggestion by the warden of Fort Saskatchewan that a
native institution be established, controlling its own
affairs?

Mr. Maccagno: I spent almost half a day with him, as I
wanted to know exactly what he meant because of a fear I
had. He explained that a number of the natives entering
Fort Saskatchewan Jail find some of the living conditions
there—such as running water, central heating, and so on—

are better than they had at home, and my fear was that he
was suggesting construction of some kind of ‘“‘shack out-
fit” for the natives—which would be terrible. He assured
me that this was not what he had in mind at all. He spoke
about many of the things I had often advocated—finding
employment in the areas of forestry, reforestation, oil
exploration, fishing, et cetera.

For instance, practically all our lakes and rivers could
do with re-stocking, and the natives would be really good
at this type of program. This is the type of plan that he is
advocating, and I have to agree in this respect. In the area
of any proposed segregation, and a special institution for
natives only, such a plan would need careful study. After
all, they still will have to live in our society.

The Chairman: If I may point out, one of the reasons Mr.
Maccagno is here is that the suggestion arose that he
would have some figures to give us on how much time was
spent on these different things. I believe Senator Hastings
was asking that question.

Senator Hastings: Yes. We understood, Mr. Maccagno,
that you kept excellent records with regard to the time the
inmate is before you. Could you give us some idea, on
average, of how much time the man is actually before the
board?

Mr. Maccagno: Yes. When I go on a panel I start keeping
track of the time from the moment the inmate comes in.
Just using an example to break it down for you, when we
were at Drumbheller an inmate came in at 2.10. We dis-
cussed his case until 2.20 with the classification and parole
officer. We discussed the case between us.

Senator Hastings: Without the inmate being before you,
you mean.

Mr. Maccagno: Yes. Then we called the inmate in before
us at 2.20 and he was with us for 15 minutes. That is a total
of 25 minutes. Happily, he got a parole so he was very
satisfied.

Sometimes we have gone as high as an hour. It all
depends on the particular case. On average it seems to go
about 20 or 25 minutes, and that pretty well covers the
matter.

We had an interesting case the other day. The inmate
stated that we had seen him two years before but had not
been prepared to listen to him and gave him the brush-off.
As it happened, I had been one of the panel on the previ-
ous occasion two years before and I was able to say, ‘“Well,
I don’t know. I was there.”—and he suddenly realized that
I was. I said, “You came in at 9.45.” He said, ‘“‘yes.” I said,
“You went out at 10.40. That is hardly a brush-off.” So
these figures have come in very handy at times.

Senator Hastings: There is one complaint that is made
quite often which I would like to put to you simply to have
your answer on record. The complaint is that you make a
decision before you ever arrive at the institution.

Mr. Maccagno: That is absolutely untrue. It becomes kind
of disgusting even to think of that. Really, I am amazed,
because sometimes, as Mr. Stevenson just told you—and I
was with him on that particular case—we just struggle
with a decision because there are so many factors that are
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positive and so many that are negative. In that particular
case we wanted to use all the positive factors as well as the
negative factors. So we even called the inmate in and our
words to him were, “Look, you are sweating it out out
there and we are sweating it out in here. Let us join
together and see what we can do.” Fortunately, we were
able to get him out.

Senator Hastings: I concur with your answer. I simply
wanted that on record. Would you care to comment on that
yourself, Mr. Stevenson?

Mr. Stevenson: In no way do we make decisions before-
hand. We may, from looking at a file, have a feeling that an
inmate is an easy case and is going to make it, or that it is
going to be a deferral or a denial, but things can change
once the hearing starts. If the inmate presents himself well
and gets a lot of support we may very well feel, “Well, let
us give him a chance.”

Senator Buckwold: Mr. Street, would the Parole Board
have any objection to, say, two senators from this commit-
tee some time sitting in on a hearing of the Parole Board
for a day?

Mr. Street: No. We would not have any objection. On the
contrary, we would be very glad.

Senator Buckwold: It would simply be for the sake of
observing the process. I assume no offence would be taken
by the applicants?

Mr. Maccagno: Well, it is the inmate’s day. We would have
to ask him if he had any objection, and if he did, then, of
course, it is his day.

Senator Buckwold: I understand that. It occurred to me
that it might be useful if one or two senators could be
present. I was not thinking in terms of the whole commit-
tee. I was thinking of only one or two senators at one or
two of the hearings, spending a morning listening to three
or four of the applications in order to find out what the
process is and to get the feel of it.

Mr. Street: I think that could be arranged quite easily,
senator. Our policy would be, as Mr. Maccagno has said,
that the inmate would have to make the decision. If he
objected, then it would be out. I think an arrangement
could be made at Kingston, which is the closest place,
although sometimes we do have hearings in Ottawa.

The Chairman: Perhaps we could find out later which
senators would like to attend such hearings. We will be
meeting with Mr. Street fairly regularly, so we can work
out arrangements through him as a liaison. Obviously, as
Mr. Maccagno has pointed out, the prisoner would have to
agree, otherwise he might feel that his position had been
prejudiced in some way.

Senator Thompson: Mr. Street, you people seem to be
researchers, public relations officers, case workers and I
do not know what else. But in respect of statistics, what
are the facilities for research? Could a list of the research
that has been done be made available to us? I realize that
whatever research is done is probably done by universities
and other institutions, but no doubt it is promoted by you.
We would find it quite helpful to have such a list of all the

statistics that you are working on. What I am particularly
interested in is the field workers. I am sure that in their
kind of supervision they are keeping some kind of
statistics.

Mr. Maccagno: I must point out that we are not in the
business of keeping statistics. As I mentioned before, I am
a relatively new member of the Board. My family happens
to be still out in Alberta so that I am alone here in Ottawa.
Because of that I like to do the type of thing that I love
doing. Some people like to play golf. After my work is
done I love dabbling in statistics, because I like to find out
for myself where I am going and what I am doing. I like to
know with which panel I work the best, and so on and so
forth. These are just personal statistics, therefore.

Senator Thompson: I realize that, sir, and I was wonder-
ing, generalizing from that, if Mr. Street could tell us if this
was done on a general basis or if it was just one man’s
personal observations.

Mr. Street: Mr. Maccagno’s statistics are his own personal
statistics, as he has just explained, but we do have other
statistics which you are welcome to at any time. There are
certain research projects which have been done in the
department on our behalf, and you are certainly welcome
to them.

Senator Thompson: We would appreciate seeing those,
and perhaps any statistics that you might have showing
projections for your research work.

Mr. Street: We have some detailed statistics that we pub-
lish. It usually takes about a year to get them out. They are
very detailed statistices, and I think we have given them to
you. They deal with paroles from different institutions and
there are about 50 different tables in that one book. Of
course, we will give you anything you want, plus the pro-
jects that have been done.

Senator Thompson: Do you have a research director and
do you have a budget for him?

Mr. Street: No, we do not. We have a statistician, but I do
not know what her grade is. In fact, she is not really a
statistician or a research person; she looks after our fig-
ures. But then there is somebody in the deputy’s office in
the department who is concerned with that data and who
is supposed to gibe us more sophisticated and more
refined statistics.

Senator Thompson: Do you have a research budget?

Mr. Street: No, but the department does. We have access
to the research projects in the department. What I need at
the moment is some expert in research to read and analyse
all the research we have just now. He could explain to us
what it is all about. Some of the books are very thick, but I
dare say that in ten minutes a good researcher could tell
you and me what we want to know.

Senator Thompson: Do you see it as being a help to you if
you had a research person who could translate this
research that is piling up?

Mr. Street: I certainly do.

Senator Thompson: And would you prefer to have this
within your department, or simply to have a budget so that
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you could farm it out to people who would do it for you, in
universities and places like that?

Mr. Street: Well, we have access to having it farmed out,
but we could very well use a research man in our own
organization. What we need in the whole department is
somebody to analyse the research that has already been
done instead of going out and doing still more research.
We would like to have somebody who could analyse, index
and classify the research already done. We are spending
more and more money to get more and more research
when what we need is to have an analysis of what we
already have.

Senator Hastings: I notice there has been an appreciable
decrease in reserved decisions in December. Is there any
particular reason for that?

Mr. Street: No, there is not.

Senator Hastings: Just one other question, Mr. Chairman.
Why is the meeting tomorrow in which we are going to
deal with decision-making to be held in camera?

The Chairman: The reason is that Mr. Miller is going to
discuss with us actual cases. He will be giving us the
names, the background and all the information connected
with a particular case. While it is true that he need not
reveal the name, by the time he has given us all the
information available, the person concerned would be
readily identifiable. I think this will give us a better idea of
how the board works than anything else. He also has
suggested that when he gives you all the information the
committee can then sit as a board and reach a conclusion
on a particular case and then we will see whether our
conclusion is the same as that reached by the board. I
think this will indicate to you that it will probably be much
more useful if we do that in a cozy corner here than if we
were to do it on the front lawn, and I am not merely
referring to weather conditions.

Senator Hastings: I have just one further brief question
for Mr. Street. It concerns “lifers,” and the mandatory
ten-year term before you can consider granting them
parole. Do you not agree that some ‘lifers” would be
eligible for parole, and are they not being unduly punished
as a result of this provision?

The Chairman: That is a leading question.

Mr. Street: Before that ten-year term came in we used to
parole people in exceptionally deserving cases after six or
seven years. At that time we had power to do it, but now

we do not. The Ouimet Committee Report recommended
this also.

Senator Hastings: Have you ever paroled a capital offend-
er under the provisions of the parole by exception?

Mr. Street: Yes. We cannot do that now but we used to
parole them before ten years, sometimes up to six or seven
years. However, this was before the law was changed.

Senator Hastings: Would this be, let us say, as low as three
and one-half years?

Mr. Street: Did we ever go as low as three and one-half
years?

Mr. Miller: Before the days of the Parole board, people
were paroled as low as three and one-half years. I was
active in a case under this provision; and in the data which
was given to the parliamentary committee on capital pun-
ishment there was a list of around 70 cases of people who
received sentences of ten years, and I think the lowest
term of parole which was granted was about three and
one-half years. There were ten cases in the group under
ten years. This, however, is before the period of the Parole
Board.

Senator Hastings: Do you mean before 1959?
Mr. Street: Yes. We used to do this.

Mr. Miller: For those prisoners who were on a seven-year
term, there may have been some since 1959 as low as three
and one-half years.

Senator Hastings: I am acquainted with one particular
individual at three and one-half years who is doing excep-
tionally well. I was wondering how many would go that
low. In some cases, it is an indication they are quite ready
for parole in three and one-half years.

The Chairman: It is now after 12:30. Are you satisfied
with the information we have obtained from Mr. Street
and his colleagues at the moment?

Senator Hastings: Yes, subject to recall.
The Chairman: Yes, he will be available if we need him.

I thank Mr. Street and the members of his staff who are
present for their help this morning and on previous occa-
sions, as well as during the time which has passed between
our meetings. Thank you very much indeed.

The committee adjourned.
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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate,
February 22, 1972:

With leave of the Senate.

The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Croll:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Con-
stitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and report upon all
aspects of the parole system in Canada;

That the said Committee have power to engage the services of
such counsel, staff and technical advisers as may be necessary for
the purpose of the said examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so authorized by
the Committee, may adjourn from place to place inside or
outside Canada for the purpose of carrying out the said examina-
tion; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on the
subject in the preceding session be referred to the Committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

Robert Fortier
Clerk of the Senate
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Minutes of Proceedings

Wednesday, March 8, 1972.
4)

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at
10:00 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Prowse (Chairman), Argue,
Buckwold, Fergusson, Fournier, Goldenberg, Hastings and Hayden.

(8)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Par-
liamentary Counsel; Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director; Mr.
Patrick Doherty and Mr. William Earl Bailey, Special Research
Assistants.

The Committee proceeded to the examination of the parole
system in Canada.

The following witnessess, representing the Canadian Penitentiary
Service, Department of the Solicitor General, were heard in explana-
tion of the Committee’s examination:

Mzr. P. A. Faguy, Commissioner;

Mr. J. W. Braithwaite, Associate Deputy Commissioner.

The following were also present but were not heard:
Mr. H. F. Smith, Director, Treatment and Training;
Mr. J. R. G. Surprenant, Chief, Secretariat.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Hastings it was Resolved
to include the Brief presented by Mr. Faguy and the Statistics
submitted by the Canadian Penitentiary Service in this day’s pro-
ceedings. They are printed as appendices under the following titles:

Appendix “A”
“A presentation to the Standing Senate Committee on Legal
and Constitutional Affairs”

Appendix “B”
“Temporary Absences”

Appendix “C”
“Report on Inmates Serving Life, Indefinite Sentences or
Classified as Dangerous Sexual Offenders™

Appendix “D”
“Institutions and Inmate Population”

Appendix “E”
“Indians and the Canadian Penitentiary Service”

Appendix “F”
‘““Number of Psychiatrists Now Working in Canadian
Penitentiary Service”

Appendix “G”
“Average Maintenance Cost per Inmate by Security Type,
Based on Actual Expenditures”

At 12.35 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the

Chairman.

ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard
Clerk of the Committee



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and

Constitutional Affairs

Evidence

Ottawa, Wednesday, March 8, 1972

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10:00 a.m. to examine the parole system in
Canada.

Senator J. Harper Prowse (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we have with us Mr. P. A,
Faguy, Commissioner, Canadian Penitentiary Service, and sitting
beside Mr. Faguy is Mr. J. W. Braithwaite, Associate Deputy
Commissioner. I assume the brief has been read.

Senator Hastings: I move that the brief be printed as part of the
proceedings.

The Chairman: Is that agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

For text of brief, see Appendix “A”’.

The Chairman: Do you wish to make an additional statement?

Mr. P. A. Faguy, Commissioner, Canadian Penitentiary Service:
No, I have no additional statement, Mr. Chairman, to those
contained in the brief.

The Chairman: Then we can begin the questioning, Senator
Hastings.

Senator Hastings: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On behalf of the
committee I would like to welcome Mr. Faguy to our deliberations.
My first question, naturally, Mr. Faguy, will deal with temporary
absence.

Mr. Faguy: I wonder why?

Senator Hastings: May I make an observation before asking my
question? I believe the temporary absence program to be one of the
more enlightened progressive procedures undertaken by your service
in a long time. I can think of nothing that makes a better contri-
bution to the rehabilitation process of a man than the procedure of
temporary absence, which maintains his contact with his family and
society and makes incarceration bearable. I think it is important
that we understand that, as we adopt these enlightened reforms in

penal treatment, a risk is always involved. So long as we adopt
these risks, we must be prepared to accept failure, in the know-
ledge of the overall success of your program. When we confer the
authority on your officials to assume these risks we, in society,
must be prepared to accept the failure, in the knowledge and under-
standing that so long as man is judging man failures will occur. So I
personally am a supporter of you and your service in respect to the
granting of temporary absence.

It is stated at page 7 of the brief that in 1969, 6,278 passes were
granted. Would these range from a three-hour to a 15-day pass?

Mr. Faguy: That is right. These absences vary in time allowed
outside the penitentiary. The average is approximately two to three
days, but it can be as long as 15 days, which we have the authority
to grant under the Penitentiary Act.

Senator Hastings: Do the figures include escorted and unescorted
passes?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. Some are with escort, but the majority of the
temporary absences shown here are without escort.

Senator Hastings: It is further stated that the failure rate is less
than 1 per cent.

Mr. Faguy: That is right. Let me put it this way, senator: the
success rate is 99 per cent.

Senator Hastings: Would you care to tell me, of the 300 failures
how many committed indictable offences while on temporary
absence?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, I have some information in this respect. Does
your question relate to inmates serving life sentences?

Senator Hastings: No, inmates in general. No doubt, someone
else will discuss those serving life.

Mr. Faguy: From September to December, 1971, during which
period there were 12,401 temporary absences granted, the failure to
return was less than 1 per cent. I have the figures broken down by
region, if you so wish. In fact, I have a mass of statistics on
temporary absences in this document, which I can leave with the
committee for record purposes. I believe it would serve very useful
and practical purposes if you wish to analyze the returns.
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In any event, they represent rates from 1.2 per cent, down to
0.73 per cent, 0.64 per cent or 0.46 per cent, for instance, of failure
to return in November.

The number of known crimes committed while on temporary
absence for the period September to December 1971, which is a
heavy period as you know, was 15. They are detailed by regions in
this document. They are robbery, forgery, break and enter, dis-
charging a dangerous weapon, drunkenness, impaired driving and
robbery with violence. We can provide the number and the regions
where these incidents occurred. This information is available in the
document we have placed on record. It is only 15 out of 12,401
who were allowed out.

Senator Hastings: It is interesting to note that your failure rate
of 1 per cent runs approximately the same, as any bank manager
will tell you, as that of those among the general public who will not
keep their word, which is also approximately 1 per cent. So the
people you are dealing with are not very different from the general
public, are they?

Mr. Faguy: That is right, yet people do expect them to be
different. They expect the rate to be much worse, yet our ex-
perience shows that it has been continually less than one per cent.
‘We consider this to be a resounding success, because we are sending
these people out and asking them to be responsible to take the
decision to come back in, which they do.

Senator Hastings: We can be human, but we expect them to be
saints.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, they are also human, let us face it.

Senator Hastings: I was at Millhaven institute last week and was
surprised to see that men were being taken from the institution in
prison attire on temporary absence downtown in front of the
public, to visit the doctor and so on. I questioned the procedure and
was told that they go to court dressed in civilian suits, but you insist
on their being dressed in prison attire to be paraded before the
public. Is this not a rather strange procedure?

Mr. Faguy: Mr. Chairman, I will also express surprise. However,
what do you term prison attire? As you know, inmates are now
allowed to use different clothing, with no number. I wonder what
exactly you mean by prison attire?

Senator Hastings: I mean that attire which easily distinguishes
them to the public as inmates. It is the grey uniform they wear.

Mr. Faguy: I would like to check that, because I am surprised
that they are sent out of prison in prison attire, as you call it.

Senator Hastings: I was told that the only time they are given
civilian clothing is to appear in court. I cannot imagine why it is
more important to appear in court in civilian dress than it is in a
doctor’s office or a hospital. Can we be assured that this will be
changed?

Mr. Faguy: I can assure you that instructions will be given to
change.

Senator Fergusson: I wonder how long you will continue the
severe cut-backs made recently concerning those who are allowed
temporary absence? I know of such cases, for instance, as that of a
woman who was working and doing very well. When the new
regulations came into effect recently, she was cut back. I know of
some others who were doing voluntary service in the community.
They were also cut back and not allowed to continue. This is very
discouraging for such people. I realize your position, but I have
considerable sympathy for those who are terribly disappointed and
who could become discouraged. Do you expect to continue this
policy?

Mr. Faguy: I would not venture at this moment to state a
specific period of time, because of the current well-known incident
and the effect on public reaction. After very serious consideration,
we decided to apply these new guidelines and restrictions to new
inmates.

The Chairman: What are they? Could you set them out for the
record?

Mr. Faguy: We say that temporary leave without escort will not
be considered until at least six months of sentence has been served,
except in cases of those serving life sentences, such as habitual
criminals, those classified as dangerous sexual offenders, and people
known by police to have connections with organized crime. Three
years of sentence must be served before they are eligible for tem-
porary leave with escort.

We are saying that all inmates must have served a minimum of
six months in a federal penitentiary. This allows sufficient time for
us to get to know the inmate, to appraise and evaluate him, and to
discuss with him his individual problems and needs. We think that
six months is necessary for us to know him well enough to decide
whether or not we should allow him temporary leave.

In the other cases we have said three years. We could have said
five or 10. Other correctional services have said 10. In Europe,
Australia and other places they consider five years as a minimum.
We have set a period of three years for those serving a life sentence,
who are considered habitual criminals or sexual offenders, or who
have a known connection with organized crime. These are serious
problems deserving very careful attention, and should be studied
over a substantial period of time. We consider three years to be the
minimum period of time.

I realize that this creates some problems. We have cases where
the people in the field, such as the John Howard Society and the
Elizabeth Fry Society, have said to me, “Mr. Faguy, we understand,
but we would like Miss So-and-so or Mrs. So-and-so to be allowed to
go.” We feel, however, that we should stick to these guidelines at
least for the time being. We have asked our people to keep track of
these cases. I shall be receiving periodical reports, and eventually I
may be able to issue different guidelines.

The Chairman: Senator Buckwold, did you wish to ask a
question?
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Senator Buckwold: I wish to direct several questions to the
Commissioner. Mr. Faguy, it seems that in the first part of your
remarks—

The Chairman: Are we still on the subject of temporary
absence?

Senator Buckwold: No.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Faguy, I wish to place on record the
temporary absence which you granted a lifer from Drumbheller,
Alberta, who attended the National Conference on Law. He went
unescorted to Ottawa, attended the conference, and returned to
Drumheller without incident. The public should be aware of the
cases where you are succeeding and making a real contribution to
the rehabilitation of lifers.

Mr. Faguy: I can assure you that this was one real success case
where the man participated in the conference at a high level and did
very well. We were complimented for it, and I appreciated that.
There are many lifers who participate in programs very successfully.

Senator Buckwold: Speaking personally and for many of my
colleagues, I hope that the opinions expressed by Senator Hastings
will be carefully considered. One very bad incident should not be
allowed to prejudice seriously a very enlightened program.

We are looking at the parole system. We are not studying the
prison system, although at times it is difficult to differentiate
between them. The most significant point that you have made is
that you feel there should be a unified correctional policy and
programs, which is understandable, but that there should be ad-
ministrative union between the Canadian Penitentiary Service and
the National Parole Service; that they should, in fact, operate under
one director rather than under two, with one quasi-judicial
authority.

That is a key point in your submission. Some of us need to be
convinced that it would be wise to place the whole thing within the
prison system. For example, would the inmate be as responsive to a
parole officer who was part of the prison system as to one who was
completely separate? Would there be independence of thought and
action? We would want to know exactly how this would work.

You have said that there would be increased potential towards
more effective use of staff and improved career planning, Does that
mean that a fellow might be a probation officer, move into the
position of assessment officer, and then perhaps move back? If this
happens, how can he escape the normal attitudes which exist among
people connected with police services, despite the fact the person
concerned might wish to be objective? Could you develop that
aspect in more detail? I should like to know why we have the
present system. Although you have given us examples of an in-
tegrated system, I gather from what you have said that most parole
boards operate independently. Could we have a fairly detailed
assessment of the whole proposition?

Mr. Faguy: Having visited the Scandinavian countries, Holland,
some parts of the United States, and the provinces, to my knowl-

edge in most area there is a combined, unified service. I do not
know what the percentage would be throughout the world.

I should like, however, to comment on the statement expressed
to the effect that the parole service was becoming part of the
system. I would react very strongly against that kind of statement. I
feel there should be within a unified correctional system two main
divisions, namely, the penitentiary service and the parole service
under the same authority and providing the same services, et cetera.
In this way we could have a uniform co-ordinating plan and policy
throughout, and, as you mentioned, better career planning as far as
our employees are concerned.

I feel it would be extremely beneficial to have interchange
between the parole service staff and the penitentiaries staff in that
they would learn what it is like on the other side and what is
needed. In my opinion, it would be extremely useful for parole
officers to work within the penitentiaries for a period of time so
that they could better appreciate the problems of the inmates, how
the inmates feel, what the needs of the inmates are, et cetera. The
main concern all the way through, of course, is the inmate, and his
needs have to be the basic criterion for our programs. We are not
there to create programs for our purposes; it is the needs of the
inmate that direct our programs.

By having two main advisers at national headquarters, one deal-
ing with the penitentiary aspect and the other with the parole
aspect, we could retain the independence of thought and yet have a
unified service. I hope another result of this would be that we would
have more and more parole officers becoming directors of institu-
tions, thereby bringing their knowledge of the outside as well as
their knowledge of the needs of the inmates as a result of their
period of penitentiary service to the problems of the penitentiaries,
and possibly becoming correctional administrators, as is happening
now with some of our people. I would think that by the interchange
of personnel in this way we could avoid the possibility of the
penitentiary staff developing a hard attitude towards life within the
penitentiary walls.

To summarize then, you would have a continuing appraisal of
inmate needs, a better career plan; a unified direction, a unified
policy, one tying into the other; you would have the parole officers
and penitentiary people working closely, hopefully from the time of
entry into the penitentiary through to release on parole. In other
words, we would have a joint planning, joint study and joint
decision-making process with respect to the inmates.

Senator Buckwold: Do you really believe that system will work?
Do you really feel that a man who is hired basically as a parole
officer could become an efficient member of the penitentiary staff?
I am not suggesting that the training would necessarily have to be all
that different, but the personality of the individual, I should think,
becomes a factor in the ability to handle two jobs which are
integrated but which have different approaches. Personally, I would
want to be convinced that this would work. What would the
reaction of the prisoner be in this regard? Do you think that he
would co-operate better or be more at ease with someone who may
have previously been part of the system but who is now a parole
officer?
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Mr. Faguy: Some members of our staff at the present time have
been in services other than the Penitentiary Service. Some of the
directors just nominated, in fact, are sociologists and criminologists.
We have also qualified for directorships at least one member of the
Parole Service, and I think he will be a most suitable person to
become a director. In fact, we hope to have a mix of professional
and hatd core experienced people working together so that our study
of the inmate is complete as well as our understanding of the
inmate, and our decision with respect to the inmate is a logical one,
keeping in mind our knowledge of the inside as well as the outside.
The best correctional administrator would be an individual with
professional qualifications and background who also happens to be a
good administrator by temperament. This would be the ideal com-
bination.

Senator Hastings: And who has done time.
Mr. Faguy: We have not quite reached that stage yet, senators.

Mr. J. W. Braithwaite, Associate Deputy Commissioner, Cana-
dian Penitentiary Service: Most of them feel they have done time.

Senator Buckwold: One last question; and I think this should be
explored a little further. In my experience the so-called senior police
administrator—one who has had some experience in a small city as
chairman of a board, police commissioner, or this type of thing—
develops, no matter how objectively the individual tries to be, a
police mentality, and even people who you might say are en
lightened, when you get them down to the thinking of the chief of
police or something like that, the police mentality always seems to
come through. My question is: Will you be able to prevent a parole
officer from developing the police mentality?

Mr. Faguy: Your point is an excellent one, senator, and we
would hope a unified service would prevent a penitentiary officer
always being a penitentiary officer, and this also applies to the
parole officer who is only—and I do not mean this facetiously—a
parole officer. In other words, we hope they become both and are
knowledgeable with respect to both services. If this were the case we
would have—I was going to say the complete man, but I do not
suppose there is such an individual—but you would have, as far as I
am concerned, an individual who knows both sides and is capable of
moving back and forth. I feel this would be of extreme value in
preventing what you are referring to, and this happens now with our
own people inside the institutions whether we like it or not.

The Chairman: Senator Hastings, do you have a question?

Senator Hastings: Mr. Faguy, you spoke earlier of the needs of
the inmates. One of the major complaints of the inmates in this
respect is that his only exposure to the Parole Service is the week he
arrives. In other words, his first exposure to the Parole Service, apart
from a short briefing with other inmates, is a short interview before
he goes before the Parole Board for his hearing. Because of this it is
quite conceivable and, in fact, quite common that his activities
within the institution have been completely misdirected. Certainly,
it seems necessary, in dealing with the whole man, that there be
input through the whole period from the court to the Parole Board
hearing. I gather that is your objective.

Mr. Faguy: Yes.

Senator Hastings: This was recommended in 1967, I believe; it
seems to be moving rather slowly.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, and we hope we will finally make it happen. We
get advice from everyone in Canada with respect to correctional
administration, but the fact is that we want a better system and we
hope to achieve this.

Senator Hastings: Perhaps we will assist you materially in that
respect.

Senator Goldenberg: Mr. Faguy, would you tell us the criterion
for the granting of temporary absences? Could you give us an
example or examples of what you call humanitarian reasons and
rehabilitative reasons?

Mr. Faguy: A directive was sent to the various institutions
clearly defining the conditions under which an inmate can be
released. These reasons are outlined in the report which we will
make available to the committee. There are such reasons as: visiting
a wife, family, or friends; leaves for university education—by the
way, approximately 50 per cent of our extended temporary
absences are either for work or educational purposes; specialized
programs such as Alcoholics Anonymous meetings; the Native
Brotherhood for the Indians; religious services—we do have some of
those activities—work release; job seeking. We have some also for
sports activities, where they participate themselves, or sometimes
for spectators, like most Canadians are. Other reasons are family and
marriages—as we know—family anniversaries, death in the family,
other special family occasions; medical attention or psychiatric
treatment. These are the type of reasons we have. In the report you
will find the number given for each month, September to December
1975

Senator Goldenberg: Would there be additional reasons, where
the release is for more than three days? That is not within the
discretion of the warden, I understand.

Mr. Faguy: No. For more than three days it must come through
Ottawa. Then we look for, for instance, work release programs. We
know that they need to be out for more than three days. We arrange
a grant for these people of 15 days at a time, to go out and work in
the community.

The Chairman: This is repeatable?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, it is. We repeat these 15-day temporary absences
from time to time, as we call them, “back to back,” and this policy,
I think, is to be reviewed.

Senator Hastings: Can they report by postcard?

Mr. Faguy: No. Usually in the community we know where they
are, what they are doing, and we keep an eye on them. We know
very well where they are going. Even though they are without an
escort, we know what is going on, and employers are pretty quick to
advise us if any problem arises.
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Mr. Braithwaite would like to add something to that.

Mr. Braithwaite: Honourable senators, I thought it might be
helpful to you to consider a typical day in relation to temporary
absences. For example, the day we chose was November 30, 1971.
On that day, we had a total of 283 men in the community on
temporary absence. Of that number, 146 were employed; 69 were
going to a university or a community college; and 68 would be in
these other categories of humanitarian reasons, medical reasons, a
crisis in the family, and so forth. That is just by way of bringing
these global figures down to a sort of daily situation.

Senator Goldenberg: The larger number were employed?
Mr. Braithwaite: Yes, 146 of 283.

Senator Buckwold: When you say “employed,” does that mean
that the man had a job, that this man might be out for six months
or a year in that way, or longer?

Mr. Braithwaite: No, that does not follow. What we attempt to
do, in co-operation with the Parole Service, is to use this temporary
absence, perhaps, for short-term employment, for a situation where
a job opportunity arises and we want to take advantage of it.
Perhaps a young fellow has been taking motor mechanic’s training
and there is a job opportunity which comes up in relation to a
garage in a nearby community and the employer is willing to take
this man on. In that case, we will put the man on temporary
absence, consult with the Parole Service, and attempt to build on to
the temporary absence, then, a day parole situation and hopefully,
eventually, full parole. In other words, this is an example of the sort
of continual operation of the correctional process. We are able to
use the temporary absence to take immediate advantage of an
opportunity, an opportunity that may not exist two weeks from
now; and then, with our colleagues in parole, we attempt to convert
that to a day parole situation and hopefully, eventually, full parole.

Senator Buckwold: How long would it last for that type of
employment—a week, two weeks?

Mzr. Braithwaite: It varies.

The Chairman: This type of situation would be conditional on
the Parole Service, and then they take their action on it?

Mr. Braithwaite: In part, but not entirely, because there are
other intervening circumstances too. For example, using this
hypothetical situation, it could be that the employment was only of
a short-term nature, maybe to provide summer relief for a full-time
mechanic, or something of that nature.

The Chairman: I see.
Senator Hastings: You do not utilize it towards the final
sentence? If a job opportunity shows up in his last month, you will

get him out? He will not wait for the completion of the sentence?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is right.

Senator Fergusson: Mr. Chairman, I am sorry that when I started
questioning I had not expected you to call on me. I want to go on
record as saying that I am entirely in accord with the sentiments
expressed by Senator Hastings and Senator Buckwold, in supporting
the policy of granting the leave or temporary absence. I want to be
on record that some of the committee—I do not know how many of
the committee, but certainly I do—feel very strongly on this, and I
support it.

There is one other thing I would like to ask. Mr. Faguy
mentioned in his brief the P.S. Ross and Partners’ Report of 1967. I
remember very well in 1967 that I tried every way that I knew to
get hold of that report, and was not able to get it. I would like to
know if it is a public document.

Mr. Faguy: I really do not know. I do not think it is now a
public document. I could check and see.

Senator Fergusson: Is it available to people? I do not mean
that you publish it and send it around. I know I was refused it, and
that is why I ask. You referred to it today, and I thought that
perhaps when you were referring to it you thought that we had read
it-which we had not done.

The Chairman: Is it possible to make a copy of that document
available to the committee?

Mr. Faguy: Mr. Chairman, may I be allowed to check on this
and see what we can do? I think it has been considered an internal
document so far, but let me check and see.

Senator Fergusson: Very well. I know that I had really worked
hard to get a copy of it at one time.

The Chairman: At this point, I wonder if I may put a few
questions on the integration of the two services. I would like some
points clarified. I understand that the majority of your staff in
penitentiaries are concerned with custodial duties.

Mr. Faguy: Mr. Chairman, that is not so any longer. It is true
that we are concerned with security, because by law this is one of
our major responsibilities—to keep people within the institution. We
do the best we can and I think we do pretty well, overall. Within the
institution, we are definitely getting away from the strong security
aspects and getting down to better programs, and to individual
needs of the inmates. Also, we are getting to what we call dynamic
security, as opposed to static security. In other words, it means
alertness of the correctional staff-as you know, they do not carry
guns any more; they talk with the inmates and relate with the
inmates; they participate in some of their activities. We are defi-
nitely getting away from the strong static security type of environ-
ment that it used to be, with its clear demarcation between inmates
and staff. Now we encourage just the opposite: we want the staff and
the inmates to relate to one another, to talk to one another. The
staff and the inmates participate together. We have, as you know,
the inmate committees, making recommendations as to what
changes should be made. We have accepted many recommendations
which have been proposed since the creation of the inmate
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committees. So we have gone away from the strict security aspect of
the penitentiary.

The Chairman: In other words, you do not think of your prison
staff as guards. That is an obsolete term?

Mr. Faguy: That is right. We do not call them guards, although
let us admit that some of them are just that. Those people in the
tower, for instance, are guards, to all intents and purposes; that is all
they do. The majority are what we call correctional officers, and we
want them to behave as such, as correctional officers and not as
security guards. Over and above that, we have now created a new
classification, called the living unit officers. These officers are
responsible for a new concept which is being tested now in six
institutions. People are being trained for it. They are going to be
participating day in and day out in these activities, such as work
activities, recreation activities, group discussions, group therapy and
individual counselling. The correctional officers themselves, known
as living unit officers, will be directly and personally involved in
what I would call the *““treatment™ of the inmates, by participating
in the counselling, and in the program, under the supervision of a
professional person, the classification officer.

The Chairman: Something in the same way as a nurse’s aid
operates in a hospital?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, in a sense. It is someone who is not a profes-
sional, but who has been given some basic training, who has some
basic knowledge and because of his experience, attitude and
aptitude is able to deal with that situation. I think the majority of
our staff can get involved and do this very well.

Senator Fergusson: Well, Mr. Faguy, I think that this is an
excellent idea. Is that policy in effect in the Prison for Women?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. We have recognized the Prison for Women as a
living unit institution. Only three or four weeks ago we recognized
it. We are now authorizing them to obtain more staff in order to
implement this program in the Prison for Women.

Let me say, however, in so far as the Prison for Women is
concerned, that we have now just over 100 inmates. I am hoping to
reduce that population by releasing inmates on parole and by
granting temporary absences, but, more to the point, we are now
making arrangements—in fact, we have already done so in
Kingston—for the Elizabeth Fry Society to take some of the female
inmates into a house in town, in the community, where they will be
allowed to go to work or go out for educational purposes and so on.
But they will be under the supervision of the Elizabeth Fry Society
outside the walls of the prison. We hope to do the same in Toronto,
Vancouver and all across Canada. Therefore, hopefully, our popula-
tion within the Prison for Women will be reduced quite drastically.

Senator Hastings: With respect to staff, how many employees of
native or Métis ancestry do you have employed in the Prairies?

Mzr. Faguy: In the Prairies I think we have now some 13 correc-
tional officers or guidance officers in our employ. There was a

special program to recruit staff of the Indian community, and out of
33 trainees 13 were assigned to the National Parole Service as
assistant parole officers. Twenty were assigned in the Penitentiary
Service, either as custodial officers or as guidance officers. Of these
20 we still have 11 who are employed, who have passed through all
the courses and training and are now employed by the penitentiary
services.

Senator Hastings: There are no classification officers?
Mr. Faguy: Not yet.
Senator Hastings: Are there any former inmates?

Mr. Braithwaite: There are some who are former inmates, but
not former inmates of a federal penitentiary. Let us say that some
of these are ex-offenders.

The Chairman: You mean that they have been in provincial
institutions but not in federal institutions.

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Do you have any special program at the
moment for the increased recruitment of these people?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. In fact, the problem of the natives in our
institution is one we are concerned with, and over the past few
months we have been taking some specific steps in order to improve
the relationship with the Indian population, and also to improve the
knowledge that is needed to deal with these people. We have, for
instance, at Drumheller what we would call a liaison officer. We
have Mr. Chester Cunningham, who is a member of the native
counselling service of Alberta, established in Drumheller to serve the
Indian and Métis inmates and to counsel and help them, and also to
help us and advise us as to what we should do with these people.

We have just signed a contract with Mr. Earl Allard, an Indian
ex-inmate who used to be with the X-Kalay Foundation. He is well
known to us and well known to institutional people. He will serve
also as a consultant on institutional programs. We also have made
contact with the B.C. Council of Indian Chiefs and the legal
programs officer, and we have arranged a meeting for the end of this
month so as to identify the needs of these people and what types of
programs we should have for them.

So we have taken very specific steps in order to know the
problems we have and how we should tackle them.

Senator Hastings: One specific step I might suggest is for you to
utilize more effectively your Native Brotherhood which you have
within the institutions. They are quite capable individuals and have
ideas with respect to their own difficulties. I think if we commu-
nicated a little more and listened to them, they would probably
have a great deal to contribute to their own success.

Mr. Faguy: As you know, we do use the Native Brotherhood
within the penitentiaries. They exist within the penitentiaries and
we have made use of them. But we feel also that we must get advice
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from the other councils of Indians and Métis outside the walls of the
penitentiaries so that altogether we hope we will have the best
possible programs to meet the needs of these people in particular.

Senator Buckwold: You have commented on the importance of
a predisposition report and a judge’s report. I gather from what you
say that this is not compulsory at the present time. In other words,
there may be some judges who do this, but I gather most do not. In
your opinion, how could that be corrected? Simply by a directive
which would say that it must be done?

Mr. Faguy: First of all, let me say that I could not possibly give a
directive to judges. I would not dare.

Senator Buckwold: I did not mean that you would.

Mr. Faguy: Certainly, I would hope there would be an effort on
the part of all government agencies and people concerned to reach
this point where right from the very beginning there would be a
pre-sentence study and report. Naturally, the judge would use that.
He does now in many cases. Hopefully, also, there would be a report
from the judge indicating the sentence and the reasons for it and
what the judge expects. We do get this sort of thing from time to
time. I have correspondence from judges who write to me on
individual cases saying, “Mr. Faguy, I have condemned this man to
such-and-such a sentence. Here are the facts of the case. These are
the reasons for my judgment. Please take this into consideration in
your treatment of the offender.” Such correspondence is extremely
useful.

Senator Buckwold: What percentage do this?
Mzr. Faguy: No more than 1 per cent.

Senator Buckwold: It seems so fundamental to a layman that
this would be a very important part of the whole judicial or penal
process.

Mr. Faguy: The total correctional program and service has to get
together and get integrated. We have to start even before that.
Perhaps we should do more prevention work than we do now. But
once an offence is committed there should be, hopefully, more
probation. I am not a judge and I would not venture to say that this
would be done, but hopefully there would be more probation.
Then, once we have them into the service, again there should be a
united, unified system that identifies and analyzes the problems of
the offender and determines what his needs are. This would be a
joint plan and a joint decision all the way through, so that when the
offender goes on parole everybody is in agreement as to what his
needs are.

I am hopeful that one day even more than that will be done and
that after the inmate has left the penitentiary, after his sentence is
over and after his parole is over, there will be someone who will
continue to help him. This is where it could count so very much.

I feel my responsibility is relatively small or short in duration in
the total process, because it occurs only when the inmates are
inside. In my opinion, much more should happen before they get to

us and a great deal more should happen after they leave us. On a
long-term basis I think this is extremely important in order to
reduce recidivism and to help these people.

The Chairman: With respect to pre-sentence reports, at present
they are prepared by provincial probation officers, are they not? Is
there any federal provision for pre-sentence reports?

Mr. Braithwaite: To the best of my knowledge, Mr. Chairman,
there is no federal provision for pre-sentence reports. The majority
of them are prepared by probation services or by private agencies
that may be called upon by the court.

There is one program which I think warrants mention, and that
is the co-operation between the Parole Service and the Penitentiary
Service which is mentioned in the brief, which we started in Alberta,
where men who are sentenced are seen by parole officer while being
held in the local detention centre. A report is prepared by the parole
officer and the initial placement of the man in an institution is acted
upon as a result of the parole officer’s report. Here the Parole
Service is immediately involved with the offender, and the Parole
Service is working with us in placing that man in the most
appropriate institution. So when the man arrives at the institution
we have some immediate information available about him, his
family circumstances, his offences and his reaction to his sentence,
This is a tremendous help. As a result of this successful experience
we are now expanding that experiment right across the prairie
provinces and into the maritime provinces.

Senator Hastings: We have had the evidence of the Parole Service
that they request a judge’s report and a presentence report, and we
have heard about these in many cases. But where do they go? Do
they go to the Parole Board file or do they go to the Penitentiary
Service?

Mr. Braithwaite: That report comes to us. But it is not uniform
and, if I recall correctly, the Canadian Committee on Corrections,
when they made their report, otherwise known as the Ouimet
Report, had the concept of a judge’s report as to the reasons for
sentencing a man to a penitentiary. I think we are talking basically
about two kinds of report, one being the report prepared, say, by a
probation officer which supplies to the judge all the circumstances
of a man’s background, and of his offence. Then we are talking
about another report prepared by the judge which says, in effect, “I
sentenced this man to two years in penitentiary for the following
reasons, and I am hoping that this is the kind of program he will
receive while he is within the penitentiary.”” So these are two
separate reports we are talking about. We get many presentence
reports where there is a good probation service and where we have
this experimental service which I referred to, the Parole Service; but
we do not get very many judges’ reports, as the commissioner has
already indicated.

The Chairman: This would call for a written decision on every
penitentiary sentence from the courts and also an extension of the
investigative services to provide presentence reports in all cases. This
would enable you, in your opinion, to do a much more effective job
than you could do otherwise.
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Mr. Faguy: Yes, we would be more knowledgeable of the case.

Senator Buckwold: In listening to the Parole Board represent-
atives speaking, they indicated that there was a shortage of staff in
the penitentiaries. They have their shortages too, and I do not want
to be critical, but they felt that in the classification service, which
does the assessment of all prisoners, the staff personnel available was
very inadequate to numbers. I am not speaking of the quality of the
work but of the numbers available, and in their opinion this fact
affected the efficiency and effectiveness of the parole system itself.
Can you comment on that?

Mr. Faguy: I would certainly agree that for a period of time,
until recently, in fact, we were short of qualified classification
officers. We are not being critical of those who are in the service
because they do a good job. However, we have taken some action.
We have just completed an extensive recruiting program of classi-
fication officers, and in the last two months we have added some 30
classification officers, for a total of 130. I hope to recruit yet
another 13 to add to the staff establishment, and I have had to take
positions from other sources in order to fill that need which is a
very basic, essential need. But at this point in time we are meeting a
new ratio which we announced last year—a few months ago—
whereby in a reception centre we would have one classification
officer for every 40 inmates; in a living unit institution for young
adults and young offenders such as Drumheller, Cowansville,
Matsqui, Warkworth and Springhill and the Prison for Women, one
for every 50; and in the maximum security institutions, one for
every 75. We have met this quota with our recent recruiting program
which has just been completed two weeks ago.

As I said, I have now authorized 13 additional positions because
we have an increase in population right now. This has been an
unexpected increase, so I have authorized the further positions. The
result is that, taken all across the service, we will have a ratio of one
classification officer for every 57 inmates. That, of course, is an
average because you have 40 in some places and I think we need a
very reasonable ratio, so we will be able to give individual attention
to the inmates. ;

The Chairman: What was the ratio?

Mr. Faguy: It was as high as one-to-150, and one-to-200 in some
institutions. It was unbelievable.

Senator Buckwold: What qualifications do you look for in a
classification officer?

Mr. Faguy: A professional social worker, a criminologist—that
type of person.

Senator Buckwold: When you look for him, does he have to have
some other experience? Do you take them out of universities?

Mr. Faguy: Well, some of them come straight from university,
and they get training on the job with our people; but many of them
have experience in other places.

Senator Fergusson: Will there be enough people interested to
keep this going?

Mr. Faguy: We find that to be the case, yes. We were concerned
about that for a while, but I would like to think that because of the
reforms we have made and because of the favourable publicity
among that type of person, the correctional people, they will realize
what we are trying to do; and they are willing to come in and help.

Mr. Braithwaite: I think the other advantages we have, having
brought our ratios up to one-to-57 and having made the presence of
trained classification officers apparent and real, make it possible for
us to attract other professional people because the presence of
professionals tends to attract professionals.

Senator Hastings: But out of this 130 you immediately have to
deduct 35 for the senior classification officers.

Mr. Faguy: In each institution we have allowed only half a
position for the supervisor to deal with inmates because the rest of
the time he is supervising, co-ordinating and talking to the staff. So
the supervisor’s job is not full-time with inmates but only half-time.

Senator Hastings: So that your ratio of one-to-57 immediately
goes out.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, but, as Isaid, we are adding 13 positions, so we
will meet that ratio.

Senator Hastings: Dealing with classification, I have always
thought we classified institutions and not inmates. But on December
7 you declared the Manitoba Penitentiary, Stony Mountain, a
medium-security institution. What happened on the night of
December 7 to the inmates?

Mr. Faguy: Stony Mountain, Manitoba, had been used for
medium-security type of inmate for some time, and then there came
the point in time when I had to announce it officially for everybody
so that they would know the type of inmates we had in there. It
affected the question of staff classification, staff grading, et cetera.
So, we had to make an official announcement, but to all intents and
purposes it had been a medium-security institution for some time.

Senator Hastings: With reference to medium and maximum, we
have been told that there are 2,400 men under maximum security
when only 700 are actually in need of maximum security, so that
we have 1,700 in maximum security who are being denied the
benefits of the programs and of working towards a parole, by virtue
of their being penalized by our keeping them under the restriction
of a maximum-security institution.

I am quoting from Special Report 1, entitled “Design of Federal
Maximum Security Institutions,” at page 10:

We feel that in principle this is a misuse of the medium security
inmates who should be experiencing the correctional program
best designed to aid their own growth and development. It seems
also to be ineffective as the aggressive inmates will usually
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dominate these other inmates through the process of the prison
sub-culture.

There are 1,700 medium security and minimum security inmates
who are being detained in maximum security institutions, and they
are being denied the benefits which are available to them.

Mr. Chairman, I move that the statistics supplied by Mr. Faguy
appear as an appendix to the record of today’s meeting.

The Chairman: Yes, they will be very useful.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

(For text of statistics, see Appendices “B’ to “G”.)

Mr. Faguy: Mr. Chairman, apart from identifying the reasons for
the visits, these statistics provide numbers by regions and the
reasons for failure to return. Also included are the number of
known crimes committed while on temporary absence, and the
percentage of offenders who are on temporary absence. The number
of temporary absences granted from maximum, medium and
minimum security institutions is indicated. These statistics should
prove extremely useful in analysing and understanding the tempora-
ry absence program.

If you wish, we can also provide information with respect to
those serving life sentences and the categories of cases for which we
insist on a three-year minimum stay before they are allowed out.
Information can also be provided with respect to incidents in
relation to the numbers allowed out. The incident rate is much
lower, even among those serving life sentences and that type of
inmate, than any others.

Senator Hastings: Which means that we should not be keeping
them 10 years?

Mr. Faguy: I would not wish to comment on that, as it does not
fall within my responsibilities.

The Chairman: It is a good answer to a good question.

Senator Thompson: In addition to the statistics, could you
provide the directives issued with respect to temporary absences?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, we will. In addition to directives, instructions
are issued, which are detailed and I do not think you should have
them. However, we will certainly supply the directives related to
general policy.

In reply to the previous question, we are pleased with the Mohr
report, as indicated in the press release. The minister has accepted
the principles and the concepts announced in it, and I might say
that I personally certainly have accepted them. 37 per cent of our
inmates are now in maximum security. The remainder is comprised
of 50 per cent in medium and 13 per cent in minimum security. The
Mohr report indicates that 20 per cent of our total inmate popula-
tion are in maximum security, leaving 80 per cent of the inmates in
non-maximum security. This means that there is a surplus of 17 per
cent inside maximum security institutions. It must be borne in

mind, however, that at the present time the maximum security
institutions contain reception centres. Among these are the B.C.
Penitentiary, St. Vincent de Paul and Kingston Penitentiary.

We also have psychiatric cases inside those walls. Therefore they
are counted in that population. We also have inside those walls those
who are there for maintenance purposes for the institution. In
effect, we are not that far away from that 20 per cent, although we
still have a lot of cleaning up to do.

There are the real hard-core maximum security cases, and also
other cases, Were it not for the fact that they are psychiatric cases,
they might not be in a maximum security institution. Were it not
for the reception process, they would not be inside those walls. With
respect to St. Vincent de Paul, in Laval, we hope to open in May a
new reception centre. That group of inmates will move from St.
Vincent de Paul into the new reception centre. To all intents and
purposes, the reception centre is still a maximum security institu-
tion, because we do not know what the inmates or offenders are
like. They come in, and we have to classify them.

Senator Hastings: I am not talking about the hardened criminal.
I am talking about the one who should not be in there. There are
185 inmates of the British Columbia Penitentiary who should not be
there. They should be in a medium or minimum security institution.

Mr. Faguy: In British Columbia we hope soon to have an
additional 50-man unit, when we shall be able to transfer some of
those inmates from maximum to medium security and from
medium to minimum security. We hope to move more and more
people from maximum to medium security, and from medium to
minimum security.

We are also studying the possibility of enlarging the capacity of
our minimum correctional camps in British Columbia. That again
will allow for some people to be moved out.

The minister last night announced approval of a new psychiatric
centre at Matsqui, which will enable inmates to be moved from the
British Columbia Penitentiary to a psychiatric centre. We hope to
reduce the number to approaching a reasonable figure,

We agree with the principles and concepts which have been
expressed. As space becomes available, inmates will be moved to the
right security classification.

Senator Hastings: With respect to the minister’s announcement,
he also said that 12 of the recommendations had been considered.
How much consideration have you given them?

Mr. Faguy: Well, I could take you through all of the 22 recom-
mendations.

Senator Thompson: How many psychiatrists do you have to
meet the needs of those who need psychiatric treatment? Do you
have psychiatric services for them?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, we do. We have now identified the needs of the
psychiatric centre following discussion and consultation with uni-
versities and with other psychiatric centres. The standard has been
accepted by the Association of Psychiatrists.
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There has been close consultation with psychiatrists. We have an
advisory board of psychiatrists, appointed on a permanent basis,
which sits regularly in order to look into this problem. The board
recommended that we establish the Matsqui centre in British
Columbia. It also advised on the staffing of the institution. We hope
to recruit a director for the new centre, and we have some good
candidates in mind. There are also psychiatric nurses available, and
we hope to recruit more.

Senator Thompson: The situation is that anyone with a
psychiatric disorder will not be sent to a maximum security peni-
tentiary, but will now go to a treatment centre?

Mr. Faguy: That is right—hopefully, at least. The consensus is
that from 10 to 12 per cent of the population requires psychiatric
treatment of one kind or another. Some cases are acute and others
are semi-acute. In Quebec and Ontario we now have some kind of
psychiatric centre in the old institutions. We are not satisfied with
the services or the amount of treatment provided. However, it is
available, and the worst cases are now separated and treated. We
hope eventually to be able to provide adequate and the right sort of
treatment. However, it will take time before we can obtain the
accommodation, facilities and staff to provide everyone with the
treatment he requires.

Senator Thompson: Are the centres near universities and
hospitals, or are they located in remote areas?

Mr. Faguy: The psychiatric centre at Matsqui is further out than
we would have liked. It is in the Fraser Valley, about 40 or 50 miles
from Vancouver. There is a good highway, but nevertheless we feel
that it is too far out. We went there because the building was
available; otherwise we would have had to find a location and erect
a building, which might have taken two or three years. However, as
a matter of principle, we feel that a psychiatric centre should be
located near communities and universities, in order to obtain good
staffing, have a good relationship with the community, and receive
the assistance of those undertaking research at universities.

Senator Thompson: Will that principle be followed?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. The building at Matsqui is on a temporary basis.
We are studying possible sites for its permanent location. We have
accepted the principles so far recommended by our psychiatric
advisers. Their final report is not yet available, but they have already
recommended that such centres be close to universities and
communities.

Senator Thompson: Are there instances where it is clear that
some inmates require the services of a mental hospital, for electric
shock or other treatment? Can he be treated in a hospital, or are
those facilities maintained in the institution?

Mr. Faguy: Hospital treatment is provided for some acute cases.
Arrangements have been made with psychiatric hospitals to take
these people, such as that at Penetanguishene, and Pinel Institute in
Montreal. However, there is a limit to their capability for doing this.

Some mental institutions or psychiatric centres do not like to accept
inmates because of the security problems involved.

Senator Thompson: I am not clear about that. You say that
some do not like to do this. Can you give me the number of people
with psychiatric disorders who, because of the lack of community
resources, are in penitentiaries? How many psychiatric cases are in
the penitentiaries?

Mr. Faguy: We say that 10 to 12 per cent of the population
require treatment.

The Chairman: That is, the penitentiary population?

Mr. Faguy: The penitentiary population numbers about 7,600.
Let us take 10 per cent of that. We have some who are receiving
treatment now. We may be left with 180. I would say that there are
perhaps 600 who are not receiving what I would call adequate
treatment. If you wish I could check this and give you an accurate
figure. At the moment I am just guessing.

Senator Hastings: It is about 400.
Senator Thompson: How many psychiatrists do you employ?

Mr. Faguy: I believe it is 17, but I am not sure. Again, I can get
this information for you.

Senator Thompson: Would you say that is enough?

Mr. Faguy: No it is definitely not enough, senator. We have only
to look at the needs of a new psychiatric centre to realize that the
number of psychiatrists employed is not sufficient. We are now
finding that psychiatrists are becoming more interested in the
Penitentiary Service; they realize we mean business and that we are
going to provide the service. We have been fortunate in being able to
recruit a good regional psychiatrist for the Montreal area, we are in
the process now of recruiting one for the Ontario region, and we
have some excellent candidates for positions in British Columbia.

Senator Thompson: You are paying a salary that is attractive, are
you?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, we are. In fact, the other day while looking at
the salary of a senior psychiatrist I thought that perhaps I should
become a psychiatrist.

Senator Fergusson: Mr. Faguy, you mentioned earlier the
Matsqui institution, and I was interested in your statement that
there is a building available there. My knowledge of this might be
rather vague, but I visited Matsqui a few years ago and at that time I
understood there was a program for drug addicts. You were not the
commissioner at that time, I know, but ten women had been
transferred from the Women’s prison in Kingston in order to under-
go drug addiction treatment at Matsqui. I understand that there are
now no women at that institution, and yet there is a building
available.
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Mr. Faguy: It is exactly because there are no women there that
there is an available building. We closed the female unit at Matsqui,
and this is the building now available for a psychiatric centre. The
female unit was closed because there were not enough females in
that region to warrant the operation of a prison for women, so they
were transferred to Kingston. I believe there were 13 of them
transferred.

Senator Fergusson: There were ten inmates when I visited the
institution. Are those inmates now receiving treatment for drug
addiction at Kingston?

Mr. Faguy: Not the specialized treatment that they were re-
ceiving in the Matsqui institution, but studies are beginning to
indicate—and this has to be researched further—that the best way to
treat drug addicts is to keep them functioning in the normal en-
vironment and not to segregate them.

Senator Buckwold: In Saskatoon I was very much involved in
the sale of some land by the city to the Penitentiary Service, a
lovely site close to the university hospital. This land was purchased
some four or five years ago as the site of a psychiatric treatment
centre, but since its purchase nothing has happened. Do you have
any comment on how that project is coming along?

Mr. Faguy: As I stated earlier, senator, we are trying to make
these things happen. We hope this centre will be built. This
particular project is part of a total study being carried on by the
advisory council on psychiatry. They are aware that we have the site
and it is ideally located, and we are now awaiting the report of that
advisory council.

Senator Buckwold: It has been four or five years since that site
was purchased, and you are now awaiting a report as to whether you
should go ahead with it?

Mr. Faguy: Well, senator, I became commissioner just over a year
ago, and six months ago I became aware of the need for more
psychiatric service, and we have taken action in that regard.

Senator Buckwold: I am only suggesting that you have an ideally
located site for such a centre.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, that is right.

Senator Buckwold: Perhaps you might get the advisory council
moving in that regard.

Mr. Faguy: They are well aware of this, senator, and I know they
have already considered it. I am quite sure it will be part of their
final report to be submitted in April.

Senator Buckwold: I see. Now, another question is with respect
to the division of the appeal institutions as between the federal and
the provincial governments. As I understand it, if an individual is
sentenced to more than two years he goes to a federal institution,
and if it is less than two years he goes to a provincial institution.

Could I have your assessment of that? Do you feel we should have
one prison system as opposed to federal and provincial systems?

Mr. Faguy: Mr. Chairman, may I invoke the Fifth Amend-
ment? !

I might say, senator, this is a matter of policy which I think
would have to be reviewed by the Solicitor General, in consultation
with the provinces.

Senator Buckwold: You are not prepared to comment as to
whether we should have one integrated prison system, or . ..

The Chairman: May I just intervene at this point, senator, and
perhaps protect Mr. Faguy. You are asking a federal public servant
to make a statement concerning an opinion as to how the provinces
discharge their responsibilities. I doubt if even the minister would
want to make a public statement in that respect. This committee
might draw conclusions at a later date and possibly carry out some
investigation in a quiet way, but I think it would be embarrassing
for Mr. Faguy to be asked that question and to be allowed to answer
it. The question will be ruled out of order.

Mr. Faguy: May I just state that in the Province of New
Brunswick there is a contractual arrangement with the province
whereby some of the provincial inmates are in our institution.

Senator Buckwold: My personal opinion in that respect is that it
is rather stupid to have this arbitrary cutoff point of two years as a
result of which a man goes to penitentiary.

Mr. Faguy: All I could venture to say is that it needs to be
reviewed.

Senator Buckwold: My other question is with respect to the
parole system and our whole attitude to crime. I do not think there
is any doubt that there is a backlash against what we call the
enlightened treatment of criminals. In that regard, there was an
article in the Winnipeg Tribune yesterday by Mr. Kennedy, a
columnist with that paper, and apparently a supporter of law and °
order, in which he outlined the statistics. I meant to bring that
article with me, but, unfortunately, I left it in my hotel room.
Those statistics indicate that over the last five or six years, I forget
just which, there has been a tremendous increase in crime and when
I say “tremendous” that is an understatement. I do not want to
quote the figures from memory, but those figures indicated murder
had gone up 50 per cent, and something else had gone up 80 per
cent, and so forth; and, of course, those figures were related to the
manner in which we are now dealing with criminals.

My question, Mr. Faguy, is: How do we answer these things? We
are now moving along the line that most of us wish to see; we want
to rehabilitate criminals. 1 suppose the courts in many cases are
more lenient, and this is the type of thing that many of us support.
However, on the other hand, there is this tremendous increase in
crime, especially violent crime. Is this increase as a result of what we
are doing, or is it just the system, or a combination of both? Do
you have any comment on that?
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Mr. Faguy: I would have to be careful not to venture into a
domain that is not mine. I have not personally researched this area,
although I know other people have looked into it. Many people
evidently feel that there are many, many reasons for the increase in
crime, and it is not simply because of the correctional service
system. There are many, many other aspects.

I would suggest, Mr. Chairman, if I may, that perhaps some
adequate answer on this—

Senator Buckwold: I will file the statistics, if you wish.

The Chairman: I think the question of the increase in crime
could properly be directed to Commissioner Higgitt of the RCMP,
who will be with us tomorrow.

I might also say at this time that there is another school of
thought which says that the deterrence to crime is not the punish-
ment but the possibility of being caught and convicted. This gets
into police areas, however. In so far as those figures might show that
there has been an increase in crime, this would properly be some-
thing for us to look into, and I suggest we can go into it with Mr.
Higgitt.

Senator Buckwold: This is in fact related.

The Chairman: Would you have your article and be ready for Mr.
Higgitt when he arrives?

Senator Buckwold: Yes.

Senator Thompson: You mentioned psychiatric treatment and a
psychiatric hospital to be located near the community. Are you
satisfied with the location of the penitentiary?

Mr. Faguy: No, I am not, sir. Again, I can refer to the Mohr
Report. One of the basic concepts and principles expressed there,
and also in the correctional and criminology associations—every one
of them recommends that we be located in or near the community.
The minister has stated publicly that we accept these principles, and
therefore we hope to build in or near the community. The problems
created by having this institution located 50 or 60 miles away from
the nearest town are unbelievable. It prevents us from carrying out
the full program we would like to. Especially with the new emphasis
on community oriented programs, if you have to travel 60 miles a
day, or you have people come in and they have to travel 60 miles,
winter and summer, to participate in the program, it is very
difficult. What we have done in the program is this. First, we accept
this principle that they should be in or near the community, but in
order not to have to wait for years to build an institution we have
moved ahead and provided for an increase in correctional release
centres or community correctional centres, we call them now. Two
weeks ago we added one in Calgary. We are going to have one in
Regina, one in Hamilton, one in Halifax, and one in Edmonton.

So we have added five other correctional centres. I have
mentioned briefly that we are looking at another unit somewhere in
Vancouver. So we are more and more trying to bring the inmates
out into the community, through small centres, release centres,

where - they can go and work on assignments in the daytime and
come back at night and are under our supervision. They are, in fact,
institutions.

Senator Thompson: [ was interested in connection with
Drumbheller. Over the weekend, I was reading an article about this
small community. It seems to me that the person in charge of
Drumheller rather liked the idea of a small community, where the
peope had become accustomed to inmates; whereas in the larger
community they had difficulty about that. I wondered if you had
followed his thinking yourself, or if you preferred to be in a larger
centre.

Mr. Faguy: Everything considered, I would still prefer to be near
a large centre, for employment opportunities, educational facilities,
availability of community workers, volunteers, et cetera. There are
many reasons in favour of being in or near the community.

I might say, however, in passsing, that we are very pleased with
the community in Drumheller. They have done extremely well for
us. The mayor and his wife, the senior citizens, indeed, all the
citizens have participated and have co-operated; they have provided
employment for the inmates. Even though sometimes the un-
employment rate was high in Drumbheller, they kept some of the
inmates on the job. I must say that we were very pleased—but it is
an exception.

Senator Thompson: They are good people there.

Mr. Faguy: Yes. Do you come from near that area?
Senator Thompson: No, but I have been there.

Senator Hastings: It is just that he is an excellent senator.
The Chairman: This self-serving heresy will stop, please.

Senator Fergusson: Do we not sometimes find a different
attitude in the community? I can remember down in New
Brunswick, when the provincial reformatory was going to be built,
the community resented it very much. They thought that they
should be able to sell their houses to the government, because they
felt that the value of their houses was being diminished. Do you find
this in other communities?

Mr. Faguy: The community will naturally tend to react against
locating a penal institution in their midst. I think this is a general
reaction. We have a responsibility there to inform the public, to
inform the people as to what it is we are going to do, ahead of time,
as to what the programs will be. We are able to cite examples of the
success of other institutions we have had in our communities. I
think it is a matter of public relations, or public information. As we
get, hopefully, more and more successful with our programs, I think
the public will come to accept this location of institutions near or in
communities.

Might I also say that we had a public attitude survey carried out
some time ago. I must admit that, to my surprise, I found the survey
indicated that the majority of the population was rather favcurable
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to reforms in correctional institutions and this sort of thing. I was
surprised, but it was favourable rather than negative. I think that
with good public relations and good public information, we can
make it.

Senator Hastings: I wonder if you could find a better name than
“community correctional centres”? It has a kind of connotation of
another “joint” that is going to be established within the
community, in a residential area.

Mr. Faguy: In official language, in bureaucrat’s language, I call
them community correctional centres, but I would like, for instance
in Calgary, to call it the Scarboro Centre.

Senator Hastings: Or call it the Faguy Manor?

Mr. Faguy: I remember that a suggestion was made not long ago
by a senator, and I was flattered.

The Chairman: It may be we could call them all Shangri-la.
Senator Hastings: They are part of the correctional process.

Mr. Faguy: We use these centres not only for release or pre-
release now, but, I would hope, by agreement with the parole
people, that some of the parolees in need of recycling or re-
counselling would come in and stay there for a while. So they are,
to all intents and purposes, correctional in a broad and good sense
of the word.

Senator Thompson: I wonder if I could come back to your point
of unification of parole and custodial officers? Could I put it to
you, first, in this way? You are a distinguished public servant in
other areas as well as commissioner. Would there be a time when a
man could come in as a custodial officer and feel he could arrive at
your position?

Mr. Faguy: Oh, yes. The position of commissioner is open to
anyone who wants to participate in the program, is willing to take it
on and is also qualified to do it. I would maintain, however, that
what you need basically, first of all, is an administrator, a cor-
rectional administrator and, hopefully, a professional correctional
administrator. At this point in time, you have a correctional ad-
ministrator, myself. I would hope that there would be a professional
person who has been through the ranks, who is qualified profession-
ally and who also at the same time has the ability and capability to
be an efficient administrator.

Senator Thompson: What I was getting at is that in the navy or
in the services, which perhaps yourself and some of us have been
through, there was a period when it was suggested we start as an
ordinary seaman and then get this training and move up to become
an officer, and so on. Does this apply to your service?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, sir. We have the regional directors now, which is
one level below the associate deputy commissioner and deputy
commissioner. Some of these people have been through the ranks.
They came in as correctional officers or guards, even in those days.
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They have gone through the service and have become regional
directors. Most of our directors or wardens, as we used to call them,
have been through the ranks. Others have come in at the middle
management level or as classification officers and have become
directors. It is possible, certainly.

Senator Thompson: If I were, the parole officer type, who had
taken a master’s degree in social work, I wonder how I would feel
about moving into the custodial care service where perhaps a fellow
has got qualifications like Grade 7 or Grade 10.

Mr. Faguy: This is one of the advantages of having the unified
service, because a parole officer sould become director of an insti-
tution. He could come through the ranks and the service to be
possibly the commissioner, or whatever the title would be, of the
unified service or the correctional services. We have now an ex-
district representative of parole services as a director. We have
qualified recently another assistant director of parole to become a
director of an institution. If there were a unified service, I would
make it a point, or it should be made a point, to have career
planning for all these people to match together, and to go to
exchange and interchange between the two services. In this way you
would have a man who knows both sides.

Senator Thompson: In the case of the parole officer, when he
exchanges, what position in the penitentiary would he have?

Mr. Faguy: He could be a classification officer, or a chief
classification officer, or in charge of programs; or he could become
co-ordinator of programs at the regional level, a position which has
just been created and which has been announced recently in Ontario
and Quebec, and which is soon to be announced in British
Columbia. All these positions are available to these people, but they
would have to prove themselves to be not only professional coun-
sellors but also able to manage people, to co-ordinate the work of
people, to plan ahead and to push the program.

Senator Thompson: With my own very meager knowledge, it
appears to me that in the penitentiary field, it is dissimilar from,
say, the RCMP, where they all start at the same point. In the RCMP
you all start as constables and go to Regina and get training right at
the start. The fellow who comes in often can move to the middle
echelon or to the top echelon whereas the fellow who starts at the
bottom finds that it is a hard climb for him to get up. Are you
changing that?

Mr. Faguy: We have. I would not want to say that you have to
start as a guard in order to become a director, a regional director or
even commissioner. We have taken people in at all levels. The
majority of them have grown through the ranks, however. The
majority of our directors have. Some of them, during their career in
the Penitentiary Service, have taken courses at university and have
qualified themselves and have become professionals. They did this
while they were in the service. We have now authorized, on a regular
basis, every year, ten positions where we send ten of our officers to
university to qualify themselves. I hope to increase this number of
positions, by the way. We also take people from outside, from other
services, provincial services, for instance, people who have proved



218

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 8, 1972

themselves there and are willing to come and want to come to work
for the federal service. Some of these have been taken on. For
instance, my associate deputy commissioner used to be in a pro-
vincial system in British Columbia and moved over to the de-
partmental side on research planning. He is now in the Penitentiary
Service. So he has experience as a classification officer, an assistant
warden, deputy warden, warden; and now he has this total ex-
perience that I hope to get. So it is a mixture of both.

The Chairman: In the past there has been criticism by parolees
of parole officers, on the basis that the parolee is afraid that the
parole officer is just an extension of the guard system that used to
exist. He equates him with another arm of the police, in other
words. I think for them to function properly this image of the
parole officer has to be effectively destroyed. It has to be destroyed
so that those he deals with have confidence in him. Is there a danger
in your system that this would be accentuated? Or do you think
that by following this out that it will give you an opportunity, by
their performance in the system, to sell the parole officer as a friend
to this person before he has to meet him on the street?

Mr. Faguy: I would agree certainly with the last part of your
statement. I might say that I am not in the Parole Service, but I
think it applies to the parole officer just as it does to our own
officer. If the officer knows how to handle the situation, how to
handle the inmate, to counsel and advise, you will find, as we are
finding more and more, that the inmate will accept him as a person
who is there to help, advise and counsel the inmate. If the parole
officer does his job as he is supposed to do—and I am sure this is the
case for the majority, although I do not know it for a fact—the
inmate will accept him as a person who is there to help, advise and
counsel him, and to help him get back into society as a productive
citizen. It is a question of aptitude and attitude. I am sure that they
do not have 100 per cent success any more than we have.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Faguy, could you explain the living unit
concept to us, slowly and carefully?

Mr. Faguy: With respect to the living unit, we hope to have
living together a small number of staff and inmates. The Mohr
Report suggests only 12 inmates in a group living together with
staff. You would have the same staff working with the same inmates
on a continuing basis, participating in all activities. They would be
participating in group therapy and group discussion. We are even
going to use videotape, audiovisual, so that people will see them-
selves in actual, critical situations. They will see themselves reacting
to problem situations, and then the discussion is on why they
reacted that way and what can be done to help them. This applies
also to the staff who will also see themselves reacting in a situation.
So it is helpful both to staff and to inmates. The important point is
that they will be living together.

Senator Hastings: In a particular area?

Mr. Faguy: In a specific area in the building, yes. This is what
the Mohr Report suggests. I am not saying the report will be
accepted exactly as that, but the principle is a small living unit of 12
people in a small building. It could be a wing, a separate wing, if you

like; but they live together, the same staff and same inmates on a
daily basis.

Senator Hastings: Will the parole officer be a part of this unit?

Mr. Faguy: We do not now have a parole officer in every
institution. Certainly, you could not have a parole officer in every
unit; this would not be possible. But, as we have said, we would like
to have, if possible, a parole officer in every institution. As a starter,
we should certainly have at least a parole officer in those far-out
locations, such as Drumheller and Springhill, Nova Scotia. There
should be a parole officer on the spot. He lives with them and he
knows what is going on. They study the case together.Now it is a
question of staffing and what-not. This has been discussed, by the
way, with Mr. Street, the Chairman of the Parole Board. We are
looking at ways and means of improving the liaison and co-
operation between the two services.

Senator Thompson: You have been speaking about the parole
officer, but would that not also be the classification officer’s role?

Mr. Faguy: Our own classification officer within the penitentiary
is, in fact, a counsellor for the inmate while in the institution. If
there is going to be a proper study of what is going to happen after
he leaves the institution, it would be desirable for that person to be
close enough to the inmate to be able to know what is going on and
to understand his problems, so that the decision at the end is a
united or unified decision.

Senator Hastings: While the inmate is in the living unit, does he
still participate in the school or the shop?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. He certainly could be going to school. It would
all depend on what the program would be. There will be more time
allocated for group discussions, and so on. The staff will also have
meetings more often.

Senator Hastings: With the inmates?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, with the inmates, but also by themselves in
order to say at one point, “What is happening? Are we doing it
right or wrong? ”” Most of the meetings would involve inmates and
staff together. That is happening now in Springhill, Nova Scotia, for
instance, and I think that is going very well. I have sat in at one of
these meetings myself in order to listen to the kind of discussions
that go on. The staff had a post mortem afterwards with the
professional classification officers, the padre, the chief classification
officers and some of the correctional staff sitting together, saying,
“How well did we make out?  This was very interesting. This is
communication at its very best.

Senator Hastings: I agree with you that you cannot have a parole
officer for every unit, but some sort of interplay should be had so
that he goes in and out.

Mr. Faguy: I think so. I can tell you that the best thing would be
to have one in each institution, but for the time being, at least, we
will have one in the far-out locations.
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Senator Hastings: They could take an hour a week with the unit.

Senator Thompson: May I try to pin down the classification
officer? You say he is there for counselling. I understood you to
make a statement to the effect that there are 57 cases, roughly, on
an average.

Mr. Faguy: That is the objective. With the people we have
recruited, we have this ratio now. Thirty have just come in who will
need some training; but that is the ratio now.

Senator Thompson: A previous witness suggested that perhaps a
classification officer may see a man three times prior to that man’s
parole. From what you have said about counselling, and a sort of
intensive approach, three times during a term in the penitentiary
seems a very remote kind of counselling. How much time does the
classification officer actually spend counselling with each of those
inmates?

Mr. Faguy: Well, sir, it varies. As we have said, we are short of
classification officers. The ratio is too high. We had one classifi-
cation officer with 150 inmates, for instance, in some of the
institutions, and there was no way that the officer could get to see
the inmates on a regular basis or as needed. Therefore, some of the
inmates complained, and rightfully so, that they were seen once
only every six months, or even once a year. Because of that we have
gone to the intensive recruiting program to make this new ratio. So
the ratio is very recent. We have just completed recruiting 30 new
classification officers.

Senator Thompson: The classification officer will simply do
classification work? He does nothing else?

Mr. Faguy: First of all he does a lot of paper work. Being in the
government we have a lot. We are trying to minimize the amount of
paper work that these people have to do. They have to approve, for
instance, temporary absences. They must get involved in deciding
whether or not that man should go on a temporary absence, and so
they have to know the inmate, interview him, find out the reasons
and see what would be the benefits. Afterwards they have to find
out what happened, how successful it was and what purpose it
served. That is one of the things they have to do. At the beginning,
when he comes into the penitentiary, they have to sit with the
inmate and review his background and recommend what the
program should be. They decide what should happen to the inmate
in the institution. Secondly, there is counselling, hopefully with the
new ratio, as required, or as close as possible to that. We want to use
these people to train the correctional officers in the living-unit
concept, in counselling aspects and in communication with the
inmates. So they also become staff trainers, which is a new and very
important role. Their knowledge can hopefully be given to the
correctional officers, who together with the classification officers
will participate in this useful work.

Senator Thompson: With the classification officers working with
the men, do you think it would be wise for them to get some form
of computer training or some other type of training? I understand
that the Evans Report has pointed out the necessity for bringing up

24755-2%

to date the training facilities so that they will compare with the
outside world. How far has that advanced? The making of licence
plates might be a useful trade but it is rather a unique one which I
do not think could be used outside.

Mr. Faguy: The Evans Report has been studied and reviewed,
and there was a committee in the department making recommen-
dations on that repport. I have myself gone over those reports, and
we have decided that there are certain steps which we must take.
First of all, as a basic principle, we have to try to have within the
Penitentiary Service as close to a normal work situation as possible.
That is easily said, but it is not easily done, I can assure you. Then
we hope to improve the working of our industrial shops within the
Penitentiary Service and to keep our people busy. One pilot plan we
are now working on is at Joyceville, near Kingston, where we have
started to study and have taken some steps, first of all, to attempt
to describe the jobs of inmates within the penitentiary. That is done
on a manual form that is available for all job descriptions. Secondly,
we have had a study of the kind of products that should be
manufactured within the penitentiary which could be sold within
the government services on a regular basis so that we could have a
regular production line going. We have had consultants in to look at
Joyceville, to see what would be the needs in order to get what I call
a factory or manufacturing plant going in the institution. This
means two basic things. The first is construction—additions to the
buildings which we have there now. The plans are ready and we
hope to have this build by November. We are also hoping to obtain
the authority to hire a consultant who will establish the manu-
facturing plant and work with us for six months to get it going. So
when they come in these inmates will be hired and fired. They will
be hired because they are qualified to do the work, and if not they
can do some vocational training on the side, but the basic training
will be done outside. They will come in and work like anybody else
would work in a factory, eight hours a day, which they are not used
to doing. They will be paid, I hope, a minimum wage, and being
paid normally they will have to pay for room and board, income
tax, unemployment insurance, workmen’s compensation, to make
the situation as normal as possible. If we can train an inmate to work
in this way I think we will be getting somewhere because then, once
he gets out, he will be able to do a day’s work. Some of the
complaints we have had, quite honestly, are that while they know
their trades they cannot work eight hours a day. They get tired after
three, four or five hours. So that gives them good working habits on
the inside. As I think of our problems I sometimes think there are
four basic elements that we should work at to be realistic. We
should teach them social habits, because we know that many of
them need to be taught social habits. They need to be taught real
work habits, to work eight hours a day, 48 hours a week, like we do,
or more. We also need to provide them, one way or the other, with
meaningful companionship. You know about the Cursillo movement
and what they call the M.2. This is where inmates are given a
companion inside and outside the penitentiary. We are looking into
that because I think meaningful companionship is desirable—a wife,
girlfriend or another friend, somebody he can talk with and discuss
his problems with, so that when he goes out he has somebody to go
to to ask for advice and get help. Then having taught him work
habits, social habits and given him meaningful companionship, we
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must do something to provide him with suitable employment on the
outside.

Senator Thompson: Is there any trade union in Canada which
has given recognition to the training they get in penitentiary?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. First of all, the provinces recognize our training.
Senator Thompson: But I am talking about unions.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, the unions also. We have found, for example,
that the Teamsters’ Union was very co-operative. They have
accepted our people in a plant where they do aviation work. They
have been hired and accepted.

Senator Thompson: The period of training they have had in the
institution has been recognized by the union as an apprenticeship
training?

Mr. Faguy: Yes.

Senator Thompson: But there are a number of trades where they
are not as yet recognized?

Mr. Faguy: Well, the bricklayers are recognized and the barber is
recognized when he gets out.

Senator Thompson: He is recognized as a barber from the
training he had in the institution?

Mzr. Faguy: Yes.

Senator Thompson: And then he can go to, say, Toronto and get
a job there?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, and many have done just that. It is a popular
form of employment and is quite successful. Wherever we can do so
we try to give training which is recognized by the provinces.

Senator Hastings: These 130 classification officers are supported
by guidance officers. How many of those do you have?

Mr. Faguy: We have very few guidance officers left. I have
decided that there should be living-unit officers, which in fact are
guidance officers, or classification officers. The official classification
of guidance officer is disappearing from the books. You will have
either classification officers or living-unit officers.

Senator Hastings: Or correctional officers?

Mr. Faguy: No. Living-unit officer is a promotion from
correctional officer and classification officer, so there are three
steps. In other words, a correctional officer can become a living-unit
officer (1) or (2) and then he can become a classification officer or a
supervisor of a section. There is now a promotional ladder for these
people if they want to participate and study and get involved.

Senator Hastings: Perhaps we could now turn to a new subject. I
would like to discuss mandatory supervision, in view of the fact that

this has now been invoked. Do you not think that the terms “earned
remission” and “statutory remission” are obsolete and should be
removed?

Mr. Faguy: Well, here I must be careful and consider whether 1
am talking policy or not. I should not make policy statements. I will
give you a personal opinion. There is a difference.

The Chairman: However, not for long.

Mr. Faguy: I feel that everything should be earned. We should
not say that if you come in automatically you will receive so many
days of remission. However, you will lose them if you do something
wrong. I feel it should be the other way around, where you enter an
institution and you earn what you get. There is a difference. I feel
this is a positive application of the program.

Senator Hastings: We have both, do we not? We have the
statutory remission which he receives automatically, and then he
can earn extra days of remission.

Mr. Faguy: I feel that everything should be earned. You enter a
penitentiary and you participate in their program. You are rewarded
for your behaviour, for your work, and for your activities.

Senator Hastings: Then it is taken away from you by means of
mandatory supervision.

Mr. Faguy: Mandatory supervision is law now. This affects the
people who are probably in most need of it, the people who have
been refusing to take parole or have been refused parole. These
people, therefore, are in need of supervision and counsel. And with
the additional correctional or rehabilitation centres which we have
across Canada this will benefit these people. I feel they will receive
more help than they have ever received in the past.

Senator Hastings: I agree they do need assistance, but it is
difficult to assist those who reject such assistance.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, unless they are motivated and want to be
helped, it is difficult. Nevertheless, we have seen time after time that
at first they are very reluctant to receive help of any kind, but
eventually they realize that there is something to be obtained from
this service.

Senator Hastings: I was very interested in the increase in
population. It is now up to 7,600, and this was reduced by 140, and
of this number 15 have returned. It would appear we are not
contributing very much to the statistics.

Mr. Faguy: Well, we are dealing with the difficult cases. We
cannot expect the ratio to be low. It may very well be high. These
are the people, as I have said, who have refused or have been refused
parole, so the ratio may very well be high in problem cases.

Senator Buckwold: I feel that 10 per cent is very good.

Senator Hastings: However, that is only for one month.
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Mr. Faguy: I would be very pleased if the figure was 10 per cent.
I think the figure is around 35 or 40 per cent. I do not know; I am

guessing.

Senator Buckwold: Mr. Chairman, I am wondering if we could
be provided with information regarding the federal prison popula-
tion for the last five years, the total expenditures of the Canadian
Penitentiary Service for the last five ycars, and the per inmate cost
annually for the last five years?

Mr. Faguy: Just to be sure, I have this, you are requesting
information regarding the total per inmate cost over the last five
years, the total prison population per year?

Senator Buckwold: Yes, I would imagine you would divide the
number of prisoners into the total expenditure.

Mr. Faguy: We have those figures available and we will provide
that information for maximum security, medium security and
minimum security institutions.

The Chairman: This information should become and appendix to
our record, so it will be available when needed.

Senator Andrew Thompson: I would like to speak further
regarding the training provided in the penitentiaries, because I feel it
relates to the opportunities which are available after a person has
been paroled. I notice that the Guelph Reformatory recently sold
their herd of cattle. This was, apparently, a tremendous herd which
won several prizes. They did this because they felt this kind of
training was no longer related to the agricultural activities in the
community. You indicated that part of the training provided by the
penitentiary was sewing mail bags. Are there other areas such as this
which you feel are not really equipping a man to work after he has
been released?

Mr. Faguy: It could very well be. I feel we are providing a useful
service to the Post Office. I used to work for the Post Office
Department, and I must admit that I appreciated the work which
was being done. This year we were able to provide them with all
their needs for Christmas, and we saved the department hundreds of
thousands of dollars since they did not have to buy new bags.
However, this does not provide training, except as it relates to their
working habits, and it keeps them busy.

We have stated in the press release in connection with the Mohr
Report that it is only a basis from which to start, and we will have
to become more specific as to the total program in view of its
recommendations with respect to the maximum security institution.
We also stated that we would evaluate a total program throughout
Canada as it relates to medium and minimum security institutions,
including the farming and mail bag operations and so forth. We hope
we will come to consultation, just as the Mohr Report did, and
decide whether these operations should be discarded or continued.
It may be decided that as long as these inmates are working on a
bonus-incentive basis and being taught work habits of eight hours a
day they should be continued. There would be a review of all these
programs.

1 do not wish to make a statement at the moment, but will wait
for the completion of the evaluation.

Senator Hastings: What is the policy of the federal government
regarding employment of former inmates in the Public Service of
Canada?

Mr. Faguy: They are allowed to work in the Public Service of
Canada. As you know, the mention of previous convictions was
removed from the application form and such applicants are now
accepted in the Public Service.

Senator Hastings: Are there any in your service?

Mr. Faguy: I believe we have one ex-federal inmate as a casual
worker in a temporary type of position. He may have left now, as he
was hoping for a better job.

The Chairman: Do any inmates express a desire to enter the
Penitentiary Service?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, we are now receiving requests. I recall two
recently from ex-inmates who said they were interested in returning
to work as staff members. One of these two has good qualifications,
and they were informed that a correctional officers’ competition on
a national basis will be announced and advertised, we hope, next
week. They were advised to submit applications. If qualified, they
could be accepted.

Senator Buckwold: Would this be a plus or minus aspect?

Mr. Faguy: We must be very careful that the applicant has the
right attitude and aptitude to work in an institution with other
inmates. Problems could arise on both sides, related to both inmates
and the new staff member. Personally, I favour the hiring of ex-
inmates in the Penitentiary Service provided they have the right
qualifications and attitude.

The Chairman: This would hardly have been possible under the
old custodial system, but might prove very important in encouraging
acceptance of the new approach. Am I correct?

Mr. Faguy: Yes. We have done quite a bit of work in this regard
throughout the country in an endeavour to identify a number of
ex-inmates who we think could serve as consultative bodies to us in
order to improve the programs. We now have 115 names, some of
them of well-known personalities, who certainly could be helpful if
they wish to be identified with this program. One way or the other,
we will consult with groups of ex-inmates in order to find out how
the programs can be improved and the problems resolved. Groups of
ex-inmates were, in fact, consulted with respect to the Mohr Report.
They were asked for recommendations to improve the Penitentiary
Service. If anyone should know, it is the ex-inmate. We are all in
favour of using their knowledge, of using them as consultant, and
we hope that eventually some of them will serve as members of the
staff.
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Senator Thompson: Custodial staff probably spend more time
with inmates than do parole officers. What part do they play with
respect to decisions concerning parole?

Mr. Faguy: I would say right away that communications could
be improved. We are not communicating well enough within the
service between what we call correction officers, classification
officers and parole officers. Opinions are expressed by job instruc-
tors who are at the same time responsible for security. The job
instructor, as well as the classification officer, give an opinion on
the needs of the inmates, on his problems, and indicates whether the
inmate should receive temporary absence. There is communication
and participation, but it is still not good enough. As we go into the
living-in concept, all will have to participate on a daily basis.

Senator Thompson: Is a directive sent to all, including the
guards, in connection with any decision affecting parole?

Mr. Faguy: No directive is sent that a person shall be involved in
parole recommendations. However, it is part and parcel of the
evaluation within the Penitentiary Service.

Senator Hastings: Are you having any difficulty introducing this
new attitude among the staff?

Mr. Faguy: At one point I was wondering what the attitude
would be among the correctional staff, and what percentage of them
would be suitable for the living-in concept. I have been across the
country and have seen every institution twice within the last year. I
met with the classification officers, chief classification officers,
psychologists and psychiatrists, and asked the question, ‘“‘What
percentage of the staff would be suitable to become living-in officers
after a short period of training, training on the job, with you people
on top of the situation? ” All but one said, “Seventy-five per cent of
the staff are able to do it and will be pleased to do it; but give them
a bit of training first, and put them into a positive situation.”” We
hope that 75 per cent of our staff will qualify to become living-in
officers, will participate in the program, and, we hope, will accept it.
There was reluctance at the beginning to make changes.

Senator Hastings: There is always reluctance to change.

Mr. Faguy: Yes, particularly in accepting the unknown. People
think it might affect their careers or that they will be out of a job. I
recently made a film, and became an actor for a few hours. I
arranged for officers of the service to come to Ottawa and ask
questions, which I answered. We can now send the film to every
institution and say, ‘‘This is what the commissioner is saying about
the new program. This is what your role will be and what your
chances of promotion will be.”” At the end of the film we ask that if
there are any questions, they should be sent in and would be
answered in newsletter form, and everyone would see the question
and our answer.

With good communication and training, I believe that the
majority of our staff will fit in.

Senator Thompson: With respect to communication, our
committee sent, with your concurrence, 15 copies of an invitation

to submit written briefs on parole. Could you tell us what measures
were taken to ensure that all inmates had access to this invitation?

Mr. Faguy: As I recall, senator, we did write to all the institu-
tions asking them to make sure that opinions were received from the
inmate population so that they could be provided to this commit-
tee. It was also requested that the questionnaire submitted by this
committee be completed and returned.

Senator Thompson: Would it be possible to check as to whether
correspondence submitted by inmates has been forwarded in sealed
or unsealed envelopes, and whether future correspondence by way
of submissions will be forwarded in sealed or unsealed envelopes?

Mr. Faguy: As you know, any correspondence to a senator
comes in an unoponed envelope; it is unscensored. This is a regula-
tion. We may have had one or two occasions when this was not done
and, if so, I regret it, but the regulation right now is that any mail
addressed to a senator is to be unopened, as it is to me.

Senator Thompson: So that there was no censorship of those
submissions?

Mr. Faguy: Not if they have been addressed to a senator. If
correspondence is addressed to the secretary of the committee, then
that is another matter. Only senators are entitled to privileged
communication and we must make that distinction. We had one case
where I became somewhat suspicious that some one was using a
member of the Senate staff, so to prevent this type of thing
happening we insist that the senator to whom the correspondence is
addressed be identified.

The Chairman: What we are concerned with, Mr. Faguy, is this:
We should like to have any submissions or recommendations by any
prisoner or prisoners sent to us. At some stage we will probably send
individual senators to different institutions rather than taking the
whole committee, and preparatory to that we should like to have a
list of the interested parties to be seen at the various institutions.

To this end, I wonder if your offices could get this information
to the inmates and have them address any correspondence directly
to me as chairman of this committee. This would facilitate our
hearings at the institutions.

We are not concerned that members of your staff would do
anything to the correspondence, but there may be a lingering
suspicion on the part of an inmate writing to us that if he is relating
some critical remarks to this committee he may be punished. If this
were so, then we would not receive the information with which to
make our findings. We are not trying to get the inside dope on the
prison system; we are simply trying to learn what is going on in the
minds of the inmates and how they can be helped.

Mr. Faguy: Mr. Chairman, I should like to get the dope on the
penitentiary system myself.

The Chairman: Could you undertake to do that for us?
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Mr. Faguy: Yes, I certainly will. I will be absent for some time,
but you may communicate with Mr. Braithwaite or Mr. Surprenant,
and this information will be supplied you.

As chairman of this committee and as a senator, you are
certainly entitled to uncensored correspondence from prisoners, and
I will be pleased to co-operate. Could I remind you, though, not to
believe everything you read.

The Chairman: You will have to take us on faith in that respect.
I can say that in my years of practising criminal law, after I had
interviewed my client I always knew I had at least half the story.

Senator Hastings: Could we just turn for a moment to the matter
of lifers, Mr. Faguy? You indicated earlier that the lifers were your
best risks for temporary absences and also better risks for parole. I
wonder if you would care to comment on the conduct, and so forth,
of the lifers in the institution?

Mr. Faguy: We have found, through statistics and experience,
that lifers are very good inmates: they co-operate and participate in
the programs; many of them participate in university courses or
other educational courses in an attempt to improve themselves,
thereby becoming better citizens. We have had, as you will see in
our reports, many lifers out on temporary absence and have
encountered very few problems. Also lifers have a very small rate of
recidivism, whereas, when we talk about our own people, with
regard to the 43 per cent coming back who have been in federal
institutions, the rate is I think, about two per cent. So the
recidivism rate for lifers is very low.

Senator Hastings: May I point out that the two per cent who
come back do not come back for murder.

Mr. Faguy: That is right. This is again an indication that these
people are willing to participate. We have some figures we must be
sure to include in our report to the Senate. Out of a total of 220
inmates serving life, indefinite sentence, and classified as dangerous
sex offenders, granted 5,986 absences, there were 12 negative
incidents. Some were inebriated, another inmate remained at large,
another was involved with an ex-inmate and there was a bit of a
problem there. Another failed to adhere to regulations, another was
apprehended in a city other than where he was supposed to be,
another was just a minor incident. Then there was an inmate found
in a beer parlour where he was not supposed to be; then another was
unlawfully at large, and returned late. All these 12 were negative
incidents, and there was nothing serious,

Senator Hastings: That is out of 5,000?
Mr. Faguy: Out of 220 inmates and 5,986 temporary absences
granted to these 220 inmates. These are lifers, indefinite sentences,

or dangerous sex offenders.

Senator Hastings: Would you say they qualify for parole?

Mr. Faguy: Please, I am not on the parole side. It is unfair to ask
me. I am afraid I do not know. I would leave that to the parole side.

Senator Hastings: From your description of their conduct, do
they seem to be exemplary?

Mr. Faguy: In the case of these people, where there were 12
incidents, these are minor, they are more violation of regulations
and rules, than anything else, because we have to protect ourselves.

The Chairman: We can ask the witness a question on the figures,
but I do not think we should ask him to comment on the meaning
of the figures. This is something we could put later on to someone
else.

Senator Thompson: Could I come back just to parole and the
application for parole? If an inmate wanted books or some other
background to prepare his application for parole, are these provided
for him?

Mr. Faguy: We provide all the literature they want, except
subversive literature; otherwise, we are free with our literature. We
also provide the legislation. For instance, we make sure that the
Penitentiary Act is available, also the Parole Act and the Criminal
Code. If in any case these are not there, it is through some
inadvertence, but these are available to the inmates.

Senator Thompson:
safeguarded?

So the right to apply for parole is

Mr. Faguy: Oh yes. It is up to the inmate to apply for parole,
and then it is up to the parole side to refuse or reject; it is not for
us.

Senator Thompson: But he is free?

Mr. Faguy: Yes, he is free to ask for parole. As you know, some
of them would want parole earlier than when they are eligible for it.
This goes on all the time. Some of them write to me because they
have been rejected, and I have to remind them that I am not a
parole person and that they must turn to the parole side.

Senator Thompson: Assuming that Parole turns a man down
because he has to get some further training, how does that relate to
the custodial staff? How is it implemented?

Mr. Faguy: It is referred to our people, specifically to the
classification officer for that inmate. Then, if we agree that this type
of training is needed and it is available, we will do it. If it is not
available, there could be a question of transfer to another
institution. This could come into consideration. We try to fit the
needs of the inmates, and more and more so.

Senator Thompson: I think we have asked this question before,
but I would like to ask what is the attitude of the custodial staff to
the Parole Board.

The Chairman: That is not fair, senator. You cannot ask that
question; you cannot ask one service under the same head to
comment on another. It would put him in an impossible situation.
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Senator Thompson: I accept that, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Faguy: We are working close together, senator.

Senator Thompson: Does the parole officer ever give a talk to
the custodial staff about his problems or vice versa?

Mr. Faguy: In some areas, for instance in reception, there has
been some staff training relating with the parole officers. As I
mentioned, we think there are ways and means to improve the close
liaison and co-operation between the two services. I have met with
the chairman of the Parole Board, and we have agreed to study this
specifically, to go to our field people and ask them for suggestions

and try to get in a better program with closer liaison and
co-operation.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, before we adjourn, I would like
to have an opportunity to thank Mr. Faguy. I should point out to
the committee that Mr. Faguy is taking his first holiday in four
years. We wish you a happy vacation, Mr. Faguy, and, in saying this,
may I express the hope that you have made special arrangements for
the custody of Mr. Geoffroy when he returns?

Mr. Faguy: I have no comment, sir.

The committee adjourned.
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Appendix “A”

A PRESENTATION TO THE
STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL
* AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS

by

P.A. Faguy

Commissioner
Canadian Penitentiary Service

Mr. Chairman, Honourable Senators:

I am happy to have this opportunity to provide you with the
views of the Canadian Penitentiary Service in relation to its role in
the administration of the Parole Act and the implications for
individualized treatment and training programs for inmates.

The provisions of the Canadian Penitentiary Act and Regulations
in relation to the treatment and training of inmates are in many
respects allied to and linked with the provisions of the Parole Act in
achieving what I am certain is the mutual objective of both Services,
namely, the successful social re-integration of offenders as law-
abiding and productive citizens.

The importance of close liaison and cooperation not only
between the Canadian Penitentiary Service and National Parole
Service, but also between officials along the whole continuum in the
administration of Criminal Justice is considered vital if the total
system is to operate in an efficient and effective way.

There should be a pre-disposition report and a judge’s report
which should properly form part of the correctional record of an
offender and be made available to correctional authorities. It would
be extremely helpful if the Judge could set forth reasons for the
sentence imposed. Such information would greatly assist the
offender, the Canadian Penitentiary Service and National Parole
Service to plan an individualized program in line with the needs of
the inmate and the “reasons” for the sentence as outlined by the
Judge.

I 'support fully the position of the Canadian Committee on Correc-
tions, with reference to the concept of parole being seen as an
integral part of the correctional process and the acknowledgement
that “treatment demands continuity and flexibility, including
flexibility in determining whether a particular individual should
spend all or part of his sentence in the community or in an
institution. Treatment demands a coordination of knowledge about
the individual offender.”

If one accepts the view that parole is a continuation of correc-
tional treatment and the function of the Board is to determine the
portion of the sentence which is to be spent in the community and
the kind of control and supervision which will be needed, the
implications of another recommendation of the Canadian

Committee on Corrections, namely, that dealing with administrative
union of the Canadian Penitentiary Service and National Parole
Service can be seen as a valid proposition.

In addition to facilitating the development of unified correc-
tional policy and programs and the attendant benefits to treatment
and training of inmates, there would be increased potential for more
effective use of staff, improved career planning and opportunities
for advancement.

For the inmates there would be greater continuity of appraisal,
treatment and program planning. The result would be a blend of
professional staff from the National Parole Service coupled with the
practical institutional experience of Penitentiary staff. Finally, there
would be basic savings as a result of common personnel and
financial services, office services and some common staff pools.

The Canadian Committee on Corrections in relation to its
recommendation for administrative union of the Penitentiary and
Parole Services observed:

“The need for a coordinated service from the admission of the
offender to penitentiary to final release from parole or statutory
conditional release should also be expressed in the administrative
organization of the correctional services that are the responsibil-
ity of the Government of Canada.

Many aspects of these two services could be coordinated. Staff
training could be carried on jointly. The pre-release hostels being
opened by the Penitentiary Service might also serve parolees.
Joint plans for citizen participation are indicated. It is suggested
that a Director of Corrections within the Department of the
Solicitor General should be appointed to administer both these
services.” The major provincial correctional systems are or-
ganized along similar lines.

The Manual of Correctional Standards issued by the American
Correctional Association has the following to say about coordina-
tion of institutions and parole (pp. 35-6):

“Another step toward the fullest practicable coordination of a
state’s correctional services is to integrate institutions and parole
as far as possible. This is wholly logical, since the period spent in
the institution and that on parole are part of the same sentence,
one of the institution’s chief missions is to prepare prisoners for
parole, the success or failure on parole depends in large part on
the quality of that preparation. The chief reason why parole and
institution systems have not been more closely coordinated
administratively in the past is that integration of services with a
mutual function has been sacrificed to ensure parole boards the
maximum of independence in their quais-judicial decisions to
grant and revoke paroles.

Examples of jurisdictions where institutions and parole are in the
same department, with adequate previsions for independence of
the paroling authority, are the U.S. Department of Justice; the
New Jersey Department of Institutions and Agencies; Division of
Corrections, Wisconsin Department of Public Welfare; the
Michigan Department of Corrections; and the California Depart-
ment of Corrections. It can be stated categorically that this type
of administrative setup is feasible and economical, and promotes
proper coordination of institutional and parole services.” Similar
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patterns exist in the more progressive correctional systems in
Europe.

In 1967, the Management Consultants firm of P. S. Ross &
Partners recommended, after investigation, a number of changes in
the basic organizational design for the Solicitor General Depart-
ment.

Referring to the long range organization of the Department, the
objectives were as follows:

“To establish the National Parole Board as an independent
quasi-judicial and advisory body.

To provide for the organizational integration of correctional
programs at headquarters.

To continue the development of the regional and program
units.”

The Report suggested that the major changes of the reorgani-
zation would take place at the headquarters level of the Correctional
Services. The Parole Service would no longer report to the Chairman
of the National Parole Board, but to a new Director of Corrections.

Ross, in making its recommendation for an integrated organi-
zation for correctional programs within the Department, found
particularly interesting an extract from a lecture given in Toronto
by Professor Norval R. Morris, Director of the Centre for Studies in
Criminal Justice, University of Chicago Law School, as follows:

“...If the view of the evolution of prison I have offered is
broadly correct, certain inexorable organization consequences
flow from it for correctional services. The link between
institutional and non-institutional correctional processes grows
closer and requires over-all planning . .. It is hard to plan wisely
for such continuous institutional and post-institutional correc-
tional processes. .. unless there is the closest of ties between
those responsible for these services.”

... There should be a Director of Corrections . . . with respon-
sibility for the treatment of all convicted offenders... ™

“...Perhpas it is an overstatement to urge that this is the only
possible administrative structure capable of achieving these
uncontested ideals of continuity of treatment. It is often alleged
that close liaison between collaborating independent agencies
can achieve this result; some years of close observation of
correctional practice in Australia, the United Kingdom, the
United States and several Asian countries where such friendly
cooperation between separate departments is claimed has led me
to a contrary view.”

In recognition of the principle of integration and coordination
of individualized treatment and training programs for inmates, the
Canadian Penitentiary Service and the Parole Service have been
actively involved in developing practical applications of the principle
since July, 1970. The first such exercise took place in Alberta when
we entered into agreement with the Parole Service whereby parole
officers of the Edmonton and Calgary Offices in Alberta interview
all persons sentenced by the Courts of that province to two years or
more. Using predetermined criteria, the parole officer decides the
initial placement of the convicted person as to whether he should be
directed to the maximum security penitentiary at Prince Albert or
the medium security institution at Drumheller. This early involve-

ment-by the parole officer provides both the Penitentiary Service
and the Parole Service with accurate detailed information which is
helpful in planning a suitable training program in the institution and
in long-range planning for possible release on parole. The Parole
Service officer completes part one of the cumulative summary while
institutional classification officers subsequently complete part 2A,
for the information of the Parole Service. The awareness of the
inmate of the early involvement of the Parole Service in discussing
and planning with the institutional authorities and the inmate
himself, a program based upon his needs, implies a commitment on
the part of the inmate if he wishes to be successful in obtaining
parole. This kind of three-way involvement, by its very nature,
embodies informal monitoring features available to the three parties.
The highly satisfactory results of this initial project have led to the
decision to extend the procedure to the Atlantic Provinces and to
Saskatchewan and Manitoba. Planning meetings have already been
held in these regions.

Discussions have also taken place with the Parole Service, in
relation to Day Parole and Temporary Absence. Day Parole is
granted under the authority of the Parole Act while Temporary
Absence is granted under the authority of the Penitentiary Act. In
the past, each Service has exercised its prerogative independently
under the appropriate legislation, Efforts to have the collective
judgement of appropriate members of both Services prevail when
the absence is likely to be part of a community program extending
beyond fifteen days, should result in a more effective application of
the correctional principle involved in the development of commu-
nity based programs. To enhance and ensure further cooperation, it
would be helpful if a parole officer could be posted in each
institution.

Temporary Absences have increased sharply since 1969 when
6,278 were granted to 1971 when 30,299 were granted; over 50 per
cent of this number is for employment and education purposes. The
failure rate while on Temporary Absence is running at less than 1
per cent. 81 per cent of those on extended Temporary Absence are
employed in the community. 65 per cent of this number had
applied for parole and 20 per cent were granted parole. This
information is based on a relatively small, but nonetheless represent-
ative sample of Temporary Absences.

Concern has frequently been expressed in relation to the high
prison population in Canada, The Canadian Committee on Correc-
tions recommended that every effort should be made to reduce the
prison population and recommended the use of alternatives to
prison in the administration of sentencing policy. Increased use of
probation facilities and the use of parole have been emphasized. In
the field of probation, Parliament has, by way of the Omnibus Bill
of 1968-69, given effect to recommendations concerning probation.
In the field of parole, also, several of the Committee’s recommen-
dations have been implemented. Bill C-218, dealing with arrest and
bail has also helped in this regard.

The Treatment and Training Programs currently being developed
in the institutions operated by the Canadian Penitentiary Service
place heavy emphasis on the utilization of professional staff in staff
development programs and in supervision of lay staff who are being
increasingly involved in and given responsibility for elements of
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inmate training programs. We are introducing the Living Unit Con-
cept of staff employment, which breaks down the inmate popula-
tion into small groups with the assignment of a staff team to each
group on a permanent basis. The main goals of this program are to
improve communication between staff and inmates, acceptance of
self-responsibility by inmates, shared participation in planning pro-
grams, and to provide a climate which will enhance treatment. The
type of environment which this program will foster should aid in the
inmate’s personality growth and development through increased
responsibility and cooperative action. It is hoped that physical/
custodial requirements will be lessened as relationships are esta-
blished — i.e., external control will be replaced by self-control,
which carries over to community situations when the inmate is
released. The staff team will be composed of classification officers
and correctional officers. The team will have responsibility for the
management of the individual programs for each inmate in the
Living Unit, including discipline, earned remission, pay, visiting,
temporary absence and parole recommendations.

The development and utilization of community resources in
inmate training programs are being facilitated greatly by the forma-
tion of Citizen Advisory Committees and the increasing involvement
of volunteers who make important and valuable contributions, not
only in the community, but also by visiting the institutions and
enhancing the content and value of the social and cultural aspects of
institutional programs. More than ten thousand citizens have been
visiting our institutions on a regular basis to participate in a wide
variety of programs designed to prepare the inmate for his ultimate
return to the community. For example, at Beaver Creek, the Advi-
sory Committee includes the Mayor of Gravenhurst, and inmate
drawn from the Inmate Committee, an ex-inmate who is now a
successful business man and a number of leading citizens. They meet
at least once a month and on quarterly basis, they have meetings
with the total population of the institution, including inmates and
staff. With the help of the Citizens Committee, the inmates and the
local Ski Association run a successful ski resort.

Inmate pay scales are currently being studied with a view to
bringing them more in line with the minimum wage prevailing in the
community. A pilot project has already been approved at William
Head, where an inmate training building will be constructed using
inmate labour and paying the minimum wage. In such circum-
stances, however, inmates will be asked to pay reasonable charges
for room and board and clothing. The usual deductions for income
tax, hospitalization and unemployment insurance benefits will also
be applicable to those in receipt of wages or salary equal to or
exceeding the prevailing minimum wage rates. Under these circum-
stances, an inmate will be able to accumulate a reasonable nestegg
for the day of his release, while at the same time he will be able to
build up unemployment insurance credits which will stand him in
good stead, should he be unsuccessful in obtaining employment
immediately after release.

A new project has just been approved which will provide for the
first time a formal Life Skills Course for inmates who are in need of
additional knowledge and training in problem solving behaviours.
This course has been adapted to the correctional setting with the
assistance of the Saskatchewan NewStart Corporation.

Another innovation relates to academic and occupational up-
grading at Collins Bay Institution. A contract has been negotiated
with St. Lawrence Community College to provide for the total
requirement for academic upgrading in addition to a number of
polytechnical courses. Changing job market requirements frequently
dictate the necessity of short-term or specialty training. Under the
contract basis, the Service is able to maintain a much higher degree
of flexibility in meeting the needs of inmates at any given time. It
would appear that the motivation and interest of inmates is
maintained at a higher level by the presence of instructors who are
not part of the institutional establishment. The drop-out rate has
been reduced by two-thirds of the traditional rate. Similar contrac-
tual arrangements, on a smaller scale, are in effect at several other
locations in the country. For example, Commission Scolaire
Régionale de Missisquoi (Cowansville).

I think it may be of interest to mention also an example of a
cooperative arrangement with Industry and the National Parole
Service. I refer to the Metal Fabrication Course, conducted by
Douglas Aircraft, at Warkworth Institution. Trainees were pre-
selected by a joint committee of the Parole Service and the
Penitentiary Service, in order that trainees might be granted parole
in principle prior to embarking upon the three-month course. This
project worked out very well and notwithstanding the lull in the
aircraft industry as the course neared completion, a substantial
number of trainees obtained employment with the firm. A second
course, commenced within the last few days, will be patterned along
similar lines as the first. In the Quebec Region, there are a number
of similar endeavours involving Industry, Parole Service and the
Penitentiary Service.

Mention should be made of the important contributions of the
private after-care agencies in relation to the development of
correctional programs within the institutions and in the community
and also in relation to their contributions in public education and
the development of a body of public opinion and attitudes which
permit of experimentation and progress in the whole Criminal
Justice system. I think it is now an accepted fact that the after-care
services, both of a counselling and residential nature, are being
recognized as an essential part of the correctional system. It is with
satisfaction also that we note that the government has accepted the
recommendation of the Canadian Committee on Corrections in
recognizing the need for a partnership with voluntary agencies and
that the partnership involves a major direct service function on the
part of the voluntary agencies in relation to the government
correctional services.

Corrections is a continuum from the police to the courts to the
institutions and ultimately parole—each part has its continuing
effect on the whole. No parole system can rise above the
institutional program that precedes it.

Although about 80% of inmates in federal institutions have been
in some correctional institution before, approximately only 43%
have ever been in penitentiary previously and returned to peniten-
tiary. Much has been said about recidivism rates indicating they
point to a failure of the institution. On the contrary, it is possible to
indicate that if the total correctional system including probation
and parole is operating as it should be, then the fact that there is a
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high proportion of “recidivists” within the institution only empha-
sizes that the total system is functioning effectively. Daniel Glaser’s
book entitled “The Effectiveness of a Prison and Parole System”
contains the following pertinent observations which I quote:

“The proportion of releasees returned to prison tends to be
higher:
a. where probation is used extensively, so that only the worst
risks go to prison (although this use of probation may make
the long-run recidivism of all felons lower);

b. where parole is used extensively, so that many poor-risk
parolees are released on a trial basis;

c. where a large proportion of parolees are returned to prison
when they have violated parole regulations but have not been
charged with or convicted of new felonies.”

“It is the prevailing opinion in corrections that the public is best
protected from crimes by released prisoners by:

(1) sentencing and parole policies which enable most pris-
oners to leave prison by parole rather than by outright
discharge;

(2) an optimum amount of surveillance of parolees, rather
than none at all or a gross excess (as well as more positive
supervision functions, of course, such as counselling and
assistance);

(3) some revocation of parole for nonfelonious behaviour.”
However, the more these three policies are adopted, the
greater will be the proportion of released prisoners returned
to prison.

I would suggest that the future of corrections lies more and more
in the community, where the inmate must one day return to take
his place as a law-abiding and productive citizen. In the meantime,
he remains a citizen and the institution should be seen as part of not
apart from the community. He must develop an understanding and
an appreciation of the social and economic context within which he
must live his life in harmony with his fellow citizens, For these
reasons, I suggest that the course upon which we are presently
embarked is the correct one. However, I realize there remains much
to be done in developing community focused correctional programs
since traditions and attitudes are sometimes slow to change.
Rehabilitation of the criminal is the surest and most economical
way of achieving our objective of the protection of society. The best
protection of society is rehabilitation.
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Appendix “B”
TEMPORARY ABSENCES

I The total number of Temporary Absences granted for

1969 — 6,278

1970 — 18,008

1971 — 30,299
Total no. of Temporary Absences granted for the 3 year period

— 54,585
II Number of Temporary Absences granted by reason for the period September 1971 — December 1971.
Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. TOTAL

Visit Wife 130 203 152 228 713
Visit Family 385 333 303 1473 2494
Visit Friend 101 121 130 277 629
University Educ. 20 60 59 26 165
Technical Educ. 142 129 158 79 508
Other Educ. 69 121 178 52 420
Specialized Programs, i.e. AA,

X-Kalay, Native Brotherhood,

Religious Services 142 580 845 590 2157
Transition to Community 378 205 158 254 995
Work Release 514 469 866 543 2392
Job Seeking 93 297 109 85 584
Sports, participant 341 118 7 123 699
Sports, spectator 35 11 74 48 168
Family Marriage 7 7 10 4 28
Family Illness 34 28 24 25 111
Family Death 10 23 15 17 65
Other Family Occasions 10 11 12 7 40
Medical 41 76 32 39 188
Psychiatric 8 9 15 6 45

TOTAL 2460 2801 3257 3883 12401



2% 30 Legal and Constitutional Affairs March 8, 1972
III Number of Inmates failing to return from Temporary Absence for the period September 1971 — December 1971.
Sept. Oct. Nov. Bec; TOTAL
ATLANTIC REGION 1 1 1 - 3
QUEBEC REGION 2 3 1 4 10
ONTARIO REGION 21 12 6 13 52
WESTERN REGION 5 5 7 8 25
TOTAL 29 21 15 25 90
TOTAL T.A.”S GRANTED 2,460 2,801 3,257 3,883 12,401‘
% of Inmates Failing to Return 1.2% 0.75% 0.46% 0.64% 0.73%
(% of (Approx. (Approx. (Approx.
1%) % of 2/3 of % of
1%) 1%) 1%)
IV Number of known crimes committed while on T.A. for the period September 1971 — December 1971.
Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. TOTAL
ATLANTIC REGION A 9 2 ) 2
QUEBEC REGION - - 1 - 1
ONTARIO REGION 2 1 = 4 7
WESTERN REGION 2 2 1 - 5
TOTAL -+ 5 2 4 55
TOTAL T.A.’S GRANTED 2,460 2,801 3,257 3,883 12,401

Percentage of offenders per number of T.A.’S

SEPTEMBER — 0.16% approx. 1/6 of 1%
OCTOBER - 0.18% approx. 1/5 of 1%
NOVEMBER - 0.06% Less than 1/10 of 1%
DECEMBER - 0.1% 1/10 of 1%

Overall average for four months — 0.12% approx. 1/8 of 1%
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V Temporary Absence statistics relative to those offenders serving a sentence of life — an indefinite sentence — dangerous offenders.
No. of
Dangerous
No. of No. of No. of No. of Sexual No. of Total
Lifers T.A’s Indefinite T.A.’s Offenders T.A.’s T.A’s
TOTAL BY REGIONS
ATLANTIC REGION
Max. Security 4 18 - - 1 6 24
Med. Security 8 61 — - 1 6 67
Min. Security 9 149 - - - - 149
SUB-TOTAL 21 228 - - 2 12 240
QUEBEC REGION
Max. Security 3 4 - - - - 4
Med. Security 36 99 5 21 - - 120
Min. Security 2 14 — - - - 14
SUB-TOTAL 41 117 5 21 - - 138
£ ONTARIO REGION
‘ Max. Security 6 42 = = 1 1 43
Med. Security 27 641 — - 1 3 644
Min. Security 9 237 1 2 3 59 298
SUB-TOTAL 42 920 1 2 5 63 985
WESTERN REGION
} Max. Security 7 51 3 6 7 47 104
] Med. Security 46 3497 11 260 7 58 3815
L} Min. Security 15 526 3 25 4 153 704
SUB-TOTAL 68 4074 17 291 18 258 4623
TOTAL 112 5339 23 314 25 333 5986
TOTAL By Security
Classification of
All Regions
Max. Security 20 115 3 6 9 54 175
Med. Security 107 4298 16 281 9 67 4646
Min. Security 35 926 4 27 7 212 1165
TOTAL 172 5339 23 314 25 333 5986
VI A typical day (November 30, 1971) illustrating the reasons for granting Temporary Absences to inmates receiving this privilege on a
regular basis.
Employment 146
Educational Purposes 69
Other 68
TOTAL 283

Amended by G. Surprenant—February 23, 1972
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Number of known crimes committed while on T.A. for the period September 1971 — December 1971.

Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec TOTAL

ATLANTIC REGION = 2 — - 2
QUEBEC REGION T = 1 - 1
ONTARIO REGION 3 1 o 2 6
WESTERN REGION 3 2 L1 = 6

TOTAL 6 5 9.4 15
DETAILS
SEPTEMBER 1971

Ontario Region (3) a) armed robbery and forgery

b) common assault
c¢) car theft and possession of offensive weapon

Western Region (3) a) break and enter
b) forgering and uttering
c) break, enter and theft

OCTOBER 1971

Atlantic Region (2) a) break, enter and theft
theft of motor vehicle
mischief causing danger to lives
taking motor vehicle without owner’s consent
unlawfully at large
b) break, enter and intent to commit

Ontario Region (1) a) discharging a dangerous weapon (held in custody in U.S.A.)
Western Region (2) a) drunkness
b) impaired driving (see note below)

NOVEMBER 1971

Quebec Region (1) a) non-capital murder (1874 — SANSCOUCY, J.G.)

Western Region (1) a) robbery with violence, theft of auto,
unlawfully at large

DECEMBER 1971

Ontario Region (2) a) theft of over $50.00
b) car theft

NOTE: One of theinmates concerned was serving a life sentence for capital murder, i.e. 3507 — TURNER, F.M. from Matsqui Institution.
While on temporary absence leave, he was charged with impaired driving.
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APPENDIX “C”

REPORT ON INMATES SERVING
LIFE, INDEFINITE SENTENCES OR CLASSIFIED AS
DANGEROUS SEXUAL OFFENDERS
WHO HAVE BEEN GRANTED
TEMPORARY ABSENCES UP TO
JANUARY 1972

SUMMARY

1. A total of 220 inmates serving life, indefinite sentences, or
classified as dangerous sexual offenders were granted 5,986
Temporary Absences with 12 negative incidents occurring.

Negative Incidents while on T.A.

St. Vincent de Paul

One inmate unlawfully at large

Federal Training Centre

One inmate returned to the institution inebriated

Collins Bay Institution

(a) One inmate unlawfully at large

(b) One inmate was involved with an ex-inmate

(c) One inmate failed to adhere to regulations

Joyceville Farm Annex

One inmate was apprehended in a city other than the destination of
his Temporary Absence

Beaver Creek

One minor incident occurred

Saskatchewan

One inmate found in a beer parlour

24755—3

British Columbia Penitentiary

One inmate unlawfully at large

William Head

One inmate returned late

Agassiz

(a) One inmate was found drinking and returned to Maximum
Security

(b) One inmate had a misunderstanding with his girl friend’s mother
over his relationship with her daughter

2. Of the 5,986 Temporary Absences granted, 694 Temporary
Absences were with escort and 5,292 Temporary Absences were
without escort.

3. During the years 1968 to January 1972, a total of 8,374% days
leave were granted.

(a) Unlawfully at large -3
(b) Returned to institution inebriated -2
(c) Involved with ex-inmates -1
(d) Failed to adhere to regulations -1
(e) Inmate was apprehended in a city other than

destination of his Temporary Absence -1
(f) Minor incident -1
(g) Inmate found in a beer parlour -1
(h) Inmate returned late -1
(i) Inmate had a misunderstanding with his girl friend’s

mother -1



No. of No. of No. of | Total Negative Total
Tempo- Tempo-| No. of | Tempo- | Tempo- Escort Incidents Number of Days
rary | No.of | rary |Dangerous| rary rary While on
No. of | Ab- |Indefi-| Ab- Sexual Ab- Ab- With- | Temporary
Lifers | sences | nite | sences | Offenders | sences | sences | With out | Absence | 1968 | 1969 | 1970| 1971 | 1972 | TOTAL
Total by Regions
ATLANTIC REGION
Maximum Security 4 18 - - 1 6 24 13 11 Nil - - 10 36 —- 46
Medium Security 8 61 - - 1 6 67 23 24 Nil - 4 12 151 42 209
Minimum Security 9 149 - - - - 149 30 119 Nil - 6 30 225 22 283
SUB-TOTAL 21 228 - - 2 12 240 66 174 Nil - 10 52 412 64 538
QUEBEC REGION
Maximum Security 3 4 - - - - 4 3 1 1 - - - 5 - 5
Medium Security 36 99 5 21 - - 120 48 72 1 - 18 18 178 14 228
Minimum Security 2 14 - - - - 14 1 13 - — 1 6 15 6 28
SUB-TOTAL 41 117 5 2% - - 138 52 86 2 — 19 24 198 20 261
ONTARIO REGION
Maximum Security 6 42 - - ] 1 43 -+ 39 - - - 5 85 21 111
Medium Security 27 641 - - 1 3 644 | 124 520 3 2 5212 785% 10 | 1014%
Minimum Security 9 237 1 3 59 298 o1 247 2 - 22} 175 166 11 374
SUB-TOTAL 42 920 1 5 63 985 179 806 5 2 27 | 392 |1036% 42 | 1499%
WESTERN REGION
Maximum Security 7 51 3 6 i 47 104 58 46 2 - 22 15 106%2 -+ 141%
Medium Security 46 | 3497 11 260 74 58 3815215230 | #3589 - 92 166 [1190%2| 3600 — | 5054%
Minimum Security 15 526 3 25 4 153 704 | 109 595 3 - 29 | 278 544 29 880%2
SUB-TOTAL 68 | 4074 1 291 18 258 4623 | 397 | 4226 5 92 217 (1483%:| 4250% 33 | 6076
TOTAL 172 | §339 23 314 25 333 5986 | 694 | 5292 12 94 273 [1951%2| 5897 159 | 8374%
Total by Security
Classification of
all Regions
Maximum Security 20 115 3 6 9 54 175 78 97 3 - 22 30 232% 23 3092
Medium Security 117 | 4298 16 281 9 67 4646 | 425 | 4221 e 94 193 [1432%| 4714% 66 | 6500
Minimum Security 35 926 e 27 7 212 1165 191 974 5 - 58 | 489 950 68 | 1565
TOTAL 172} 5339 23 314 25 333 5986 | 694 | 5292 12 94 273 [1951%| 5897 159 | 8374%
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No. of No. of| No. of | No.of | Total Negative Total
Tempo- Tempo{ Danger- | Tempo-| Tempo- Escort Incidents Number of Days
No. rary | No. of| rary ous rary rary While on
of Ab- | Indef-| Ab- Sexual Ab- Ab- With- | Temporary
ATLANTIC REGION | Lifers | sences | inite | sences |Offenders| sences | sences | With out Absence | 1968 | 1969 [ 1970 | 1971 | 1972 | TOTAL
Total by Institution
SPRINGHILL 8 61 - — F 6 67 23 44 Nil 4 12 151 42 209
DORCHESTER 4 18 - - 1 6 24 13 11 Nil - - 10 36 - 46
DORCHESTER FARM 5 29 — — - - 29 18 11 Nil - 1 8 25 4 38
BLUE MOUNTAIN 4 120 - - - - 120 12 108 Nil - 5 22 200 18 245
SUB-TOTAL 21 228 - - 2 12 240 66 174 Nil - 10 52 412 64 538
Total by Security
Classification
MAXIMUM SECURITY 4 18 - - 1 6 24 13 11 Nil - - 10 36 - 46
MEDIUM SECURITY 8 61 - - 1 6 67 23 44 Nil - 4 12 151 42 209
MINIMUM SECURITY 9 149 - - - - 149 30 119 Nil - 6 30 225 22 283
SUB-TOTAL 21 228 - - 2 12 240 66 174 Nil - 10 52 412 64 538
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No. of No. of No. of | Total Negative Total
Tempo- Tempo-| No. of [Tempo-|{Tempo- Escort Incidents Number of days
rary |No.of | rary |Dangerous| rary rary While on
No. of | Ab- |Indefi-| Ab- Sexual | Ab- Ab- With- | Temporary
QUEBEC REGION Lifers | sences | nite | sences |Offenders|sences |sences | With out Absence 1968 | 1969 | 1970 | 1971 | 1972 | TOTAL
Total by Institution
ST. V. DE PAUL 3 4 - — - - 4 3 1 [1Unlawfully, - - = 5 = 5
at Large
LAVAL MINIMUM
SEC. 2 14 — — - - 14 1 13 Nil - 1 6 15 6 28
FEDERAL TRNG. Returned
CENTRE i 14 - - — - 14 2 12 Inebriated - — . 19 14 34
LECLERC 20 64 5 21 - - 85 33 52 Nil - 18 15 126 - 159
ARCHAMBAULT - — - - - - - =~ - - — = - - - -
STE. ANNE
DES PLAINES — - - — - - - - = - — - - - - -
COWANSVILLE 9 21 — - — — 21 13 8 Nil — - 2 33 - 35
S.C.U. (QUE) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
ST. HUBERT
CENTRE - - - - = - - o - - = - - — - —
SUB-TOTAL 41 117 5 21 - - 138 52 86 2 - 19 24 198 20 261
Total by Security
Classification
MAXIMUM SECURITY 3 4 — — - - 4 3 1 1 - - - 5 - 5
MEDIUM SECURITY 36 99 5 21 - - 120 48 72 1 - 18 18 178 14 228
MINIMUM SECURITY 2 14 - — — - 14 1 i3 — - 1 6 15 6 28
SUB-TOTAL 41 117 3 21 - - 138 32 86 2 - 19 24 198 20 261
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No. of No. of No. of | Total Negative Total
Tempo- Tempo-| No. of |Tempo-|Tempo- Escort Incidents Number of days
rary |No.of | rary |Dangerous rary rary While on
No.of | Ab- |[Indefi-| Ab- Sexual | Ab- Ab- With- | Temporary
WESTERN REGION Lifers | sences | nite | sences |Offenders|sences | sences | With out Absence 1968 | 1969 | 1970 |1971 (1972 | TOTAL
Total by Institution
STONY MOUNTAIN 4 12 1 1 1 7 20 12 8 Nil - 6 1 14 - 21
STONY MOUNTAIN
FARM S 49 1 3 - - 52 2 50 Nil - 1 1t 74 4 90
SASKATCHEWAN 1 30 2 5 1 3 38 3 35 |Found in Beer| — - - 39 3 42
Parlour
SASKATCHEWAN
FARM - - - - - — - - - - - - - - - —
DRUMHELLER 16 1047 ) 7 - - 1054 6 | 1048 Nil 92 165 304 651 - 1212
BRITISH COLUMBIA 6 21 1 1 6 44 66 3 11 | 1 Escaped - 16 15 67% 1 99%:
WILLIAM HEAD 4 114 1 9 1 2 125 31 94 4 Late - 9 108 111 - 228
Returns
MATSQUI — MALE i3 2041 3 216 1 8 | 2265 210 | 2055 Nil - - 558 1996 - 2554
MOUNTAIN PRISON 13 397 6 36 5 43 476 2 474 Nil - 1 327% | 939 - 1267
AGASSIZ 3 135 1 13 2 35 183 32 151 | 2 Negative - 11 121 117 - 249
Incidents
OSBORNE CENTRE 1 151 - - 1 116 267 30 237 Nil - 6 25 198 25 254
WEST GEORGIA
CENTRE 2 71 - - - - 77 14 63 Nil - 2 13 44 - 59
SUB-TOTAL 68 4074 <) 291 18 258 | 4623 397 | 4226 5 92 217 | 1483% |4250% | 33 6076
Total by Security
Classification
MAXIMUM SECURITY 7 51 3 6 7 47 104 58 46 2 - 22 15 106% 4 141%
MEDIUM SECURITY 46 3497 11 260 7 58 3815 230 | 3585 - 92 166 1190%| 3600 - 5054Y%
MINIMUM SECURITY | 15 526 - 23 4 153 704 109 595 3 - 29 278 544 | 29 880
SUB-TOTAL 68 4074 17 291 18 258 | 4623 397 | 4226 5 92 247, 1483%:| 4250%| 33 6076
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No. of No. of No. of | Total Negative Total
Tempo- Tempo-| No. of [Tempo-|Tempo- Escort Incidents Number of Days
rary | No. of| rary [Dangerous| rary rary While on
No. of] Ab- |Indefi-| Ab- Sexual Ab- Ab- With- | Temporary
ONTARIO REGION |Lifters| sences | nite | sences |Offenders|sences |sences | With out Absence 1968 | 1969 | 1970 | 1971 | 1972 | TOTAL
Total by Institution
KINGSTON 2 2 - - 1 1 3 - 3 Nil - - - 10 1 11
MILLHAVEN - - - - - - - - - Nil - - - - - -
PRISON FOR WOMEN 4 40 - - = - 40 4 36 Nil - - 5 75 20 100
COLLINS BAY & 564 - - - - 564 71 493 | 3 Negative 2 5 199 649 - 855
Incidents
COLLINS BAY FARM 1 4 - - 1 15 19 - 19 Nil - - - 28 - 28
LANDRY CROSSING 2 93 - - - - 93 -+ 89 Nil - 19 88 - 10 117
BEAVER CREEK 2 17, 1 2 - - 19 6 13 1 Minor - - 10 23 1 34
Incident
JOYCEVILLE 8 30 - - 1 3 33 15 18 Nil - - 1% 67 6 74%
JOYCEVILLE FARM 4 123 - - 2 L 167 41 126 | 1 Negative - 3 77 115 - 195
Incident
WARKWORTH 8 47 - - - - 47 38 9 Nil - - 11% 69% 4 85
MONTGOMERY
CENTRE - - - — - - - - = o - = = = = =
SUB-TOTAL 42 920 1 2 5 63 985 179 806 5 2 27 392 |1036%| 42 1499%
Total by Security
Classification
MAXIMUM SECURITY 6 42 - - 1 1 43 4 39 — - - 5 85 21 111
MEDIUM SECURITY 2 641 - - d 3 644 124 520 3 2 5 212 785%| 10 1014%
MINIMUM SECURITY 9 237 1 2 3 59 298 b | 247 2 - 22 175 166 11 374
SUB-TOTAL 42 920 1 2 D 63 985 179 806 5 2 27 392 |1036%2| 42 1499%

8¢

SIEJJY [EUONNITISUOD) PUE B3]

TL6T ‘8 ydre



March 8, 1972 Legal and Constitutional Affairs 2:39
APPENDIX “D”
Institutions and Inmate Population
Fiscal Years 1966-1967 to 1970-1971
Inmates on Register
1966-67 1967-68 1968-69 1969-70 1970-71
Atlantic Provinces
Newfoundland 15 15 19 18 10 Maximum
Dorchester Penitentiary 521 402 364 329 354 Maximum
Dorchester Farm Annex 72 64 59 v f 52 Minimum
Blue Mountain Correctional Camp 85 35 34 52 45 Minimum
Springhill Institution (Med.) - 95 127 206 252 | Medium
Springhill Institution (Min.) 52 80 62 — - Minimum
TOTAL 745 691 665 676 f e
Quebec Province
St. Vincent de Paul Penitentiary 860 769 808 431 316 Maximum
Laval Minimum Institution 157 139 130 95 103 Minimum
St. Vincent de Paul Farm Annex 68 73 82 61 - Minimum
Federal Training Centre 288 299 289 288 333 Medium
Leclerc Institution 407 432 453 458 457 Medium
Valleyfield Correctional Camp 99 45 - - — Minimum
Gatineau Correctional Camp 43 32 - - - Minimum
Cowansville Institution 154 164 244 353 411 Medium
Archambault Institution - - 28 225 385 Maximum
Ste Anne des Plaines Minimum Security - - - 59 70 Minimum
Special Correctional Unit - 27 62 82 51 | Maximum
St. Hubert Centre - - 16 14 21 Minimum
TOTAL 2076 1980 2079 2066 2147
Ontario Province
Kingston Penitentiary 853 757 696 715 684 | Maximum
; Collins Bay Penitentiary 439 434 445 392 366 Medium
é; Collins Bay Farm Annex 90 82 81 83 93 Minimum
iy Beaver Creek Correctional Camp 59 59 67 74 80 Minimum
il Landry Crossing Correctional Camp 60 45 56 64 48 Minimum
| Joyceville Institution 448 443 430 439 423 Medium
Joyceville Farm Annex 72 67 84 86 54 Minimum
Warkworth Institution - 92 143 220 303 Medium
Prison for Women 81 74 74 62 88 Maximum
Montgomery Centre - - s 3 15 Minimum
TOTAL 2102 2053 2076 2138 2154

P S = T
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1966-67 1967-68 1968-69 1969-70 1970-71
Prairie Provinces
Manitoba Penitentiary 409 408 347 - — | Maximum
Manitoba Penitentiary Sy — — 372 380 Medium
Manitoba Farm Annex 78 67 106 105 89 Minimum
Osborne Centre = I 15 13 15 Minimum
Saskatchewan Penitentiary 617 577 593 457 379 Maximum
Saskatchewan Farm Annex 85 83 79 67 57 Minimum
Drumbheller Institution - 88 141 259 359 Medium
TOTAL 1189 1223 1281 1273 1279
British Columbia Province
British Columbia Penitentiary 520 547 499 524 515 Maximum
William Head Institution 137 136 123 138 110 | Minimum
Matsqui Institution (Male) 162 186 196 279 300 | Medium
Matsqui Institution (Female) 32 36 38 37 — | Medium
Agassiz Correctional Camp 86 58 62 59 58 | Minimum
Mountain Prison (Douk’s) 14 8 6 - - Medium
Mountain Prison (Other) 122 139 136 174 173 Medium
West Georgia Centre - - - 11 15 Minimum
TOTAL 1073 1110 1060 1222 1171
GRAND TOTAL 7185 7057 7161 7375 7464
By Type of Security
1966-67 1967-68 1968-69 1969-70 1970-71
Maximum Security 3876 | 54% 3576 | 51% 3490 | 49% 2843 39% 2782 | 37%
Medium Security 2066 29 2416 34 2615 36 34717 47 3757 50
Minimum Security 1243 17. 1065 15 1056 15 1055 14 925 13
TOTAL 7185 | 100% 7057 | 100% 7161 | 100% 7375 | 100% 7464 | 100%

Prepared by W. Bellman
10 FEB 72.
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APPENDIX “E”

INDIANS AND THE CANADIAN PENITENTIARY SERVICE

Approximately 8% of our total inmate population is of Indian
ethnic origin.

However, in the four Western provinces, the percentage is
considerably higher, ranging from 10% to 26% of the population
of a given penitentiary.

The percentage of the population of Indian or Métis is as
follows:

Percentage of Indian

Institution or Métis Population*
Manitoba Penitentiary 25
Saskatchewan Penitentiary 26
Drumheller 16.4
B.C. Penitentiary 10
William Head 15
Matsqui 10
Agassiz 20
Mountain Prison 12

*These percentages are based on reports from CPS officials and
represent only those inmates who acknowledge having native
ancestry. It is estimated, for example, in the Saskatchewan
Penitentiary, that there are an additional 10 to 15 percent
of the population who probably do have native ancestry.

The Canadian Penitentiary Service is anxious to enter into
working relationships with Indian and Métis organizations. For
many years little, if anything, was done in this area. However,
within the last 12 months we have, by way of example, done the
following:

1. Manitoba

The Canadian Penitentiary Service, along with the National
Parole Service and Departmental Headquarters Correctional
Consultation Centre, is developing, with the help of the Indian and
Métis organizations within the Province of Manitoba, a
demonstration project to provide visiting and consultation services
to Indian and Métis inmates at Stony Mountain Institution; the
establishment of a Halfway House; and, the development of Indian
and Métis Parole Supervisors.

March 9, 1972.

2. Alberta

As a pilot project, we have a member of the Native Counselling
Services of Alberta, Mr. Chester Cunningham, established in our
Drumbheller Institution, to serve the Indian and Métis inmates of
that institution, as well as performing as a Liaison Officer between
them and Indian and Métis groups in the community.

3. British Columbia

Through the B.C. Council of Indian Chiefs and Mr. Clarence
Dennis, their Legal Programs Officer, we are helping to finance and
will participate in, a special planning seminar, to be held later this
month, with the express purpose of developing a cooperative,
coordinated program for Indians and Métis who are either inmates
or parolees.

In addition, we have taken under contract, Mr. Earl Allard,
formerly of X-kalay and an Indian ex-inmate, to serve as a
consultant on institutional programs for Indian and Métis inmates.

We are concerned that there are not more Indian and Métis
members on our staff. We conducted a special recruiting and
training program, for approximately 40 Indians, a little over a year
ago, 20 for the National Parole Service and 20 for the Canadian
Penitentiary Service.

We have been able to retain 11 out of the 20. Their location and
function is as follows:
Stony Mountain Institution

1 — CX2 — Custodial Officer
2 — WP1 — Guidance Officer

Saskatchewan

3 — CX2 — Custodial Officers
Drumbheller Institution

3 — CX2 — Custodial Officers
William Head Institution

1 — CX1 — Custodial Officer
2 — WP1 — Guidance Officer
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APPENDIX “F”

NUMBER of psychiatrists now working in
Canadian Penitentiary Service

Full-time | Part-time | Contract | TOTAL
ATLANTIC REGION nil nil 4 4
QUEBEC REGION 2 1 i 5
ONTARIO REGION v nil 5 7
PRAIRIE REGION 1 1 1 3
PACIFIC REGION  § nil 2 3
TOTAL 6 2 14 22
APPENDIX “G”

AVERAGE MAINTENANCE COST PER INMATE
BY SECURITY TYPE, BASED ON ACTUAL EXPENDITURES

1966-67 1967-68 1968-69 1969-70 1970-71
TYPE OF SECURITY
MAXIMUM
MALE 6229 7580 7597 10393 11040
FEMALE (KINGSTON) 6706 9860 9570 11388 10491
AVERAGE COST 6240 7625 7636 10410 11027
MEDIUM
MALE 10929 11284 10218 8456 8480
FEMALE (MATSQUI) — — — 13026 32745
AVERAGE COST 10929 11284 10218 8521 8594
MINIMUM
MALE 3721 4106 5448 3814 5361
AVERAGE COST 3721 4106 5448 3814 5361
(see Note 2)
AVERAGE COST PER INMATE
ALL TYPES OF SECURITY 7380 8492 8389 8659 9140
(EXCLUDING ADMIN)
ADMINISTRATION OVERHEAD
INCLUDES OTTAWA HQ,
RHQ AND CSC (Note 1) 535 390 257 630 580
TOTAL AVERAGE COST PER INMATE 7915 8882 8646 9289 9720

NOTE 1: The Administration base varies due to changes in grouping of components over various years.

NOTE 2: The high average cost per inmate in minimum institutions for 1968-69 is primarily due to the opening of the community
Correctional Centres with high opening costs and low occupancy rates.

Published under authority of the Senate by the Queen’s Printer for Canada

Available from Information Canada, Ottawa, Canada.
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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate,
February 22, 1972:

With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator McDonald moved, seconded by
the Honourable Senator Croll:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and report
upon all aspects of the parole system in Canada;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers as may
be necessary for the purpose of the said examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so authorized
by the Committee, may adjourn from place to place inside or
outside Canada for the purpose of carrying out the said
examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on the
subject in the preceding session be referred to the Com-
mittee.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

Robert Fortier
Clerk of the Senate

247572



Minutes of Proceedings

Thursday, March 9, 1972.
(5)

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Senate Com-
mittee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs met this day at 10.00
a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Prowse (Chairman), Argue,
Buckwold, Croll, Fergusson, Goldenberg, Haig, McGrand and
Thompson—(9).

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Par-
liamentary Counsel; Mr. Pierre Godbout, Assistant Law Clerk and
Parliamentary Counsel; Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director; Mr.
Williams Earl Bailey and Mr. Patrick Doherty, Special Research
Assistants.

The Committee proceeded to the examination of the parole
system in Canada.

The following witnesses, representing the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police, were heard by the Committee:

Commissioner W. L. Higgitt;
Assistant Commissioner E. W. Willes, Director, Criminal
Investigations.

On motion of the Honourable Senator Haig it was Resolved to
include in this day’s proceedings the “Statement of the Role of the
Royal Canadian Mounted Police in the Administration of the Parole
Act” and ““Statistics relating to Warrants of Suspension, Revocation
and Forfeiture as issued pursuant to the Parole Act” both of which
were provided by Commissioner Higgitt. They are printed as Appen-
dices “A” and “B” respectively.

At 11.55 a.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the
Chairman.

ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional

Affairs

Evidence
Ottawa, Thursday, March 9, 1972.

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10.00 a.m. to examine the parole system in
Canada.

Senator J. Harper Prowse (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: Commissioner Higgitt, would you care to make
an opening statement?

Commissioner W. L. Higgitt, Royal Canadian Mounted Police:
Mr. Chairman, first of all I wish to say that we are very pleased to be
here. 1 would like to introduce my colleague, Assistant Com-
missioner Willes, Between us we may be able so answer any
questions that you have. If we cannot do so, we will certainly
undertake to provide the answers as soon as possible in written
form. You were kind enough to ask us to submit a brief, which we
did a week or two ago, and I believe you have copies before you.

Parole, generally, includes several facets, the Criminal Records
Act, the actual Parole Act and two or three other aspects which I
am sure you realize come under the umbrella of the Parole Board.

In so far as the responsibility of the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police is concerned, we really perform an assistance role. Some of
you may not know this, but in so far as parole is concerned it has
been a policy for many years that when a person is convicted of an
offence within our jurisdiction and sentenced to a penitentiary
term, which is basically two tears or more, our office, in whichever
area this occurs, automatically sends a report directly to the Parole
Board at that time. This is one of the documents which form the
Parole Board’s basic file and is submitted, as I say, automatically.

In addition to that, of course, we respond to requests of the
Parole Board for additional information with respect to individuals
under consideration for parole. We update reports, or endeavour to
meet in the best manner we can whatever request is received. That
applies basically also to the Criminal Records Act and to the various
categories within those two acts, such as remission of sentences of
various types and remission of the lifting of a driving permit. We can
be asked to report on the general reputation and background of the
person who has applied for restoration of his permit. We become
involved in other matters of that nature. There are several different
categories, but they eventually receive the same treatment. The
Parole Board asks us to assist basically in telling them the kind of
person with whom they are dealing and how he is accepted and
looked upon by the members of his community. We are asked for
our opinion of him at the particular time, and questions of that
nature. We respond to these requests as best we can.

24757-2%

I wish to emphasize as much as I possibly can that we take this
as a very serious responsibility. No matter what the request is, we
respond to it under circumstances that we judge to be the least
likely to cause embarrassment to the person concerned. For
example, when we receive a request under the Criminal Records Act
in connection with the consideration of a pardon and we interview a
number of people, we do it with the very greatest of discretion. We
first see the person himself, to find out whether he has given
references and who among those referees know about his criminal
record. If they do not know already, we do the very best we can to
see that they do not become aware of it through our inquiries.

Basically, we make our inquiries in civilian clothes. However, this
is not an ironclad rule, because in some instances one of our
members in a rural setting can make inquiries much more openly in
uniform than if in civilian clothes. It would cause a number of
eyebrows to raise if a person, who was usually seen in uniform, were
seen on the street talking to someone, and for some reason or other
he happened to be in civilian clothes. The whole thing is done in a
way which we judge to be the most beneficial to the person con-
cerned, to his family, his relatives, and so on.

It is difficult to separate parole from the Criminal Records Act,
and it has been questioned whether the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police are the best people to carry out this type of inquiries. I have
no doubt that there are views pro and con on this point. It has been
decided by the government as a matter of policy, that we should do
it.

It is a good policy for the reasons I have just said, and because
we are spread throughout the country. We can accomplish things by
,way of inquiry with much less fanfare than strangers going into
these communities and making those inquiries.

First, we probably do not have to make very many inquiries. We
may already know most of the answers. A civilian coming into the
area might cause many more questions to be asked than would be
the case if one of our members, who local people see every day,
merely had a chat with someone and in so doing sought the
information they required. For that reason I believe the people
concerned are given the best protection by means of our carrying
out this kind of inquiry.

Mr. Chairman, I could go on, but I do not really know what you
would like me to zero in on.
The Chairman: I think we can now proceed to questions.

(The “Statement of the Role of the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police in the Administration of the Parole Act” is printed as Appen-
dix “A”)



356 Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 9, 1972

Senator Thompson: In your submission, you said that the auto-
matic reports were designed to give information on the person
himself.

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes.

Senator Thompson: I assume, then, that it is not just his criminal
background.

Commissioner Higgitt: That is absolutely correct.

Senator Thompson: Is it a casework background that you are
getting? Is it a history of his social standing? Would you give us the
limits of the report?

Commissioner Higgitt: I will be pleased to do that. First, we
undertake inquiries to obtain the circumstances surrounding the
offence. Generally speaking, we know them, but sometimes facts
which are not part of the evidence of a case are meaningful for the
purposes of parole. We inquire about family circumstances, various
pressures, and things of that nature. We obtain the circumstances of
the offence, the background and reputation of the person within his
community prior to committing the crime, and also facts on his
associates, which can also be meaningful.

We inquire about the man’s reputation, which is an important
factor in why the crime was committed. We ascertain the effect of
the crime on the victim and, if it was a crime of violence, how
violent it was, and things of that nature.

This information is obtained from persons of good standing in
the community and, to some extent, from knowledge which we
already have of the person. Our members are in close touch with
most people in the community.

The report is factual, and investigators include only what they
have been told by those interviewed or what they know from close
associates. If we give an opinion ourselves, we say that it is our own
opinion. We do not say that, “This man is so-and-so.” We say,
“Because of these things, we think that this is a point of importance
to bear in mind.”

I should like to emphasize that these reports are as factual as we
can make them. We take no particular side. We try to describe the
situation as we see it from the widest possible base.

Senator Thompson: Mr. Commissioner, probation officers and
parole officers, on the whole, have had background training in social
work, psychology and human behaviour. Does the RCMP constable
get this kind of training?

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, he does. I would not say that he gets
as much as does a professional social worker, who might well have
had years of nothing but this kind of experience. For years, part of
the training of RCMP constables has included lectures by the best
professionals, psychiatrists, university professors, and people of that
nature.

Senator Thompson: Is it something like a six-week course?

Commissioner Higgitt: Not only are these lectures arranged at the
basic training level, but there are also advanced training courses at
all levels. Over the past several years there has been increased
emphasis on this aspect of training.

Senator Thompson: The background of RCMP constables
interests me. I believe that the basic requirement is Grade 12, is it
not?

Commissioner Higgitt: We get into some difficulty when we talk
about Grade 12, which does not mean quite the same thing all
across the country. In some areas it means senior matriculation
level, and in others it does not. In the vicinity of 70 to 80 per cent
have their matriculation. Basically, it is at the matriculation level.

Senator Thompson: Presumably for some period they work at a
station. Do they undergo continuous training and education?

Commissioner Higgitt: Basically they have matriculation, and
many have university entrance. Quite a number have university
credits and some have university degrees. Obviously, the number
who have university degrees is not as great in the overall, but it does
apply to some. They receive their full basic training, which extends
from six to seven months and is intensive, including both physical
and academic training. In addition to all the other things, they learn
about social relations, and the other things which have been
mentioned are emphasized by experts in the various fields.

From there they go to training detachments or what might be
called training offices, which means that they go to a large office
where there is a staff of probably 10, 15 or 20 in charge of a person
who has been specially selected as having had unusually good
training, and who is unusually adept at bringing along young people,
training, developing and watching over them. Under the guidance of
these persons, constables are in a training atmosphere for another,
year, although not necessarily always at the same office.

From these offices, where particular emphasis is placed on
training, they are gradually fed into the work. They go out under
very close supervision and gradually are given responsibility. They
then go to areas of greater responsibility, until eventually they are
capable of doing their normal job. Some progress faster than others,
of course. That is the basic training which everyone, officers and
men, receive.

We then have a program whereby, after three to five years of
service, members of our force are brought back to our training
divisions and are given courses in various specialties. These courses
may involve, for example, community relations, the type of thing
we are discussing here, enforcement of highway traffic regulations,
or courses in a discipline such as science, or whatever. These types
of courses take place at intervals of three, four or five years
throughout the man’s stay with the force.

In addition to this, since the early thirties, we have had what we
call an in-service university program. I believe we were the first
organization within the federal government, or at least one of the
pioneers, to implement such an in-service program. Mr. Willes here is
a product of this program. Members of the force with four or five




March 9, 1972

Legal and Constitutional Affairs 3.4

years’ service and who, by our judgment and assessment, are,
perhaps, a little better than average and who seem to have the
potential, are sent to this university program on a full-time basis.
Preferably these would be individuals who have some university
credits attained on their own by attending night school, and so on.
We have at the moment enrolled in this program in the neighbour-
hood of 60 members of our force. These individuals have been
members of the force anywhere from six to ten years, although
usually six, and they are graduating at the rate of about 20 a year.
In addition to those individuals, we have some 800 members of our
force pursuing various university courses, again on their own time,
but with our encouragement.

Senator Croll: Eight hundred out of a total of what?
Commissioner Higgitt: The total number in the force?
Senator Croll: Yes.

Commissioner Higgitt: In round figures the total number of
uniformed people in the force is 10,000. I am discounting clerks,
stenographers, and so forth. The total number of policemen, if you
like, in round figures, is 10,000.

Senator Thompson: I believe you said many of your recruits have
a university background.

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, we have individual recruits with
several university credits.

Senator Thompson: What would be the proportion of individuals
coming to Regina with a university background?

Commissioner Higgitt: There are many with a university back-
ground, but those with university degrees, I believe, totalled 38 last
year. | am not too sure on that figure, but I could confirm it. In
addition to that, many have completed first year university or have
attained some university credits and, for one reason or another,
perhaps financial, could not continue. In other words, our recruits
have matriculation-plus.

There is a point worth making in relation to the automatic
report sent to the Parole Board upon conviction of a person with a
sentence of more than two years, and that is that this is really the
basic document in the parole file, and the matter is then handled by
members of the Parole Service. If the Parole Service, for some
reason or another, decides the individual is not eligible for parole,
then we may never hear of it again. However, a year or two years
later we may get requests to amplify on our report, and, indeed,
professional case workers may themselves go out occasionally and
enlarge on it.

Senator Thompson: Does the officer suggest in that basic
document that the prisoner is suitable for parole? Would he go as
far as that?

Commissioner Higgitt: I do not believe that would be part of the
report.

The Chairman: The officer is simply to supply information, as
opposed to opinions.

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, and if we give an opinion we would
have to make it clear that it is only an opinion; we would much
prefer to give an opinion as to why the crime was committed. Parole
is part of the rehabilitative process and, as such, is out of the
policeman’s purview at that moment.

Senator Thompson: And, conversely, the police officer would
not state in this document that the prisoner is not suitable for
parole. Is that right?

Commissioner Higgitt: No, I do not believe we would do that.
The document deals with facts only. One of the reasons for this is
that a man may commit a particularly vicious crime in the eyes of
the community and, as a result, receive a lengthy sentence. However,
six or seven years later it is found the situation is very much
changed. This report then gives the picture as it was at the time of
the offence, against which the change can be judged. For example,
the individual six or seven years later may be completely docile and
it might very well indicate he has undergone a tremendous change of
heart. The reverse could presumably equally be true.

Senator Fergusson: Commissioner Higgitt, there seems to be a
great many people who believe that the increase in crime in Canada
is brought about by the release of offenders on parole. Does the
RCMP have any records which would show whether this is, in fact,
so or not?

Commissioner Higgitt: I do not believe we would, and I do not
think the number of people released on parole could significantly
increase the crime rate.

Senator Fergusson: But articles in the news media indicate that
some people do believe it.

Commissioner Higgitt: That may very well be, but the parole
system—and this is a little out of my line—is not responsible for the
increase. Certainly, when you are dealing with parolees or potential
parolees you are dealing with a rather unusual cross-section of the
population and there are obviously going to be some disappoint-
ments. The disappointments, of course, are the ones who get the
headlines.

I would not agree with any statement which held that the parole
system has caused a significant increase in crime; it is simply not
true. The numbers themselves are so small that they could not be
significant. The success rate—and a more accurate figure could be
obtained from the Parole Service—is, I believe, somewhere in the
neighbourhood of 90 per cent.

Senator Thompson: You do not have the exact figures?

Commissioner Higgitt: We do not keep such figures, but I am
sure the Parole Board would have them. I do know from personal
knowledge that the success rate is quite high, but, unfortunately,
the one or two disappointments are the ones who get the headlines.
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I think we just have to accept that there are going to be some
disappointments under any parole system; it is human nature.
We cannot be right all the time, and it would be improper to
penalize those who can benefit because a few might disappoint us.

Senator Croll: Are you and your colleague products of the
force?

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, senator, and I would like to make
the point here that there is no other way for people to get to these
desks except by starting right at the bottom and coming all the way
through.

Senator Croll: Why do you say that?
Commissioner Higgitt: Because there is no other way.

Senator Croll: But your job is open; the government makes the
appointments and could decide to appoint somebody from outside
who is an alleged specialist. That could be done, although it has not
been done. Is that not what you are saying?

Commissioner Higgitt: In theory, if you are thinking of the
Commissioner’s chair, obviously the government could make that
appointment. It does make that appointment, but for many years it
has been from none other than within.

Senator Croll: I hope so.

Commissioner Higgitt: I meant to say that the regular senior
personnel in the force—all ranks, be it corporal, sergeant, inspector
or the Commissioner—have all worked up from the bottom.

Senator Croll: That has been one of the strengths of the force.

Commissioner Higgitt: That has been one of the great strengths
of the force.

Senator Croll: I am also very happy that today you used the
term “Royal Canadian Mounted Police” and not the short term.

Commissioner Higgitt: That is what it has always been, sir.

Senator Croll: Well, that is what it is to me anyway.

Commissioner Higgitt: Superimposed on what I have just said, if
we need a specialist, for example, a scientist in one of our
laboratories, we could certainly hire a doctor of science, but he is
not a policeman.

Senator Croll: Usually you ask the questions, and this is our
opportunity to ask them! The thing that is troubling me and others
here is this. With the new act, which rubs out certain convictions
over a period of time, as you know . . .

Commissioner Higgitt: This is now the Criminal Records Act.

Senator Croll: Yes, the Criminal Records Act. There comes a
time when the man out in the free world is asked the question,
“Have you ever been convicted?” We have rubbed out his
conviction, but he is then in a great dilemma. He has been
convicted, and the temptation, of course, is to say “No” to that
question, because he knows that it has been eradicated from the
record. Yet there is no way of conveying that. What is your idea of
the kind of question we could ask which would let him tell the truth
without disclosing a record? Can you think of a question?

Commissioner Higgitt: We have thought about this. You can
think of something like, I have no record because I have been
pardoned”, but if anybody says that he might as well say what the
record is.

Senator Croll: I wrote down this morning, “Have you a record
that has not been expunged by process of law?” Would you just
think about that for a moment.

Commissioner Higgitt: I think that on some of the official
employment forms now there is a question which reads something
like this, “Have you a record for which a pardon has not been
granted?”

Senator Croll: No, I do not agree.

Commissioner Higgitt: I think there is something like that that
has been used.

Senator Croll: On what forms?

Commissioner Higgitt: That I cannot tell you.

The Chairman: I think the Public Service.

Commissioner Higgitt: “Have you a record for which a pardon
has not been granted? ™ If he has been given a pardon he can say
“No” to that.

Senator Thompson: Why could you not just ask, “Have you a
criminal record?

The Chairman: Because he has got a record. The record is sealed
under the act.

Commissioner Higgitt: The record is sealed, and under certain
specific circumstances the minister can, by direction, direct that
record be disclosed.

Senator Croll: The word ‘“‘pardon” bothers me. I have not given
it a lot of thought, but I just spoke about it to the chairman
yesterday. 1 rather think of “process of law’’ as being a more
dignified way of dealing with it. With the word ““pardon”, I think of
the pardons of the Jimmy Hoffas rather than other people.

The Chairman: When this was discussed during the passage of the
Criminal Records Act there were two or three problems. As you
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know, this probably gets into civil rights. For example, a credit-
granting agency probably has a copy of the man’s record. It is
doubtful whether the federal government has the authority to make
them change that. Old newspaper files will disclose it, but you
cannot say, “We are going to pick up all the newspaper files and
have the record of any conviction in them removed,” because this
starts to rewrite history. There are many problems involved.

What it was finally decided to do with the sealing of it was to
have the federal government do it first, and then, hopefully, have
them get the provincial governments to follow by prohibiting asking
a question that would force a person to disclose the existence of a
record that has been sealed. I think they decided to use the phrase
that the Commissioner just gave. I think at the present time that is
on the Public Service forms, where we do have control It washoped
that others would follow suit.

Commissioner Higgitt: Of course, the word “pardon” is actually
used in the Criminal Records Act; that is the term.

Senator Buckwold: First of all, I want to say that Commissioner
Higgitt is a product of the Saskatchewan force and was raised in
that great province.

The Chairman: To the credit of Saskatchewan.

Senator Buckwold: I say this because some people in Western
Canada are apparently concerned about this change in title.

The Chairman: I do not know whether that has anything to do
with parole, but we will let you get away with it this time.

Senator Buckwold: We just want you to know that this product
of Saskatchewan is certainly, I know, very interested in maintaining
the name “Royal Canadian Mounted Police™.

My first question is this. What is the relationship of the RCMP
with municipal police forces so far as the parole system is
concerned? For example, is the automatic report done by the
RCMP in larger Communities, or is it done by the local police
force? What is this relationship?

Commissioner Higgitt: It is done by the police force in whose
jurisdiction the offence took place. If it was in Saskatoon it would
be dealt with by Saskatoon City Police, who also would put in this
kind of automatic report.

Senator Buckwold: Therefore, I would guess that because the
great bulk of offences are in the urban areas, in fact there are not
too many RCMP reports that go in.

Commissioner Higgitt: There are many that go in. We would
have to get the statistics on it, but in a city like Toronto, for
example, obviously the local force would have many more than we
would in some other area; that is true.

The Chairman: Unless it was an offence you were involved in.

Commissioner Higgitt: Unless it was an offence we were involved
in.

Senator Buckwold: Drug offences, for example, that you might
be involved in?

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes.

Senator Buckwold: Perhaps we will talk about crime statistics
later. The growth of our urban areas and the increasing number of
offences in those areas would, in fact, have a limiting influence on
the activity of the RCMP in this whole field, not only in the
automatic first report but also in the parole follow-up.

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, we have this. If we speak of the
initial, basic automatic report, what you have just said is accurate.
Any follow-up comes to us from the Parole Board, under the
Criminal Records Act, for example, or an application for clemency,
and we make the report irrespective of the jurisdiction. There may
be one or two exceptions.

Senator Buckwold: Where a parolee has to report to a police
centre, is that done through the local police force or through the
RCMP station in the area?

Commissioner Higgitt: That would depend on the direction given
by the Parole Board at the time of parole. It would be on his parole
document. It probably would be te report to the local police force.

Senator Croll: Even if it were one of your offences, as in the case
of drugs?

Commissioner Higgitt: It would depend on what the Parole
Board decided, but basically it would be to the local police force.
That is becoming less common now, as in the case of most parolees
the Parole Board have professional parole people stationed across
the country. The majority of these reports are handled by the parole
personnel themselves and they are getting away—wisely, I think—
from the idea of the person coming constantly to the police force.
These people are being handled by local parole officers. These
officers exist in all the big centres, but in some of the rural areas
these things are performed by the local police force.

Senator Haig: In Saskatoon you would perform the function?

Commissioner Higgitt: No, I think there is a parole officer in
Saskatoon.

Senator Buckwold: You spoke of the role of the policeman in a
parole period. You indicate you prefer the person not to report to
the police force but to the parole officer. How important do you
think this is?

Commissioner Higgitt: The policy is that that is what they do,
and I think it is a good policy.

Senator Buckwold: Would you tell us more about your feeling
on that point?

Commissioner Higgitt: Our feeling has to be based on what
we think is going to give the parole program the best possi-
bility of success. Though many people may not believe this, the
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policemen are very interested in parole. If we can get the parole
system working successfully, our work is reduced, since we reduce
the crime rate we have heard about this morning. After all, preven-
tion is a policeman’s main preoccupation.

To re-establish himself in the community, it may be better that
he be supervised by a professionally trained Parole Service officer,
someone who is not really attached to a police organization. Every
policeman is interested, not only officially and because it is policy,
but because it is the thing to do, and he takes an interest in these
things and does everything possible to assist the parole officer. If we
get information, for example, that a parolee is getting into areas
which we think are dangerous to him, we would get in touch with
the parole officer, to tell him he may have a problem there to look
into. He would do the same, if he could help us in some other way.

There is a community of interest here and a co-operation that
exists—informally, but it exists—and I think it is very useful and
very meaningful.

In some areas, of course, because of geography, the person has
almost got to report to one of our offices or to another police
office, but we do the very best we can about this, He does not
necessarily have to walk into our office; he may do it by telephone
or we may see him from time to time during the course of other
duties, It is not a case of his having to stand at our door at 9 o’clock
on a certain morning and be registered. We arrange these things in
the best way we can. Whether a policeman is a better or worse
person to give service to these people, during their period of rehabil-
itation, is a matter of differing opinions; but the policy of the
government and of the Department of the Solicitor General is that
this should be supervised as far as possible by the Parole Service.

Senator Buckwold: On the local police force, I would guess, with
some reason, that the great bulk of these automatic reports go in
from the local police force.

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes.

Senator Buckwold: Although your submission would lead us to
believe that the RCMP is doing this.

Commissioner Higgitt: In our own jurisdiction, yes.

Senator Buckwold: It was not differentiated, keeping in mind
that, as in my opinion, the RCMP as a force is generally much better
trained and more selective in recruiting than a municipal police
force, do you feel that this job is being adequately carried out at the
local level?

Commissioner Higgitt: It is rather difficult to answer that. To be
honest with you, I have not read the reports of other police forces. I
think I could say, as a general answer, senator, that our experience is
that some police forces have a little more expertise than others; but
the police forces do accept this as a serious responsibility and deal
with it in that manner, and I hope they are as helpful as we try to
be, and I think they are. It would be difficult to say who produces
the best reports.

Senator Buckwold: I was not trying to put one against the other.

Commissioner Higgitt: It is very difficult to answer. All I can say
is that I hope they are good. The Parole Board might be able to
make an assessment on the quality of these reports, but we have not
had the opportunity to do that.

Senator Thompson: I notice the concern, Mr. Commissioner,
that you had in connection with getting these facts for the parole
background—the person dressed in civilian clothes, and that type of
thing. Do you know if that same directive applies to other police
forces?

Commissioner Higgitt: I think that the same desire and the
same policy apply to other police forces. All police forces approach
this in a similar light, as to the best way to meet the situation, what
is best for the person concerned. I am sure they do the best they
can.

Senator Thompson: There is no directive? Would it come
from the Parole Board to you, or where does it come from?

Commissioner Higgitt: There is no directive from the Parole
Board to tell us how we may or may not make an inquiry. The
request is that we make an inquiry under the Parole Act, or under
some specific heading, to try to obtain certain specific information
on a parole or pardon. It is within our own policy and practices to
decide how we should do this, and I presume other forces fo the
same thing. There is collaboration between other forces. If I may
take Saskatoon as an example, if it occurred outside the boundaries
of Saskatoon but the person was really a Saskatoonian, obviously
we and the Saskatoon City Police would have to collaborate in order
to produce a report showing the type of person this is. There is a
great deal of co-operation.

Senator Croll: I agree with your view that we are making
progress when the parolees are turned over to trained experts in the
rehabilitative field and you gradually withdraw. Would you like to
pick any city you like in Canada and give me the number of such
people in that city?

Commissioner Higgitt: I am afraid I do not have the establish-
ment of the Parole Board here. I know that in large centres there is a
number of them, but not always necessarily in large centres. They
are increasing across the country, but I am sorry that I do not have
the numbers.

Senator Croll: Do you have them, Mr. Chairman?

The Chairman: This would involve two or three things, and it
would be a little difficult to get the figures just in that way because
half of the parole supervision is presently contracted out to
volunteer agencies such as the Elizabeth Fry Society and the John
Howard Society. I think the Parole Board could get that for us, and
I think there will be further statistical information available.
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Senator Croll: 1 came across some figures on that a couple of
weeks ago in connection with one of our larger cities, and I was
staggered at the small number available in this field. With 5,000
parolees last year, the numbers of such people available were almost
nothing. They could not possibly cover the field. We are not moving
in that direction with any sort of speed.

Commissioner Higgitt: 1 know, senator, from my personal
knowledge that the Parole Service has been expanding for the last
year or two and opening offices across the country. I know they are
also making use of the services of these voluntary organizations, but
I am sorry I cannot go further than that.

The Chairman: And there are the provincial probation services.

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, there are provincial probation
officers and so on, but I cannot give any more detailed figures.

Senator Croll: What troubles me in connection with what you
said is the difference between passing on information to the parole
officers and seeking out information about the parolee. What is your
role in this field?

Commissioner Higgitt: Well, if a parolee were in our area, we
would undoubtedly know it, but we would not automatically seek
out information concerning him because all of that has already been
done or else he would not be on parole. We would already have given
all the information that we had available, and the Parole Board, in
their wisdom, would say, “This man is entitled to parole,” and they
would parole him under whatever conditions they would wish to
impose. So, other than knowing that he was in the area, we would
not physically seek out information unless we were requested to do
so. But then, if he became involved in crime, or if he were convicted
of a crime, of course we would have a responsibility to report that
during the normal course of our police function. Also if we found in
the course of our general work that he was becoming involved in a
very unwholesome area, and if we became aware that he was,
perhaps, falling back into his former ways, I think we would have a
responsibility to let his supervising officer know this so that he
could take corrective action and encourage this man to change his
ways and get back into the proper stream. However, we do not
automatically go out and investigate a man just because he is a
parolee. We simply do not do that. This would be against the spirit
of parole. But when he comes to our attention and we think we can
still be helpful, it then becomes part of our preventive role.

The Chairman: How would this information normally be dealt
with? Would it be a case of formally writing to the parole officer or
would it be a case of casually contacting him and saying, “I think
you had better watch Joe; I saw him with so-and-so yesterday and I
think they are planning something.”?

Commissioner Higgitt: It would be done on the basis of the
circumstances. A minor thing might involve just a quiet word to the
parole officer. But if it were something more serious it would be the
basis of a report and would come, of course, to the Parole Board as
well as to the local officer.

Senator Thompson: Mr. Commissioner, do you have a research
division in the RCMP? We have heard these questions about the
number of parolees who have committed further offences, and you
said that you did not know but that you assumed that the Parole
Board would know the figures. Do you have a research division?

Commissioner Higgitt: Yes, we do, but in connection with that
we would not really research a parolee because the Parole Service
could do it much more quickly. They would have that information
for us, and all we would have to do would be to phone and ask
them. We would not ourselves expend time on duplicating that. But
to answer your question: Yes, we do have a research department.

Senator Thompson: We understand that the Parole Board has
one information officer and that their research facilities are not too
adequate.

Commissioner Higgitt: There is a research section in the Solicitor
General’s department, and I would be very much surprised, if I
made a request to the Parole Board as to how many parolees had
committed offences in the last few years, if they could not come up
with a fairly accurate figure fairly quickly. We would not ourselves
keep that kind of information because we are sure that they have it.

Senator Thompson: Your statement in connection with your
desire for the effectiveness of parole and your encouragement of it
is, I think, very important and very reassuring to the public. I know
that some people are saying that it must be very disheartening for
the police forces in Canada when a fellow goes into the penitentiary
having committed a serious crime and he comes out after a short
period. While he perhaps readjusts, the fact that he has served a
short period is a bad example to others who might be tempted to
commit a similar crime. what is your opinion on that?

Commissioner Higgitt: Well, senator, I suppose there are as many
views on that as there are policemen and people. All I have to say is
to emphasize what I said to start with, and that is that policemen,
contrary to what many people might think, are very much
interested in parole and rehabilitation. After all, this is what it is all
about—prevention. And while there might be an individual who
might be mildly disappointed because somebody was released earlier
than he might think was suitable, that is no indication that the
police are opposed to the parole system. You can say that
sometimes we are disappointed about a sentence that is given too;
but we divorce ourselves from that and we know that there are
going to be failures. We accept that, but I do not think that the
failure rate has reached the point where any policeman might be
alarmed. I think it justifies the greatest possible development and
study, and if we can get better ways of rehabilitating people, then
let us have the better ways. This may be one, and it may have to be
adjusted with experience; but policemen basically divorce them-
selves from what the courts and quasi-judicial boards do. They take
the stand that they are doing the best they can; we feel we are
doing the best we can; and neither of us is always right. We do
support the parole system. It is obvious that we must, and that it is
the sensible thing to do.
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Senator Croll: Commissioner, Higgitt, when I was in the army
they mugged me and took my fingerprints, and at the end they
discharged me. Who received the benefit of those fingerprints and
that mugging? Was it your department?

Commissioner Higgitt: The army received the benefit.

Senator Croll: They are still with the army? They were not
passed on to you?

Commissioner Higgitt: No.

Senator Croll: I feel much safer now.

The Chairman: You are not alone.

Commissioner Higgitt: They are still with the army, unless there
was some reason for them to have been passed on.

Senator Buckwold: My last question is a rather difficult one. I
raised this matter briefly yesterday. It involves the whole crime
scene. 1 have read the statistics in a column written by Fred
Kennedy, and I indicated he was with the Winnipeg Tribune. How-
ever, I notice from my notes that it was the Calgary Albertan. It
indicates that during the last ten years we have moved into a period
of enlightenment in our treatment of those who have committed
offences. We have humanized our Criminal Code, and we are making
better use of probation and our parole system. We have done all
kinds of things which, I presume in the long run, will make our
country safer. And yet, as expressed by this columnist, the public is
very concerned because, in spite of all that has been done, we have
seen a tremendous increase in crime. I presume these statistics are
correct. They indicate that in 1962 the number of offences against
the Criminal Code was 514,986, while in the year 1970 it was
1,110,066. In the eyes of the public, this is a startling statistic,
especially when some of us have been anxious to improve the
conditions. We see a tremendous increase in the number of violent
crimes, such as murder, which rose from 217 in 1962 to 430 in
1970, attempted murder from 83 to 260; while assaults have risen
from 27,818 to 77,338.

As Canada’s top police officer, and I would say one of the finest
in the country, certainly in my opinion, what is your assessment of
this situation? Are we doing something wrong? We are aware that
there has been a growth in population and, naturally, these statistics
would rise. In your opinion, is there a relationship between these
startling statistics and what has been occurring in this period of
enlightenment? Should the public be concerned about what legisla-
tors are doing in this period of enlightenment? Are we heading in
the right direction? I would appreciate any comments you can
make.

Commissioner Higgitt: Honourable senators, the statistics are
basically correct. It is true that in the last ten years there has been
almost a doubling in the crime rate. This is a very serious matter so
far as we are concerned. Particularly serious is the fact that this
includes crimes of violence. This is distressing to all policemen and,
of course, to our force in particular.

The answer to this question is a very difficult one. When you ask
if there should be concern on the part of the public, I certainly feel
they need to be concerned. Perhaps if the public were more con-
cerned there might be less of an increase in the crime rate. It is easy
to say that the reason for the increase is that the courts are not
imposing as stiff sentences as they used to, or that parole is easier,
and so on. But this does not answer the question at all; this is such a
small part of the problem. I feel there is a different attitude towards
social responsibility. The conditions in our country have changed.
There is more money available. Mobility and communications have
changed. People can commit crimes and in less than two hours be
literally thousands of miles away. I feel this is part of the problem.
The opportunities to commit crimes are greater than they used to
be.

When you consider vehicle offences, impaired driving, and so on,
these have increased by leaps and bounds, as well as the number of
people who have been killed on our highways. These statistics are
absolutely unbelievably shocking. However, when the police force
endeavours to enforce our highway laws, when we become more
aggressive in our enforcement there is tremendous public reaction.
They do not like us interfering in their lives, stopping and checking
them, this sort of thing. We run into this problem all the time. These
matters are never important until they happen to you or one of
your family.

The drug cult has expanded unbelievably in the last five years.
The saddest statistics of all are the heroin addicts in this country.
For years these statistics remained basically static, between 4,000
and 5,000 heroin addicts. The statistics for the so-called hard line
addicts remained constant for years, right up until the year 1966.
Today we have upwards to 15,000 so-called hard line heroin addicts
in this country. The numbers are increasing and the ages are
decreasing every year. Our youth are involved in the scene. This is
also indicated in these statistics. For example, there were 148
pounds of heroin seized by our department in the last twelve
months, or up until December. On the illicit market this is worth
about $75 million, on the basis of 400 capsules to the ounce, and
the ounce is cut four times. They sell these capsules at $20 each.
This is $75 million worth of heroin which has been put on the illicit
market. Crimes have to be committed to pay for these capsules.
Very few heroin addicts are gainfully employed and the only way
they can pay for them is by stealing.

Heroin addicts taking a capsule each day at $20—and many of
them are taking two or three a day, at $50 or $60 total—have to steal
an object such as a radio of $100 value to be able to sell it for $25
to someone who knows it is stolen. The cost of these crimes to the
Canadian people rises to astronomical figures. This is one very sad
aspect of it.

We do not have an answer, except in more rigid enforcement,
but there is a limit to all this sort of thing. I do not know whether
my confrere can add to this by explaining what we think are the
causes of this crime, The social attitude must have something to do
with it.

Senator Buckwold: We are not here as a commission studying
crime, but the parole system. I am attempting to relate it to the
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increase in crime. Would it paraphrase you correctly as saying that
the so-called humanizing of the treatment of criminals has not been
a contributing factor to this significant increase?

Commissioner Higgitt: Well, certainly not a significant contri-
buting factor.

Senator Buckwold: Yes, I think that was the key point to answer
my question.

Commissioner Higgitt: 1 think that must be true. We have, I
think, about 7,000 inmates and if each were released it would not
go significantly towards the hundreds of thousands of crimes. So it
must be a limiting factor. I have no doubt that perhaps the
inclination towards handing down more humane sentences than was
the case formerly may have a percentage effect. This is perhaps not
quite as preventive, in that sense, as it might be. However, again, I
do not believe that is the answer. I am more inclined to believe it is
a public attitude.

Senator Thompson: 1 realize that comparisons with other
countries cannot always be indicative of rates of crime, but do you
have statistics for such comparison? Senator Buckwold referred to
the age of enlightenment in connection with prison reform. He
suggested this might be connected with the increased rate of crime. I
understand that although this enlightened attitude does not exist in
Russia they have an increased rate of crime. Perhaps it is also true of
other states in which there is an increase in crime, although there is
an oppressive prison system.

Commissioner Higgitt: 1 do not have those statistics available. I
cannot really speak of Russia, except to say I understand that they
are also suffering an increase in crime. I can tell you, from personal
knowledge and from speaking with those concerned, that in the
United Kingdom, in so far as the Metropolitan Police are concerned,
and in the United States, basically from statistics provided from
time to time by the Federal Bureau of Investigation—in those
countries and Canada the increase in crime is almost equal in terms
of percentage. There has been a tremendous increase in all three
countries.

That does not quite answer your question, but it is not a
situation peculiar to Canada, which makes it all the more complex.
It seems to be a trend, certainly, beyond our borders.

Senator Thompson: The report of the Fauteux Committee on
Remission Procedure states:

It has come to our attention that some law enforcement
authorities follow the practice of holding warrants of arrest
for inmates of penal institutions, the acknowledged intention
being that, after these inmates have served their current
sentences, they will be re-arrested and required to face the
charges contained in the warrants.

The report continues:

... We cannot condemn this practice too emphatically.

In the judgment of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in
Regina v. Parisien, (1971) 4 W.W.R., page 81, it was held that the
practice of holding warrants of arrest for persons serving prison
sentences should be condemned. This case showed it had actually
taken place.

In view of the condemnation—by the Fauteux Commission and
by the British Columbia Court of Appeal judgment in Regina v. Pari-
sien dated April 20, 1971—of the police practice of holding arrest
warrant for prison inmate until release, I would like to ask if
appropriate directives or instructions have been issued to officers of
the force to cease and desist in this practice which contributes little
to rehabilitation.

Is everything possible being done to facilitate the disposition of
all charges against an individual prior to imprisonment?

Commissioner Higgitt: Senator, in reply to that, without having
had a moment to research it, I cannot believe that would happen in
many cases. Firstly, it would become the responsibility of the
attorney general of the province. In British Columbia it would be
the Attorney General of that province. Certainly they would know
of the warrants that were outstanding.

There is a section in the Criminal Code, as I am sure you know,
which allows a person if he so wishes, to dispose of any other
offences which have taken place in other parts of Canada. I am
speaking strictly from my recollection of the law. A person still has
the right not to have it disposed of then, but to have it dealt with
separately at a later time, if he so wishes. In that case, a warrant
would have to be held.

Conceivably a warrant could be received after conviction. Some-
body could be convicted in Vancouver of a breaking and entering
charge, sentenced to two or three years in a penitentiary, and weeks,
months or a year later it could become known that the same man
committed an offence in Toronto a year earlier. A warrant would
then be outstanding for him. It would be forwarded to the police
force concerned, and it would be a matter for the two attorneys
general concerned to decide how the matter should be disposed of.

I would be surprised if any police force purposely held on to
warrants without the matter being fully discussed with the Attorney
General or the Attorney General’s Department. There would be no
point in holding a warrant and suddenly pouncing upon someone
and executing it.

There 